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The Spirit 
of DHI

A voyage to a new destination always calls for introspection 
and realignment with the prevailing spirit and purpose, be it 
as an individual or an organization. This not just illuminates 
the path but propels towards the goals with new energy and 

strength.

For us at DHI, we will always rely on the timeless ethos of 
the organization enshrined in the Royal Charter, which is our 

beacon from the Throne. The sacred mandates descend from 
it into comprehensible strategic piers of the Mission, the Vision 

and the Guiding Themes.

This spirit of the Group will continue to steer us through the 
decade, and until we achieve the commitments we have taken 

upon ourselves.
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INTRODUCTION

ÂĞŋ�Âā��ũā

We are the investment arm of the Royal Government of 
Bhutan, established to enhance the performance and value of 
our portfolio companies. We act as a guardian of the nation’s 
strategic assets, ensuring that they operate with the highest 

standards of corporate governance and accountability. 
By carefully managing investments, nurturing innovation, 
and promoting sustainable development, we aim to drive 
economic growth and contribute to the prosperity of the 

nation.

Committed to excellence, integrity, and transparency, we 
strive to be the cornerstone of Bhutan’s economic future, 

guiding our enterprises to new heights and creating lasting 
value for all stakeholders. 
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zŽũ�mÖłùÖŶā

With a clear mandate to maximize returns for the people of 
Bhutan, we oversee Government Linked Companies (GLCs), 

promoting strong corporate governance by delineating 
ownership from management. The approach fosters 

accountability, drives performance, and optimizes resource 
utilization. We are also committed to spearheading the 
growth of a dynamic private sector in Bhutan by raising 

MRZIWXQIRX�GETMXEP�ERH�IRLERGMRK�XLI�STIVEXMSREP�IƾGMIRG]�
of our GLCs.

8S[EVHW�JYPƼPPMRK�XLI�QERHEXI��[I�JSGYW�SR�ETTSMRXMRK�
UYEPMƼIH�HMVIGXSVW�ERH�')3W�JSV�+0'W��IRWYVMRK�IJJIGXMZI�

and transparent management. Performance is meticulously 
monitored to uphold high standards of corporate 

KSZIVRERGI��;I�EMQ�JSV�STXMQEP�GETMXEP�IƾGMIRG]�XLVSYKL�
resource consolidation and providing necessary guarantees 

to support GLCs.

By investing in both domestic and international ventures, 
promoting entrepreneurship, and initiating new business 

areas, we foster economic growth and innovation. 
Additionally, we manage strategic divestments and utilizes 
ZEVMSYW�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRXW�XS�WIGYVI�JYRHMRK��IRWYVMRK�
the prosperity and sustainable development of Bhutan’s 

economy.
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�zŽũ�FŋƑāũłÖłóā�
DũÖĿāƒŋũĴ�

Our governance framework prioritizes the creation of 
long-term value and places the institution at the center of 
its operations. It is designed to ensure accountability and 

maintain a robust balance between empowerment 
and compliance. 

Transparency and adherence to regulations are fundamental 
principles within our governance structure. Our Board and 

Management team diligently uphold these principles by 
complying with the Companies Act, as well as other relevant 

rules, regulations, and provisions outlined in the charter. 

Under the guidance of the Board, we adopt a prudent and 
strategic approach to managing our portfolio as responsible 

investors and asset owners. 

To ensure that the right leadership is in place to manage the 
companies, a joint committee between DHI and the company 

board, the Nomination and Governance Committee (NGC), 
carries out the recruitment and appointment of CEOs. The 
Board Committee for Performance Management (BCPM) 

carries out the annual compact target setting, periodic 
reviews and performance evaluations of companies owned 

and controlled by DHI. 
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Mission
Safeguard and enhance national 

wealth for all generations of Bhutanese 
through prudent investments

Vision
To be the leading wealth management and creation 

organization that helps transform Bhutan into a globally 
competitive economy guided by the principles of GNH

Values
Integrity
Honesty

Excellence
Prudence
Teamwork

Accountability

zŽũ�ÁĢŭĢŋł̇�mĢŭŭĢŋł�ͽ�ÁÖķŽāŭ

Introduction 4 |
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DHI through 
�ŶĞā�ũāłāƒāù�

ķāłŭ�

Potential Zone

Disruptive sectors offer high rewards and risks. They are 
managed with pivot strategies to adapt quickly to industry 
disruptions through a disruptive innovation strategy lens. 
(BOBL, BTL, TTPL)

Strategic Zone

)ƾGMIRG]�MRRSZEXMSR�MW�XLI�PIRW�XLVSYKL�[LMGL�GSRWXERX�
internal revamps are strategized for these vital companies 
to design agile and novel solutions.
(DGPC, DACL, SMCL, BPC)

Future Zone

DHI champions investments and global partners to build 
the next generation value based green industries in Bhutan 
viz. in Energy and Resources, Mining and Minerals, Digital 
Assets, Technology, and Infrastructure.

Growth Zone

These companies are constantly overseen to be 
operationally overhauled to ensure timely investments, 
HMZIWXQIRXW��WGEPEFMPMX]��GSWX�VIHYGXMSR��ƼRERGMEP�
performance, and improved customer experience from a 
Sustaining Innovation lens.
(KIL, DPL, CDCL,NRDCL, STCBL,DCCL, PCAL, MSPCL, BBPL)

| 5DHI Annual Report 2023
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DHI portfolio companies depicting DHI standalone and net worth/ marketing capitalization of the companies as on 31 
December 2023

In million Nu.

Sector Shareholding in % DPC category Net Worth/Market 
Capitalization

Energy and Resources ɸ ɸ ɸ

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 46239.01

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 16087.09

Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 645.69

State Mining Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 2401.73

Communication & Transportation ɸ ɸ ɸ

Bhutan Telecom Ltd. 100 DOC 5987.62

Drukair Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 1519.71

Financial Services ɸ ɸ ɸ

Bank of Bhutan Ltd. 80 DCC 9,461.53

Bhutan National Bank Ltd. 12 DLC ���������ɸ

Royal Insurance Corporation of Bhutan Ltd. 18 DLC 4948.5

Real Estate and Construction ɸ ɸ ɸ

Thimphu Tech Park Ltd. 100 DOC 302.61

Construction Development Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 893.27

DHI PTE Ltd. 100 DOC 42.50

Trading ɸ ɸ ɸ

State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Ltd. 55 DCC 631.13

'VE[ƼWL�,MQEPE]ER�0XH 75 DCC �����ɸ

Manufacturing ɸ ɸ ɸ

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. 89 DCC 1087.47

Dungsam Polymers Ltd. 51 DCC 59.55

Penden Cement Authority Ltd. 40 DLC 1260.04

Bhutan Ferro Alloys Ltd. 26 DLC �������ɸ

Bhutan Board Products Ltd. 58 DCC 851.86

Menjong Sorig Pharmaceuticals Corporation Ltd. 100 DOC 180.28

Koufuku International Ltd. 100 DOC 38.58

Azista Bhutan Healthcare Ltd. 28 DLC 38.58

Druk Metallurgy Ltd. 40 DLC ������ɸ

Accompanying notes

- 2IX�[SVXL�MW�VIƽIGXIH�FEWIH�SR�XLI�FSSO�ZEPYI�SJ�XLI�
respective companies

-  1EVOIX�'ETMXEPM^EXMSR�MW�VIƽIGXIH�JSV�PMWXIH�(,-�
Companies

-  Due to indirect holding through BOB, DHI’s 
shareholding to STCBL and BBPL have increased

Glossary

- DPC- DHI Portfolio Companies
- DOC- DHI Owned Companies
- DCC- DHI Controlled Companies
- DLC- DHI Linked Companies

Last Trading Date: 31st December 2023
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�ŋũŶĕŋķĢŋ�
!ŋĿťÖłĢāŭ 

'VE[ƼWL�,MQEPE]ER�0XH�

7XEXI�8VEHMRK�
'SVTSVEXMSR�SJ�&LYXER�

0XH�

(,-�4XI��0XH� 8LMQTLY�8IGL�4EVO�0XH�� &LYXER�&SEVH�4VSHYGXW�0XH�

(VYO�1IXEPPYVK]�0XH�

&LYXER�*IVVS�
%PPS]W�0XH�

%^MWXE�&LYXER�
,IEPXLGEVI�0XH�

&LYXER�2EXMSREP�
&ERO�0XH��

7XEXI�1MRMRK�
'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH�

&LYXER�8IPIGSQ��
0XH��

(VYOEMV�'SVTSVEXMSR�
0XH�

6S]EP�-RWYVERGI�
'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH�

&ERO�SJ�&LYXER�0XH�

(VYO�+VIIR�4S[IV�'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH�

2EXYVEP�6IWSYVGIW�
(IZIPSTQIRX�'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH��

&LYXER�4S[IV�
'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH�

(YRKWEQ�'IQIRX�
'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH�

/SYJYOY�
-RXIVREXMSREP�0XH�

4IRHIR�'IQIRX�
%YXLSVMX]�0XH�

4IRHIR�'IQIRX�
%YXLSVMX]�0XH�

1IRNSRK�7SVMK�
4LEVQEGIYXMGEPW�'SVTSVEXMSR�

0XH�

'SRWXVYGXMSR�(IZIPSTQIRX�
'SVTSVEXMSR�0XH�



 8 |

m�È `­p1 �1�¦1m�1�

Took over the remaining 50% 
shareholding of the 600 MW 
Kholongchhu from SJVNL 

Kicked off construction of small 
hydropower plants using DGPC 
teams with inaugural blasting 
at Burgangchhu, followed by 
Yungichhu, and Suchhu sites

Introduction

��ÈāÖũ�ÖŶ�Ö�FķÖłóā

Appointed  Dasho Karma Y. 
Raydi as the 4th Chairman 
of DHI

Appointed Mr. Ujjwal Deep 
Dahal as the 3rd CEO of DHI. 

-RGSVTSVEXIH�'VE[ƼWL�
Himalayan Limited under 
trading industry

Inaugurated Bhutan’s National Digital 
Identity Application.  

Unveiled BhutanVerse, a metaverse-
based virtual space, at the FAB23 
Bhutan International Conference. 

Entered into agreement for purchase 
of helicopters 

 8 |

`�p­��È D1��­��È m��!N ���Rd `­dÈ �­F­�¦ z!¦z�1� pzÁ1m�1� '1!1m�1�
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m�È `­p1 �1�¦1m�1�

Successfully completed 
deployment of ePIS’s in 
ten hospitals 

| 9

SMCL stimulated the local 
economy by injecting Nu. 
1,241.55 million to support 
rural livelihoods. 

Expanded BHSL facility through 
international partnership 
for manufacturing of small 
hydropower project contracts 

DGPC ventured into 
Solar-hydro combo energy 
HMZIVWMƼGEXMSR����MRGPYHMRK�E�
17 MW Sephu solar already 
underway. 

DHI Annual Report 2023

`�p­��È D1��­��È m��!N ���Rd `­dÈ �­F­�¦ z!¦z�1� pzÁ1m�1� '1!1m�1�

Incorporated MICE as a subsidiary company to the 
Offshore business in Singapore. 

Successfully completed and implemented inventory 
management study for 12 companies 

BPC and CDCL signed agreement for the construction 
of 66 KV SC Suchhu Transmission Line

Developed Group Scholarship 
framework

Inaugurated Dam impounding of 118 
MW Nikachhu Hydropower Project, 
Trongsa

Bhutan Adopts NDI Act 

Hosted the 19th edition of the Fab Lab 
Conference—the largest digital fabrication 
event in the world

Successfully managed export of surplus 
power from the Basochhu into the IEX and 
generated a gross revenue of Nu. 378.41 
million. 
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Dasho Karma Yezer Raydi
Chairman, DHI

Appointed in March 2023

Mr. Thinley Namgyel
Secretary, MoAL

Appointed in November 2018

Mr. Sherub
Non-Executive Director

Appointed in March 2023

Ms. Yunny Lee
8VERWJSVQEXMSR�3ƾGI��,17

Appointed in May 2022

Ms. Leki Wangmo
Secretary, MoF

Appointed in November 2022

Mr. Nelson Tervory Thackery
8VERWJSVQEXMSR�3ƾGI��,17

Appointed in May 2022

Mr. Ujjwal Deep Dahal
CEO, DHI

Appointed in March 2023

�ŋÖũù�ŋĕ�'ĢũāóŶŋũŭ
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Ms. Tashi Lhamo
Director, Department of Finance (DoF)

Tashi Lhamo is the Director, Department of Finance at Druk Holding and Investments 
(DHI). She has over twenty years of experience in Banking, Finance and Accounting.
She holds an MBA (Advanced) from the Graduate School of Business, Curtin University, 
Perth, Western Australia; and CPA, from CPA Australia (since 2005). She was also a 
Hubert H. Humphrey Fellow at Boston University, MA, USA in 2007. She currently serves 
as the Vice-Chair in the Technical Working Committee at the Accounting and Auditing 
Standard Board of Bhutan (AASBB).

Mr. Chencho Tshering Namgay
Director, Department of Investments (DoI)

Has a master’s in business administration from Asian Institute of Management, 
4LMPMTTMRIW�� ,I� LEW�QSVI� XLER� ��� ]IEVW� SJ� [SVO� I\TIVMIRGI� MR� XLI� ƼIPH� SJ� GSVTSVEXI�
ƼRERGI�� ƼRERGMEP� WIGYVMXMIW�� MRZIWXQIRX�� VMWO� QEREKIQIRX�� TVSNIGX� QEREKIQIRX��
telecom infrastructure and power system automation. He is currently serving as the 
Director, Department of Investments for Druk Holding and Investments Ltd.

Mr. Dorji Nima
Director, Corporate Performance Department (CPD)

He looks after corporate governance, performance planning, monitoring and evaluation 
for the DHI Group. He has a master’s degree in business administration (MBA) from 
Australian Graduate School of Entrepreneurship, Melbourne, Australia. He received 
AusAID scholarship to pursue MBA in Australia and RGoB scholarship to pursue Bachelor 
of Business Administration degree from Madras University, India in 2001.

| 11DHI Annual Report 2023
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Mr. Phuntsho Namgay
3ƾGMEXMRK�(MVIGXSV��(ITEVXQIRX�SJ�-RRSZEXMSR�
�8IGLRSPSK]��-RRS8IGL


With an MBA from the Australian Graduate School of Management. He has more than 12 
]IEVW�SJ�[SVO�I\TIVMIRGI�MR�XLI�ƼIPH�SJ�KVEWW�VSSX�MRRSZEXMSRW�XS�IGSW]WXIQ�FYMPHMRK��,I�
GYVVIRXP]�WIVZIW�EW�XLI�SƾGMEXMRK�HMVIGXSV�SJ�XLI�(ITEVXQIRX�SJ�-RRSZEXMSR�
�8IGLRSPSK]�
overseeing the department’s effort in developing Bhutan’s Innovation Ecosystem for 
tech-based and start up economy by leveraging Research & Development for technology 
with values.

Mr. Kinga Lotey 
Associate Director, Corporate Services Division

He received his master’s degree in human resource management from Monash 
University, Australia, and bachelor’s degree in science from Sherubtse College, Prior to 
joining DHI, he served in the Royal Civil Service Commission. He has more than 19 years 
SJ�I\TIVMIRGI�MR�XLI�ƼIPH�SJ�LYQER�VIWSYVGI�QEREKIQIRX��

Mr. Jacques Von Benecke
'LMIJ�8IGLRSPSK]�3ƾGIV

Consults for the Royal Government of Bhutan as a member of the Government Technology 
Commission. Jacques comes with over 35 years of experience and has focused on 
business transformation since completing his master’s in business administration 
in 2008. He brings experience working for large global tech giants like Amazon Web 
Services (AWS), British Telecoms, BHP Billiton, and Woodside Energy alongside working 
in education for Murdoch University. 

mŭ̍�bÖũĿÖ�!Ğŋùāł
Company Secretary

Ms. Karma Choden is the Company Secretary of DHI. She earned her LLM from 
Queensland University of Technology from Brisbane, Australia in July 2010 and Post 
Graduate Diploma in National Laws from Royal Institute of Management, Semtokha in 
June 2006.

Introduction 12 |
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DIRECTORS REPORT

'āÖũ��ĞÖũāĞŋķùāũŭ̇

We are delighted to report that both Group and DHI stan-
dalone have demonstrated robust performance, achieving 
notable improvements during the year 2023.

mÖıŋũ�NĢėĞķĢėĞŶŭ�ŋĕ�ŶĞā�ƘāÖũ����

-R� ������ E� WMKRMƼGERX�QMPIWXSRI�QEVOIH� XLI� FIKMRRMRK� SJ� E�
transformative journey for both Bhutan and Druk Holding & In-
vestments (DHI). His Royal Highness the Gyalsey inaugurated 
Bhutan’s National Digital Identity application on February 21, 
embracing the Self-Sovereign Identity model and becoming 
the country’s inaugural Digital Citizen. This initiative, a collab-
oration between DHI and GovTech, establishes a secure and 
ZIVMƼEFPI� HMKMXEP� MHIRXMX]� JVEQI[SVO� JSV� GMXM^IRW�� PE]MRK� E� VS-
bust foundation for Bhutan’s digital future.

The year also witnessed pivotal leadership changes at the 
Group level, signaling a strategic shift for DHI. In February, 
Dasho Karma Y Raydi assumed the role of Chairman after 
nearly eight years as CEO. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Ujjwal Deep 
Dahal was promoted from Director InnoTech to CEO in March.

These changes realigned the strategic plan of the Group 
around three key strategic areas: (i) managing and developing 

the existing portfolio of companies – The Portfolio Manage-
ment Strategy, (ii) making forward-looking future investments, 
and (iii) creating an innovating economy – The Innovation 
Strategy.

Given the diverse nature of DHI Group, our ‘Portfolio Manage-
ment Strategy’ revolves around structuring current and fu-
ture investments across four quadrants: Strategic, Potential, 
Growth, and Future. This approach is designed to meet spe-
GMƼG�KVS[XL�SFNIGXMZIW�ERH�JSWXIV� MRRSZEXMSR�EGVSWW�ZEVMSYW�
sectors. Emphasizing the Future Quadrant, our ‘Investment 
Strategy’ aims to forge connections among energy, comput-
MRK��ERH�XLI�KPSFEP�IGSRSQ]�SJ�XSQSVVS[�[MXL�WTIGMƼG�JSGYW�
on Energy and Resources, Mining and Minerals, Digital Assets, 
Infrastructure (Physical, Digital and Financial) and Innovation 
and Technology. These forward-looking investments not only 
diversify our portfolio but also open new economic avenues, 
propelling us towards a Science, Technology, and Innovation 
(STI) economy.

Furthermore, our ‘Innovation Strategy’ for an innovation eco-
system’ aims to unite national and global stakeholders, fos-
tering the creation of disruptive startups, innovative business 
models, and technology-driven solutions. Together, these ef-
forts position DHI as a catalyst for sustainable growth and 
technological advancement in Bhutan and beyond.
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DĢłÖłóĢÖķ�NĢėĞķĢėĞŶŭ�

8LI�XEFPI�FIPS[�WLS[W�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�LMKLPMKLXW�SJ�XLI�(,-�WXERHEPSRI�ERH�MXW�+VSYT�JSV�XLI�]IEV�IRHMRK������

Particulars
Group (In Million Nu.) DHI Standalone (In million Nu.)

2023 2022 (restated) Variance 2023 2022 Variance

Total Assets 283,097.37 265,648.76 6.57% 79,069.86 73,207.14 8.01%

Net Worth 106,496.80 100,548.50 5.92% 72,192.86 66,490.34 8.58%
Income 58,600.21 46,069.29 27.20% 10,544.53 10,565.57 -0.20%
Expenditure 40,599.97 33,065.44 22.79% 282.92 206.98 36.69%
PBT 18,000.24 13,003.86 38.42% 10,261.62 10,358.59 -0.94%
Tax 9,580.74 8,007.56 19.65% 3,243.05 3,125.44 3.76%
PAT 8,419.51 4,996.29 68.52% 7,018.57 7,233.14 -2.97%

FũŋŽť��óóŋŽłŶŭ�

Total asset and net worth
The Group’s total assets increased by 6.57%, to Nu. 
283,097.37 million and the net worth increased by 5.92%, to 
Nu. 106,496.80 million, in 2023.

Total assets increased mainly due to Nu. 13,252.62 million 
increase in the banking loans and advance, and Nu. 6,695.57 
million increase in the capital work in progress. Additionally, 
Nu. 1,142.73 million increase in the Goodwill was on account 
of buyback of Kholongchhu Hydro Electric Ltd. (KHEL) from 
SJVNL.

The net worth increased mainly on account of Nu. 4,302.28 
million increase in retained earnings and Nu. 964.00 million in-
crease in Bhutan Future Fund. The Nu. 607.05 million increase 
in the paid-up capital is from MoF’s transfer of Royal Bhutan 
Helicopter Services Ltd. (RBHSL) to Drukair.

Revenue
The Group’s revenue increased 27.20%, to Nu. 58,600.21 mil-
lion, from Nu. 46,069.29 million in 2022. The increase is at-
tributed to Nu. 13,270.30 million growth in the ‘Revenue from 
Customers’ through sales of energy & resources and sales of 
services. Sales of Energy & Resources accounted for a 27% 
increase, from Nu. 23,174.17 million in 2022 to Nu. 29,419.40 
million in 2023. Sales of Services accounted for the 48% in-
crease, from Nu. 8,439.66 million in 2022 to Nu. 12,467.65 
million in 2023. 

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by 22.79%, to Nu. 40,599.97 mil-
lion from Nu. 33,065.44 million in 2022. This is mainly due 
to the increase of Nu. 4,203.65 million in the Direct Cost of 
Sales on account of a 146.25% (Nu. 3,297.15 million) growth 
in Energy and Wheeling Charges and a 122.44% (Nu. 1,166.65 
million) growth for Aircraft Fuel, Oil and Operating cost to Nu. 
2,119.46 million in FY2023.

8LI� MQTEMVQIRX� PSWWIW�EPWS�EHHIH�WMKRMƼGERXP]�XS[EVHW�XLI�
growth in total expenditure, which increased by 614.91% (Nu. 
���������QMPPMSR
�XS�2Y�����������QMPPMSR�JVSQ�E�RIKEXMZI�ƼKYVI�
of Nu. 276.16 million in 2022. 

4VSƼX�%JXIV�8E\
'SRWMHIVMRK� E� WMKRMƼGERX� KVS[XL� MR� XLI� VIZIRYI�� XLI� +VSYT�
posted a 68.52% (Nu. 3,423.21 million) increase in its con-
WSPMHEXIH� TVSƼX� EJXIV� XE\�� XS� 2Y�� ��������� QMPPMSR� JVSQ� 2Y��
4,996.29 million in 2022.

'NR��ŶÖłùÖķŋłā��óóŋŽłŶŭ�
 
Total Asset and Net Worth
The total assets and net worth of DHI increased by 8.01% and 
8.58% respectively. Overall, the Financial Position improved to 
Nu. 79,069.86 million from Nu.73,207.14 M in 2022. 

The total assets increased on account of Nu. 2,257.12 million 
increase in investments and Nu. 2,203.88 million increase in 
other receivables and advances (due to the increase in loans 
to subsidiary companies). Further, the short-term deposits 
also increased to Nu. 1,007 million at the end of the year. 

Directors Report



DHI Annual Report 2023 | 15

The net worth increased with the increase in retained earnings 
by Nu. 2,693.57 million and other comprehensive income by 
Nu. 1,437.90 million (caused by gain on equity investment due 
to change in fair value of RICBL, BNB and investment abroad). 
 
Revenue
The standalone revenue for 2023 reduced marginally by Nu. 
21.04 million (0.20%) due to Nu. 185.00 million decrease in 
the dividend income. While DGPC made the highest dividend 
contribution (44% of the total dividend), its dividend of Nu. 
4,395.77 million remitted in 2023 was a reduction of 13.98% 
from Nu. 5,110.00 million remitted in 2022. Dividend remit-
tances by BTL and SMCL were 26% (Nu. 2,560 M) and 19% 
(Nu. 1,919.75 M) of the total dividend in 2023. 

Expenditure
The total expenditure for the year increased by Nu. 75.93 mil-
lion (37%), from Nu. 206.98 million in FY2022 to Nu.282.92 
million in FY 2023. The increase is attributed to Nu. 21.47 mil-
lion increase in employee payroll and Nu. 40 million increase 
in CSR and donations. 
 
4VSƼX�%JXIV�8E\
The standalone PAT decreased by Nu. 214.57 million, from 
Nu. 7,233.14 million in 2022 to Nu. 7018.58 million in 2023. 
This decline of 2.97% is attributed to Nu. 185 million decline 
MR�XLI�HMZMHIRHɸMRGSQI��ERH�YT[EVH�VIZMWMSR�SJ�XLI�IQTPS]IIƅW�
salary during the year.

�āėĿāłŶ��āũĕŋũĿÖłóā

Energy and Resources            
This segment remains the top revenue generator for the 
group. In 2023, it contributed 50.40% (Nu. 40,794.77 million) 
to the total revenue, marking an 18% increase (Nu. 6,096.90 
million) from 2022 ( Nu. 34,697.86 million).

•� 71'0� GSRXMRYIH� MXW� ƼRERGMEP� KVS[XL�� EGLMIZMRK� E� XSXEP�
income of Nu. 6,467.79 million, a 20.55% increase from 
2Y�����������QMPPMSR�MR�������(SPSQMXI�TPE]IH�E�WMKRMƼGERX�
role, contributing the largest share. Its bottom-line PAT 
increased by 19% to Nu.2,274.78 million. The company 
pumped back Nu. 1,241.55 million to local community 
through award of various work contracts. 

• Druk Green saw a decrease in income by 2.97% to Nu. 
11,668.60 million due to a reduction in energy generation. 
Despite increased domestic energy consumption, the 
company maintained high power plant availability and 
[EXIV�YXMPM^EXMSR��VIWYPXMRK� MR�E�RIX�TVSƼX�SJ�2Y�����������
million

• BPC recorded the highest revenue within the group at 
Nu. 20,208.50 million, a 36.07% increase driven by higher 
electricity sales. Energy sold rose notably by 64.20% to 
5,689.74 MU. It reported a 38.07% increase in the bottom 
line.

• NRDCL reported revenue growth of 18% to Nu. 170.82 
million, primarily from increased timber and stone sales, 
resulting in a PAT of Nu. 16.26 million, up by 44.46%.

Communication and Transportation
This segment contributed 13.50% to the group’s revenue, to-
taling Nu. 10,931.80 million.

• BTL achieved a revenue of Nu. 6,098.76 million, with mo-
bile services contributing 88.37% (Nu. 5,389.23 million). 
The company expanded its network with new 5G and LTE 
sites and reported a PAT of Nu. 2,431.57 million.

•� (VYOEMV� WMKRMƼGERXP]� MRGVIEWIH� XSXEP� TEWWIRKIVW� GEVVMIH�
to 201,979, marking a 122% increase from 2022, result-
MRK�MR�E�XYVREVSYRH�TVSƼX�FIJSVI�XE\�SJ�2Y���������QMPPMSR�
against a loss of Nu.1,146.24 million in 2022.

1ERYJEGXYVMRKɸ
Contributing 7.30% of the group’s total income, this segment 
totalled Nu. 5,907.09 million.

• MSPCL achieved sales revenue of Nu. 107.867 million, a 
42.55% increase mainly from traditional medicines and 
LIEPXL�WYTTPIQIRXW��[MXL�E�RIX�TVSƼX�SJ�2Y��������QMPPMSR�

• DCCL improved its bottom line by 33% despite challeng-
IW��[LMPI�(YRKWEQ�4SP]QIV�0MQMXIH�VITSVXIH�E�RIX�TVSƼX�
of Nu. 16.54 million.

• Koufuku International Ltd. (KIL) saw revenue growth to 
Nu. 101.04 million, with a positive PAT of Nu. 1.77 million.
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• Azista Bhutan Healthcare Limited (ABHL) reported a loss 
of Nu. 46 million due to increased operating expenses.

•� 4'%0�VITSVXIH�WMKRMƼGERX�MRGSQI�KVS[XL�XS�2Y�����������
QMPPMSR�ERH�E�RIX�TVSƼX�SJ�2Y���������QMPPMSR�

•� &&40�EGLMIZIH�VIZIRYI�SJ�2Y���������QMPPMSR��[MXL�E�TVSƼX�
of Nu. 22.5 million, up by 27.4% from FY2022.

*MRERGMEP�7IVZMGIWɸ
• BOB continued to lead in banking services with substan-

tial growth in digital transactions. mBOB transactions in-
creased to Nu.67 billion and goBOB to Nu. 482 million re-
spectively. Additionally, BOBit, foreign inward remittance 
services, facilitated remittance of AUD 48.01million. 
The Bank reported a PAT of Nu. 1,002.49 million against 
Nu.676.57 million in 2022.

6IEP�)WXEXI�ERH�'SRWXVYGXMSR�ɸ
• Thimphu TechPark Ltd. (TTPL) achieved a revenue in-

GVIEWI�SJ���	�XS�2Y���������QMPPMSR��[MXL�E�RIX�TVSƼX�SJ�2Y��
130.97 million. It was mainly driven by the ePIS project. 

• CDCL completed HRT excavation and concrete lining of 
the Nikachhu hydropower project during 2023. It saw a 
VIZIRYI�KVS[XL�SJ���	�FYX�TVSƼX�VIHYGIH�F]�XS�2Y������
million due to substantial increase in the project costs.

8VEHMRKɸ
• STCBL expanded its fuel retail network to additional three 

Dzongkhags achieving revenue of Nu. 3,443.46 million 
and a PAT of Nu. 12.70 million.

zŶĞāũ�zťāũÖŶĢŋłÖķ�NĢėĞķĢėĞŶŭ� 
Managing existing portfolio
• DHI Conducted a comprehensive review of investment 

TSVXJSPMSW��ƼREPM^IH�HMZIWXQIRXW��ERH�IRLERGIH�MRZIRXSV]�
management, identifying obsolete items worth Nu. 1,546 
million; and

•� *SPPS[MRK� ƼREPM^EXMSR� SJ� ���QMPPMSR� GJX� ERRYEP� EPPS[EFPI�
cut (AAC) of timber for export, DHI approved investment 
of Nu. 1,715 million for NRDCL to enhance its capacity for 
timber extraction, distribution and export. 

 

Making future-focused investments
•� -RGSVTSVEXIH� XLI� 'VE[ƼWL� ,MQEPE]ER� 0XH�� �',0
�� ER�

%KVM�XIGL� GSQTER]� XS� GYPXMZEXI� GVE[ƼWL� JSV� FSXL� I\-
port and domestic markets, and the Bhutan Global 
Mindfulness and MICE Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore;

• Partnered with AvantWood, Finland to set-up a Thermo 
1IGLERMGEP�8MQFIV�1SHMƼGEXMSR� �8181
� YRMX� XS�QERY-
facture high-value-added engineered wood products in 
Bhutan;

•� )RLERGIH� XLI� EWWIX� �ƼRERGMEP� WIGYVMXMIW
� YRHIV� QER-
agement (AUM) of investments in overseas markets in-
creased by USD 6.3 million, carried out portfolio rebalanc-
ing and implemented risk management strategies to build 
a resilient portfolio;

• Made steady progress in the construction of the Phunt-
sholing Township Development Project (PTDP) towards 
physical completion in 2025 with Nu. 4,387 million spent 
so far. An MoU with FFI was signed with an Australian 
based multinational company to explore investments into 
production of Green Hydrogen in Bhutan; and

• Disbursed Nu. 6.94 million to 16 entrepreneurs through 
the Business Acceleration Fund facility, as part of DHI’s 
private sector development mandate. As on date, a total 
of Nu. 33.23 million has been disbursed to a total of 85 
entrepreneurs.

 
Establishing a knowledge-based innovation 
ecosystem
• Launched the National Digital Identify app, which is based 

on the Self-Sovereign Identity model to provide secure 
ERH�ZIVMƼEFPI�HMKMXEP�MHIRXMXMIW�XS�GMXM^IRW�

• Unveiled a metaverse-based virtual space, BhutanVerse 
during the FAB23 Bhutan International Conference, which 
was organized by DHI. BhutanVerse will be a part of The 
Sandbox, a blockchain-based decentralized metaverse, 
and will showcase Bhutanese  motifs, art, and architec-
ture;

•� 'EVVMIH�SYX�QYPXMTPI�XIWX�ƽMKLXW�XS�MRMXMEXI�MRWTIGXMSR�ERH�
maintenance of power distribution lines with Drones.

These initiatives underscore DHI’s commitment to innovation, 
sustainable growth, and economic development in Bhutan.
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'ĢƑĢùāłù�Öłù�¦ÖƗāŭ�

In 2023, DHI paid a standalone tax of Nu. 3,071.59 million. As 
a Group, the total tax contribution for 2023 amounted to Nu. 
8,769.91 million, an increase of 8.74% (or Nu. 704.76 million) 
from Nu. 8,065.15 million paid in 2022. The effective tax rate 
charged to the Group works out at 49%.

Additionally, the Group also made a payment of Nu. 2,085.12 
million on account of royalty energy, and Nu. 488.23 million as 
royalty and mineral rents.

The dividend for 2023 is proposed at Nu. 5,059.16 million, an 
increase of 50.53% (or Nu.1,698.20 million) from 2022.
 
Hence, the total remittance from the Group for 2023 is Nu. 
16,402.42 million, an increase of 16% from Nu.14,140.98 mil-
lion for 2022.

Group Remittance 2023 2022 Variance

DHI Dividend to 
MoF 

5,059.16 3,361.00 50.53%

Payment on 
account of Royalty 
Energy 

2,085.12 2,348.75 -11.22%

Royalty payment on 
other resources and 
mineral rents 

488.23 366.08 33.37%

Total Group taxes 8,769.91 8,065.15 8.74%

Total Remittance 16,402.42 14,140.98 16%

!ŋũťŋũÖŶā�FŋƑāũłÖłóā

As a trusted steward and the leading CG practitioner DHI 
maintained clean accounts for the 9th consecutive year. No 
adverse audit observation was issued in 2023 on both Con-
WSPMHEXIH� ERH� 7XERHEPSRI� EGGSYRXW�� (,-� JYPƼPPIH� EPP� XLI� VI-
quirements set in the CG Code and complied fully with all 
statutory requirements.

One of the CG mandates include appointing highly capable, 
experienced, and diverse boards of directors. Towards this, 
12 Nomination and Governance Committee (NGC) meetings 
were conducted, resulting in the appointment of three new 
CEO (NRDCL, CHL, KIL), and renewal/extension the contracts 
for the CEOs of three companies (SMCL, Drukair and BTL).

�ŶÖŶŽŶŋũƘ��ŽùĢŶ��āťŋũŶ��

M/s Dechok & Associates and Menuka Chhetri & Associ-
ates conducted the audit of the Group and DHI standalone 
accounts for 2023. The audit was carried out in accordance 
with the auditing standards prescribed by the Accounting and 
Auditing Standards Board of Bhutan (AASBB), and relevant 
provisions of the Companies Act.

The auditors’ reports for both the group and the Standalone 
EGGSYRXW� HS� RSX� LEZI� ER]� UYEPMƼGEXMSRW��8LI� EYHMXSVW� GSR-
GPYHIH� XLEX� XLI� EGGSYRXW� EPSRK� [MXL� WGLIHYPIW�� WMKRMƼGERX�
accounting policies, and notes to accounts are in compliance 
with the requirements of the Bhutanese Accounting Stand-
ards and the Companies Act of Bhutan, 2016.

!ĞÖķķāłėāŭ�Öłù�ÂÖƘ�DŋũƒÖũù�

As the trustee of the national wealth, the cosmic role by DHI 
and the Group to uphold its primary mandate of protecting 
the national wealth has been commendable thus far. None-
theless, we were faced with challenges unique to Bhutan 
while pursuing the overall mandate. Some of the prominent 
challenges are: 

• 'SVTSVEXI�ƼRERGMRK� while we realigned our investment 
strategy (to build linkage among energy and computing 
and the future global economy) and reframed our ap-
TVSEGL�JSV�TVSNIGX�ƼRERGMRK�ERH�I\IGYXMSR�� VEMWMRK�GETM-
tal through multi-lateral sources and commercial banks 
abroad has been very challenging. Further, it has also 
been challenging in obtaining the seed fund for the Green 
Tech Trust Fund, a crucial component for fueling an STI 
economy.

• (MWVYTXMZI� XIGLRSPSKMIW�� 8LI� VMWI� MR� XLI� ƼRXIGL� �*MRER-
cial Technology) and the digitalization across various 
segments have disrupted the ways of doing business, 
thus forcing the companies to adapt to those new and 
disruptive technologies. While it is an opportunity on the 
one hand, being agile and adopting them and the cost of 
acquisition are the hurdles companies are facing today. 
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• 6IKYPEXSV]� GLERKIW� Since the companies are heavily 
regulated, the changes in the policies and regulations can 
WMKRMƼGERXP]�MQTEGX�MXW�QSHYW��STIVERHM��TVSHYGX�ERH�WIV-
vices it offers. During FY2023, companies like BTL, BPC, 
BOB, NRDCL faced shifts in the policies and regulatory 
changes, adding another layer of unpredictability to the 
overall business operations.

• )GSRSQMG�9RGIVXEMRXMIW� As we witness the positive re-
vival of the companies from the impact of the COVID, the 
+VSYT� GSRXMRYIW� XS� JEGI� E� HMƾGYPX� IGSRSQMG� WMXYEXMSR��
Moreover, with the positioning of the Gelephu Mindful-
ness City as a gateway for South and Southeast Asia, we 
are presented with an extraordinary opportunity as well 
as challenge to contribute to building the next-generation 
economy.

• ,YQER�'ETMXEP� The ongoing migration of Bhutanese to 
foreign lands has created a vacuum in the companies. 
The acquisition and retention of human capital continues 
to remain as one of the biggest challenges in all compa-
nies despite the salary revision in October 2023. Howev-
er, the situation is also seen as an opportunity to attract 
talent with a growth mindset and skill sets from global 
space and to relook at our strategies to retain local tal-
ents. 

;E]�*SV[EVH� Looking ahead, we remain optimistic about the 
future. The positioning of Gelephu Special Administration as 
a gateway for South and Southeast Asia presents an extraor-
dinary opportunity, and the Group remains highly inspired and 
committed to build the next-generation economy. Our strate-
gic focus will be in the following:

• 4SVXJSPMS� 1EREKIQIRX� Given the diversity of the DHI 
Group, our portfolio management strategy, at its core, 
places the existing and upcoming investments within four 
quadrants (Growth Zone, Strategic Zone, Potential Zone, 
and Future Zone) with paramount focus on the Future 
zone wherein it has been strategically designed to ensure 
that we leverage the opportunities presented by the next 
generation innovation in energy and computing

• -RZIWXQIRX� 7XVEXIK]� DHI’s investment strategy will be 
rooted in the Future Zone aimed at building a linkage be-
tween energy and computing and the future global econ-
omy. These future-focused investments will not only di-
versify the current portfolio but also pave new economic 
avenues leading to an STI economy. 

• -RRSZEXMSR�7XVEXIK]��To propel the vision for an STI Econ-
omy, DHI has designed a comprehensive innovation strat-
egy to facilitate applied and fundamental research in sci-
ence and technology.  The Department of Innovation and 
Technology (DHI InnoTech), Jigme Namgyal Wangchuck 
Super Fab Lab (JNWSFL) and Green Tech Trust Fund 
(GTTF) are the three funnels each playing fundamental 
roles to activate the ecosystem. 
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�óĴłŋƒķāùėāĿāłŶ

In closing, we would like to submit our deepest gratitude to His Majesty The King for 
inspiration and for guiding the nation through the challenging times.
 
I also extend my sincere and deep appreciation to every employee of the Group for 
the hard work, for upholding the values and for believing in the Group’s mission of 
building generational wealth. I also express my appreciation to the executives of the 
companies for their leadership and to all the board directors for their oversight and 
strategic directions. 

As a group, we extend our sincere thanks to the Royal Government of Bhutan and 
SYV�IWXIIQIH�WLEVILSPHIVW��[LSWI�XVYWX�ERH�GSRƼHIRGI�MR�(,-�EVI�XLI�JSYRHEXMSR�
of our success. 

Finally, we acknowledge the guidance and support of our Board of Directors on the 
strategic direction and initiatives. To the CEO and employees of DHI, “your hard work 
and dedication throughout this year have been truly remarkable. Thank you all for 
your invaluable contributions to our success.” 

We solemnly remain committed in our pursuit to creating long-term value and deliv-
ering sustainable growth as we navigate the future.

Thank you and Tashi Delek!

(EWLS�/EVQE�=�6E]HM
'LEMVQER��(,-�
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Corporate Governance (CG) is a set of systems and proce-
dures that enable and ensure companies are being managed 
in the most accountable, transparent, and fair manner while 
meeting the expectations of shareholders and other stake-
holders. Sound corporate governance practices are critical for 
the effective use of company resources with the highest eth-
ical standards. Having been given the mandate to strengthen 
corporate governance DHI and its companies, Druk Holding 
and Investments Limited (DHI) had continued to adopt best 
practices of corporate governance. The Company had com-
plied with the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2016 
and other statutory requirements. 

The Board of Directors is entrusted with the ultimate respon-
sibility for guiding the strategic direction and performance of 
DHI to achieve the mandates bestowed in the Royal charter. 

The management is headed by the Chairman and the Chief 
)\IGYXMZI� SƾGIV� JSV� XLI�QEREKIQIRX� SJ� XLI� HE]�XS�HE]� EJ-
fairs of the Company. As of the end of December 2023, the 
DHI Board consisted of 7 Board Directors including the Chair-
man and the CEO. 

!ŋĿťŋŭĢŶĢŋł�ŋĕ�ŶĞā��ŋÖũù�Öłù��ŶŶāłùÖłóā
Name of 
Director Category 4VSƼPI No. of Board Meetings 

attended in 2023
No. of Directorships in DHI owned/

controlled companies

Chairman Member

Dasho Karma 
Yezer Raydi

Non- Independent 
Executive Chairman, DHI 5

2- State Mining Cor-
poration Ltd.(SMCL) 

and Dungsam Cement 
Corporation Ltd. (DCCL)

1- Druk 
Metallurgy 
Ltd. (DML)

Ms. Yunny Lee Non- Independent 
Non-Executive

Transformation 
SƾGI��,17 5 None None

Mr. Nelson 
Trevor Thackery

Non- Independent 
Non-Executive

Transformation 
SƾGI��,17 5 None None

Mr. Thinley 
Namgyel 

Independent 
Non-Executive

Secretary, 
Ministry of 

Agriculture & 
Livestock

5

1 - Menjong Sorig 
Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation Ltd. 

(MSPCL)

None

Ms.Leki 
Wangmo

Non- Independent 
Non-Executive

Secretary,  Min-
istry of Finance 4 None None

Mr. Ujjwal Deep 
Dahal

Non- Independent 
Executive CEO, DHI 5 None

1- (Thimphu 
TechPark 

Ltd.)

Mr. Sherub Independent 
Non-Executive

CEO, Rigsar 
Construction 

Pvt. Ltd. 
2 None None

REPORT ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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�ŋÖũù�!ŋĿĿĢŶŶāā�ĕŋũ��āũĕŋũĿÖłóā�
mÖłÖėāĿāłŶ̛�!�m̜

The DHI BCPM is the standing committee of the DHI Board 
and is responsible for reviewing our portfolio’s annual com-
pact target setting, business reviews and performance evalu-
ations. A total of 60 BCPM meetings were held in 2023 includ-
ing the compact negotiation meetings and quarterly reviews 
of the company compacts. 

¦Ğā�pŋĿĢłÖŶĢŋł�Öłù�FŋƑāũłÖłóā�
!ŋĿĿĢŶŶāā�

Nomination and Governance Committee (NGC) a joint com-
mittee of DHI and the Company Board carries out the recruit-
ment and appointment of CEOs to ensure the right leadership 
in the companies. 

�ŋÖũù�Öłù�!1z�1ƑÖķŽÖŶĢŋł�

DHI conducts an annual online survey where feedback is col-
lected from the Chairman and CEO on the performance of the 
individual Board of Directors in the DHI owned Companies. 
DHI also assesses its performance of the CEOs of the DHI 
Owned Companies through an online survey annually. The 
assessment is mainly on the leadership competencies and 
attributes. It constitutes 20% weightage of the overall CEO’s 
performance evaluation and the remaining 80% is based on 
the achievement of annual compact of the Company. The 
combined score is used to pay out the CEO’s performance 
PMROIH�ƼRERGMEP� MRGIRXMZIW�ERH� MW�EPWS�GSRWMHIVIH�HYVMRK� XLI�
renewal of contracts of the CEO in DHI owned companies. 

FũŋŽť�!F��āťŋũŶ�

For the year 2023, all companies compiled with the DHI CG 
Code, Companies Act of Bhutan 2016 and all other statutory 
requirements. 

�ĢŭĴ�mÖłÖėāĿāłŶ�

At DHI, we recognize that effective risk management is es-
sential for safeguarding business, maintaining operational 
resilience and creating long-term value for our shareholders.

During the year, DHI reviewed and implemented the revised 
Risk Management framework which has been structured 
along the industry best practices. The framework requires DHI 
and its group to identify the risk and mitigation plans at the 
FIKMRRMRK�SJ�XLI�]IEV��8LI�MHIRXMƼIH�VMWOW�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�YRHIV�
5-tiers and have to be duly approved by the respective board 
of directors.  

3YV�ERRYEP� VMWO�EWWIWWQIRX� MHIRXMƼIH�����TSXIRXMEP� XLVIEXW�
from 16 subsidiaries (excluding DHI standalone). Only the risk 
with high likelihood categorized as Tier-1 that could possibly 
cause multiple impacts such as reputational and economic 
damage to the business and client base and/or have severe 
impact to the company are consolidated and submitted to 
the Board. By implementing mandatory control and mitiga-
tion measures, we have reduced the Tier-1 risk from 32 to 27 
by the year-end, demonstrating the effectiveness of our risk 
management framework.

Moving forward, DHI will remain steadfast in its commitment 
to proactive risk management as a cornerstone of its busi-
ness strategy and pledges reassurance to the humongous 
responsibility of managing current and future investments.



 22 |

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

�ŋóĢÖķ�Öłù�
1łƑĢũŋłĿāłŶ

A total donation of 
Nu. 275,000 

as a part of social initiative with an 
objective to enhance the community 

welfare, preserve the culture and 
empower the youth.

�āķĢėĢŋł�
Öłù�óŽķŶŽũā

A total donation of 
Nu. 1,150,000.00 

have been allocated to various sacred 
causes, including the renovation 

and repair of lhakhangs, while 
simultaneously boosting the rich 

cultural  tapestry and artistry.

ÈŋŽŶĞ�
Öłù��ťŋũŶŭ

DHI supported youth engagement and 
skill development with 

Nu. 6,975,000 
for the Cricket Team, other  sports 

development forum including Draktsho 
and the Bhutan Tennis Federation.

pÖŶĢŋłÖķ�
�ĢėłĢƩóÖłóā

Contributed 
Nu. 700,000 

towards National Day celebrations, 
Bhutan Embassy in Canberra, and 

commemorations of the 
Gyalsem birth anniversary 
EƾVQMRK�E�GSQQMXQIRX�XS�
national pride and heritage.
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�ŭŭāŶŭ�ðƘ
�āóŶŋũ�

(in Million Nu.)

39% 
Energy & Resources

147,475.87

 4% 
Communication 
& Transportation 

16,731.25

4% 
Manufacturing

13,226.90

30%
 Financial Services

113,107.83

23% 
Others (Holding, Real Estate 

& Trading)
84,352.95
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2019

2019

2019

2020

2020

2020

Total Assets

Total Revenue

Others

Total Net Worth

Total Expenditure PBT

Group

2021

2021

2021

2022

2022

2022

2023

2023

2023

!ŋłŭŋķĢùÖŶāù�FũŋŽť�¦ŋŶÖķ��ŭŭāŶŭ�ͽ�¦ŋŶÖķ�pāŶ�ÂŋũŶĞ (in Million Nu.)

FũŋŽť��āƑāłŽā̇�1ƗťāłùĢŶŽũā�ͽ���¦� (in Million Nu.)

'NR�FũŋŽť�!ŋłŶũĢðŽŶĢŋł�Ƒŭ�zŶĞāũŭ�(in Million Nu.)

203,207.32

34,707.61

39,632.93

25,462.7926,374.03

13,258.90
9,213.72

13,956.34 13,003.86
18,000.24

26,289.70
33,065.44

40,599.97
34,676.51

40,246.04
46,069.29

58,600.21

223,738.70

36,218.88

239,407.22

35,855.45

265,648.76

39,043.10

283,097.37

44,874.89

96,064.76

12,106.08

95,893.61

11,220.00

100,548.50

14,140.98

98,901.54

13,032.86

106,496.80

16,402.42
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PBT

KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF DHI 
PORTFOLIO COMPANIES

�ĞŽŶÖł��ŋƒāũ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 43,549.80 42,117.67

Net worth 16,087.09 16,121.21

Income 20,208.50 14,851.13

Expenditure 18,386.75 13,659.79

PBT 1,821.75 1,191.34

Tax 676.07 361.53

PAT 1,145.68 829.81

Increased the number of customers from 232,465 to 243,285 
in FY2023 due to the surge in the domestic load. The indus-
trial load accounted for approximately 84.61% of the total do-
mestic load. 

Commissioned 220kV and 66kV substations and installed the 
ƼVWX�WLYRX�GETEGMXSV���\����1:%6�EX�7IQXSOLE�7YFWXEXMSRW�
thereby enhancing the transmission infrastructures.

Completed the Transmission Lighting Surge Arrestors (TLSA) 
TMPSX�TVSNIGX�XS�IRLERGI�XLI�RIX[SVO�IƾGMIRG]�ERH�VIPMEFMPMX]�
in lightning-prone areas including upgradation of substations 
with new 11kV switch gears. 

)PIGXVMƼIH�ER�EHHMXMSREP�������LSYWILSPHW�6)�ƼPP�MR�TVSKVEQ�
as part of the process automation and online service platform 
initiation. The distribution feeder automation and the smart 
grid system were advanced to Auto-Recloser Circuit Breakers 
(ARCB), Sectionalizers, and Fault Passage Indicators. 
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pÖŶŽũÖķ��āŭŋŽũóāŭ�'āƑāķŋťĿāłŶ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù
                                                                                   

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 1,557.74 946.00

Net worth 648.50 628.46

Income 926.02 755.20

Expenditure 892.86 780.58

PBT 33.16 (25.38)

Tax 14.09 2.83

PAT 19.07 (28.21)

Extracted 2.44 million cft of timber and 0.49 m3 of sand and 
distributed 2.11 million cft of timber and 0.48 m3 of sand. 

-RZIWXIH� MR� ƼZI� EHHMXMSREP� WERH� HVIHKMRK� FSEXW� ERH� IUYMT-
ment at Sha region, and successfully resolved all backlog or-
ders, created mainly by the closure of an extraction site by the 
Dzongkhag in Wangdue Phodrang.

-RMXMEXIH�WGMIRXMƼG�XLMRRMRK�SJ�XMQFIV�JSV�I\TSVXW�JVSQ�XLI�X[S�
pilot sites (RTC and Yusipang areas) allotted by DoFPS.
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�āłùāł�!āĿāłŶ��ŽŶĞŋũĢŶƘ�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 2,004.77 2,038.66

Net worth 1,260.04 1,163.19

Income 1,651.03 546.37

Expenditure 1,615.31 771.26

PBT 35.71 (224.89)

Tax 67.23 (4.69)

PAT 102.94 (220.20)

Renewed the limestone mines at Pugli for an additional 10 
years with DGM and also reduced import burden of high-
grade limestone through in-house screening and washing of 
locally sourced limestone. 

Commissioned the Autoclave Aerated Concrete (AAC) Blocks 
plant at Nu. 292.60 million and achieved the Bureau of Indian 
7XERHEVHW��&-7
�GIVXMƼGEXMSR��

Implemented a process re-engineering through the adoption 
of refractory brick lining from 40 meters to 15 meters after 
two decades of plant operation.
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�ơĢŭŶÖ��ĞŽŶÖł�NāÖķŶĞóÖũā�dŶù̍ 

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 484.77 434.28

Net worth 142.44 138.93

Income 48.66 4.64

Expenditure 80.40 40.50

PBT (46.48) (42.98)

Tax - -

PAT (46.48) (42.98)

Manufactured General and Oncology block units of 9.35 mil-
lion and 0.216 million respectively.

Received approval for the registration of 16 products under 
various brand names in Bhutan. 

Achieved 20% of domestic market share for the supply of reg-
istered drugs through the Ministry of Health. 
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�ĞŽŶÖł��ŋÖũù��ũŋùŽóŶŭ�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 1012.63 1084.02

Net worth 851.86 943.57

Income 290.14 260.31

Expenditure 269.927 243.3

PBT 20.213 17.02

Tax 2.297 0.65

PAT 22.51 17.67

Maintained production levels of FY2022 for the raw and lami-
nated boards (188,184 & 154,020 pcs) despite 20% decrease 
in the plant availability caused by the shortage of spare parts 
and key raw materials

Increased the production of standard furniture by 36% and 
customized furniture by more than 130%

Entered Bangladesh market for export of Particle Board and 
MRMXMEXIH�WGMIRXMƼG�XLMRRMRK�SJ�JSVIWXW�JSV�XMQFIV�I\TSVX
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'ũŽĴ�Fũāāł��ŋƒāũ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 63,395.73 56,353.15

Net Worth 46,239.02 46,086.94

Income 11,668.60 12,026.29

Expenditure 4,848.92 5,483.34

PBT 6,819.68 6,542.95

Tax 2,295.59 1,918.54

PAT 4,524.09 4,624.41

Took over the remaining 50% shareholding of the 600 MW 
Kholongchhu from SJVNL following the decision undertaken 
by the RGOB and GoI to dissolve the joint venture

Carried out the inaugural blast for the 54 MW Burgangchhu hy-
dropower project in January and subsequently at the Yungich-
hu and Suchhu projects and thereby marking the beginning of 
DGPC’s internally managed construction of small hydropower 
plants and the involvement of Bhutanese contractors

Completed the replacement and refurbishment of Unit IV Gen-
erator in CHP through erection and testing of BHEL supplied 
generator components by DGPC O&M and HRDC teams. 

Updated and conducted DPR for various hydropower projects 
as well as provided construction-level design support for 
Phase I & II small hydropower projects and began site investi-
gations for utility-scale solar Photovoltaic projects, including 
the 100 MWp Jamjee and 150 MWp Apay Amai Paang pro-
jects

 30 | Key Highlights of DHI Portfolio Companies



DHI Annual Report 2023 | 31

'ũŽĴ��Ģũ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù�

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 9,380.27 9,835.41

Net Worth 1,519.71 1,555.21

Income 4,828.77 2,045.49

Expenditure 4,537.43 3,191.72

PBT 291.34 (1,146.24)

Tax (354.15) 258.44

PAT (62.8) (887.80)

Increased the load factor to 67% by increasing the passenger 
carried by more than 122% over FY2022;

Achieved an average of 83% market share on the four com-
petitive routes of Bangkok, Delhi, Kathmandu and Kolkata;

Signed charter contract with Alii Palau Airlines and inaugurat-
IH� XLI�ƽMKLX� JVSQ�7MRKETSVI� XS�4EPEY�ERH�ZMGI�ZIVWE� MR�2S-
vember; 

Promoted two Bhutanese National ATR Pilots as the country’s 
ƼVWX�2EXMSREP�0MRI�'ETXEMRW�GIVXMƼIH�XS�ƽ]�XLI�%68���������ERH

%HHIH� X[S� ƼVWX� 2EXMSREP� ,IPM�4MPSXW� XS� XLI�,IPM� 7IVZMGIW� VI-
ceive Command (PIC) to operate outside of the Paro Con-
trolled Airspace.

Signed agreement for purchase of two helicopters.
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'ŽłėŭÖĿ�!āĿāłŶ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù�

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 8,489.85 8,522.40

Net Worth 1,087.47 1,409.33

Income 2,902.47 3,287.96

Expenditure 2,968.51 3,385.88

PBT (66.04) (97.93)

Tax 0 0

PAT (66.04) (97.93)

Produced a total of 416,200 MT of clinker and 496,437 MT of 
cement, and achieved a sales volume of 479,030 MT of ce-
ment during the year.

Decreased total expenditure to Nu 2,968.50 million as com-
pared to Nu. 3,385.88 million in 2022, a decrease of 12%.

Improved the bottom line by more than 33% or Nu. 30 million 
over FY2022. 
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�ŶÖŶā�mĢłĢłė�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 3,991.09 3,223.20

Net Worth 2,401.73 2,047.66

Income 6,467.79 5,365.29

Expenditure 3,057.21 2,513.36

PBT 3,410.58 2,851.93

Tax 1,135.80 931.20

PAT 2,274.78 1,920.73

Increased the production of dolomite by 16% and gypsum by 
21% respectively. Dolomite sales surged by 2% in spite of the 
slow demand caused by the slump in the steel price in India. 
7EPIW�JSV�K]TWYQ�MRGVIEWIH�WMKRMƼGERXP]�F]�QSVI�XLER���	

Commissioned the Coal Washery plant at Bhangter. This will 
FIRIƼGMEXI������	�EWL�GSRXIRX�GSEP�I\XVEGXIH�JVSQ�,EFVERK�
and Majuwa mines

Extracted more than 50,000 MT of boulders and 35,000 MT of 
aggregates and supplied to the local market despite Kholong-
chhu Hydro Electric Project remained non-operational. 

The company contributed more than 1.2 billion into the local 
economy to boost rural livelihoods.
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¦ĞĢĿťĞŽ�¦āóĞ�ÖũĴ�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 483.06 434.4

Net Worth 302.61 169.78

Income 294.40 157.71

Expenditure 163.49 155.02

PBT 130.91 2.69

TAX/ (deferred tax) -0.06 -0.78

PAT 130.97 3.47

Completed deployment of ePIS’s Priority-I modules and Prior-
ity-II modules in ten hospitals

Designed and developed Service Portal and Website for the 
Gyalsung Project, Customer Information File for BoBL, Bhuta-
nese Sign Language App for Wangsel Institute, and Electronic 
Bio-Medical Supply & Information System for MoH.

'SQTPIXIH�ƼVWX�ZIVWMSR�SJ�I6IGVYMXQIRX�7]WXIQ�ERH�MRXIKVEX-
ed DHI’s application systems into NDI

-QTPIQIRXIH�ZEVMSYW�7%4�)64�QSHYPIW�JSV�(+4'�ERH�MXW�ƼZI�
subsidiaries and plants, and SAP Master Data Governance for 
Saudi Electricity Company, Saudi Arabia in collaboration with 
DrukSmart Pvt. Ltd. 

Implemented eNote module (under the ERPNext Solutions) 
across DOCs and the latest version of ERPNext for NHDCL 
and the Vajra Builders Pvt. Ltd. 
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!ŋłŭŶũŽóŶĢŋł�'āƑāķŋťĿāłŶ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 2,003.48 1,992.88

Net Worth 893.27 876.78

Income 1,227.16 1,064.85

Expenditure 1,205.11 1,045.99

PBT 22.05 18.87

TAX -18.84 1.76

PAT 3.21 20.63

Completed HRT excavation and concrete lining of the 
Nikachhu hydropower project;

Completed and handed over construction of 50m Box Girder 
prestressed RCC bridge at Marungri, Pemagatsel;

Completed three water supply projects at Motanga, Jigmeling 
and Dhamdum Industrial Parks;

Secured Gongri drift project, 66 KV Suchhu Transmission 
Line, Chendebji bridge and Gyalsung Fabrication works during 
the year;

Maintained physical progress as per the work schedule for 
the 54 MW Burgangchhu Small Hydropower Project, PTDP 
Package CW-02A Common urban infrastructure, 20 Bedded 
Tashichholing Hospital and Pangrizampa bridge project.
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�ÖłĴ�ŋĕ��ĞŽŶÖł�dĢĿĢŶāù�

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 113,107.83 107,603.91

Net Worth 9,461.53 8,575.10

Income 4,021.78 1,876.34

Expenditure -2,513.20 -894.40

PBT 1,508.57 981.94

TAX -506.08 -305.36

PAT 1,002.49 676.57

Maintained its lead position amongst all FIs in terms of credit 
lending, deposits and in all areas of digital transactions.

Increased mBoB users from 276,027 to 312,364 with remark-
able increase in transactions from 434 billion in 2022 to Nu. 
501 billion 

Increase goBoB users from 154,382 to 205,742 with remark-
able increase in transactions from Nu. 932.98 million to Nu. 
1,415.04 million.

Introduced “BoBit” – a foreign inward remittance services for 
the Bhutanese living in Australia and facilitated inward remit-
tance of AUD 48,007,567.40 within six months period;

Launched revamped Internet Banking in August for both retail 
and corporate clients to facilitate seamless online banking.

Supported 5,241 accounts with an interest rebate of Nu. 
40.87 million as part of the Monetary Relief Measures 
initiated by His Majesty the Druk Gyalpo. 
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bŋŽĕŽĴŽ�RłŶāũłÖŶĢŋłÖķ�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 76.77 82.61

Net Worth 38.58 36.09

Income 101.04 84.51

Expenditure 97.82 95.73

PBT 3.22 -11.22

TAX 1.44 0.63

PAT 1.78 -11.85

Created a remarkable milestone in its history with substantial 
TVSƼX�SJ�2Y������QMPPMSR�

Secured 14 % share of the total market for processed cheese 
in the country.

Generated 95% of the revenue from Zambala Processed 
Cheese sales, amounting to Nu. 95,818,960.00.

Enhanced rural livelihood of 1000 farmers through total in-
come generation of Nu. 167.84 million through the sale of 
milk and other direct support.
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�ĞŽŶÖł�¦āķāóŋĿ�dĢĿĢŶāù 
(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Assets 7,350.99 7,576.68

Net Worth 5,987.62 6,120.67

Income 6,098.76 5,886.20

Expenditure 2,677.06 2,562.89

PBT 3,421.70 3,323.31

TAX 990.13 1,014.06

PAT 2,431.57 2,309.25

Invested Nu. 6.59 million to improve mobile connectivity on 
highways with coverage with special attention to  Gedu –
Lhamoizingkha Highway.

broadened the reach and accessibility of the network through 
upgradation of the extensive Point of Presence (PoP) and ex-
pansion initiative, spanning 35 sites nationwide. 

Expanded its 5G network with an additional 85 sites and de-
ployed 112 more LTE sites across the nation. 

Increased active mobile subscriber from 442,811 in 2022 to 
455,134, and leased line internet subscriptions from 3,763 in 
2022 to 5,615.

Implemented a ten percent (10%) reduction in Voice and SMS 
tariffs for national calls enhancing accessibility to its services 
nationwide 

Provided 1Gbps leased line internet service to Gyalpozhing 
College of Information Technology, aligning with the national 
objective of nurturing graduates committed to academic ex-
cellence, innovation, and social responsibility
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'ŽłėŭÖĿ��ŋķƘĿāũ�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 158.17 153.31

Net worth 59.55 43.71

Income 187.94 190.92

Expenditure 163.46 178.31

PBT 24.48 12.61

Tax 7.94 8.64

PAT 16.54 3.98

Produced a total of 12.74 million PP bags and generated a 
sales revenue of Nu. 12.55 million. Out of which 78% of the 
sales were to DCCL. 

Maintained the overall plant availability factor of over 99%, 
and also contained the production waste to under 2%;

Achieved consecutive PAT for the second year by registering 
a bottom line of Nu. 16.54 million, up from Nu. 3.98 million 
in 2022;
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māłıŋłė��ŋũĢė��ĞÖũĿÖóāŽŶĢóÖķŭ�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł�dĢĿĢŶāù 
(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022 

Total Asset 211.22 183.08

Net worth 180.28 165.97

Income 110.73 77.68

Expenditure 82.97 73.53

PBT 27.77 4.15

Tax 11.48 4.31

PAT 16.29 8.46

Supplied a total of 13.48 MT of Traditional Medicines to the 
Department of Medical Products (DMP);

Produced and sold health supplements worth Nu. 20.19 mil-
lion. 

Introduced two new products viz. Cordyceps Happiness Tea 
and Menjong Air spell.
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�ŶÖŶā�¦ũÖùĢłė�!ŋũťŋũÖŶĢŋł��ĞŽŶÖł�dĢĿĢŶāù

(in millions Nu.)

Particulars 2023 2022

Total Asset 1471.99 1447.9

Net worth 631.13 647.92

Income 3443.46 3231.26

Expenditure 3423.45 3151.9

PBT 20.01 79.36

Tax 7.31 22.01

PAT 12.71 57.35

Expanded the Fuel Retail Outlet network to Tsirang, Samtse 
and Sarpang Dzongkhags during the year. 

8LI�GSQTER]�LEW�EPWS�WIX�YT�E�6IKMSREP�3ƾGI�EX�+IPITLY�
and opened a Bhutanese product shop at Dhaka in Bangla-
desh.

Increase the revenue and reported a bottom-line PAT despite 
the extension of moratorium on import of vehicles and the 
challenges posed by the upgradation of vehicle emission 
standards from BS/Euro 4 to BS/Euro 6;

Continued with the support of a project to help a community 
in Larsarp village in Chhukha by building 2-bedroom houses.  
The company has handed over the last four houses, taking 
the total to 15, to the community during the year.
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�ŽùĢŶ��āťŋũŶ�ŋł�ŶĞā�DĢłÖłóĢÖķ��ŶÖŶāĿāłŶŭ�
ŋĕ�'ũŽĴ�NŋķùĢłė�ͽ�RłƑāŭŶĿāłŶŭ�dĢĿĢŶāù

���āũĢŋù̆�ˏː̍ˏː̍ˑˏˑ˒�̞�˒ː̍ːˑ̍ˑˏˑ˒
`Žłā�ˑˏˑ˓

           

Dechok & Associates Pvt. Limited

Motithang, Thimphu

Mobile +975 17606922
Email: yeshi.jamtsho939@gmail.com

Menuka Chhetri & Associates

6SSQ�2S���(���RHɸ*PSSV��'LERKERKOLE�6IWMHIRG]��
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RłùāťāłùāłŶ�ÖŽùĢŶŋũ̪ŭ�ũāťŋũŶ

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements for year ended 31 December 2023
 
To
The Members of Druk Holding and Investments Limited 

Opinion

We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of Druk Holding and Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (“the 
Group”), which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2023, the Consolidated State-
ment of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
)UYMX]�JSV�XLI�]IEV�XLIR�IRHIH��ERH�2SXIW�XS�XLI�'SRWSPMHEXIH�*MRERGMEP�7XEXIQIRXW��MRGPYHMRK�WMKRMƼGERX�EGGSYRXMRK�TSPMGMIW�
and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the Consolidated Financial Statements”).
 
In our opinion, the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Consolidated Financial 
Position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and its Consolidated Financial Performance and its Consolidated Cash Flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Bhutanese Accounting Standards (BAS).
 
Basis for Opinion
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of this report. 
We are independent of the Druk Holding and Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) in accordance with the 
IXLMGEP�VIUYMVIQIRXW�XLEX�EVI�VIPIZERX�XS�SYV�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�MR�&LYXER�ERH�[I�LEZI�JYPƼPPIH�SYV�SXLIV�IXLMGEP�
VIWTSRWMFMPMXMIW�MR�EGGSVHERGI�[MXL�XLIWI�VIUYMVIQIRXW��;I�FIPMIZI�XLEX�XLI�EYHMX�IZMHIRGI�[I�LEZI�SFXEMRIH�MW�WYƾGMIRX�ERH�
appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our audit opinion.
 
Key Audit Matters
 
/I]�%YHMX�1EXXIVW��/%1
�EVI�XLSWI�QEXXIVW�XLEX�� MR�SYV�TVSJIWWMSREP� NYHKQIRX��[IVI�SJ�QSWX�WMKRMƼGERGI�MR�SYV�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�JSV�XLI�]IEV�IRHIH���st December 2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EW�E�[LSPI��ERH�MR�JSVQMRK�SYV�STMRMSR�XLIVISR��ERH�[I�HS�RSX�TVSZMHI�E�WITEVEXI�STMRMSR�SR�XLIWI�QEXXIVW��
We have nothing to report under the KAM.
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Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon

8LI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�GSQTVMWIW�XLI�MRJSVQEXMSR�MRGPYHIH�MR�XLI�(MVIGXSVƅW�6ITSVX��FYX�HSIW�RSX�MRGPYHI�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
and our auditor’s report thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this audit report.

3YV�STMRMSR�SR�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�HSIW�RSX�GSZIV�XLI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�ERH�[I�HS�RSX�I\TVIWW�ER]�JSVQ�SJ�EWWYVERGI�
conclusion thereon.

-R�GSRRIGXMSR�[MXL�SYV�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��SYV�VIWTSRWMFMPMX]�MW�XS�VIEH�XLI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�MHIRXMƼIH�EFSZI�[LIR�
MX�FIGSQIW�EZEMPEFPI�ERH�MR�HSMRK�WS��GSRWMHIV�[LIXLIV�XLI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�MW�QEXIVMEPP]�MRGSRWMWXIRX�[MXL�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXI-
ments or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated Financial statements in accordance 
[MXL�&%7�ERH�JSV�WYGL�MRXIVREP�GSRXVSPW�EW�QEREKIQIRX�HIXIVQMRIW�MW�RIGIWWEV]�XS�IREFPI�TVITEVEXMSR�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.
 
-R�TVITEVMRK�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��QEREKIQIRX� MW�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�EWWIWWMRK�XLI�+VSYTƅW�EFMPMX]�XS�GSRXMRYI�
as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
 
8LSWI�GLEVKIH�[MXL�KSZIVRERGI�EVI�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�SZIVWIIMRK�XLI�+VSYTƅW�ƼRERGMEP�VITSVXMRK�TVSGIWW�

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
3YV�SFNIGXMZIW�EVI�XS�SFXEMR�VIEWSREFPI�EWWYVERGI�EFSYX�[LIXLIV�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EW�E�[LSPI�EVI�JVII�
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists.
 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
I\TIGXIH�XS�MRƽYIRGI�XLI�IGSRSQMG�HIGMWMSRW�SJ�YWIVW�XEOIR�SR�XLI�FEWMW�SJ�XLIWI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
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As part of audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

M�� -HIRXMJ]�ERH�EWWIWW�XLI�VMWOW�SJ�QEXIVMEP�QMWWXEXIQIRX�SJ�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��[LIXLIV�HYI�XS�JVEYH�SV�
IVVSV��XS�HIWMKR�ERH�TIVJSVQ�EYHMX�TVSGIHYVIW�VIWTSRWMZI�XS�XLSWI�VMWOW��ERH�XS�SFXEMR�EYHMX�IZMHIRGI�XLEX�MW�WYƾGMIRX�ERH�
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or 
override of internal control;

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management;

iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
IZMHIRGI�SFXEMRIH��[LIXLIV�E�QEXIVMEP�YRGIVXEMRX]�I\MWXW�VIPEXIH�XS�IZIRXW�SV�GSRHMXMSRW�XLEX�QE]�GEWX�WMKRMƼGERX�HSYFX�SR�
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
EXXIRXMSR�MR�SYV�EYHMX�VITSVX�XS�XLI�VIPEXIH�HMWGPSWYVIW�MR�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�SV��MJ�WYGL�HMWGPSWYVIW�EVI�
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern;

Z�� )ZEPYEXI�XLI�SZIVEPP�TVIWIRXEXMSR��WXVYGXYVI�ERH�GSRXIRX�SJ�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��MRGPYHMRK�XLI�HMWGPSWYVIW��
ERH�[LIXLIV� XLI� GSRWSPMHEXIH� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� VITVIWIRX� XLI� YRHIVP]MRK� XVERWEGXMSRW� ERH� IZIRXW� MR� E�QERRIV� XLEX�
achieve fair presentation; and

ZM�� 3FXEMR�WYƾGMIRX�ETTVSTVMEXI�EYHMX�IZMHIRGI�VIKEVHMRK�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�MRJSVQEXMSR�SJ�XLI�IRXMXMIW�SV�FYWMRIWW�EGXMZMXMIW�[MXLMR�
XLI�+VSYT�XS�I\TVIWW�ER�STMRMSR�SR�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��;I�EVI�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�XLI�HMVIGXMSR��WYTIVZMWMSR�
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
EYHMX�ERH�WMKRMƼGERX�EYHMX�ƼRHMRKW��MRGPYHMRK�ER]�WMKRMƼGERX�HIƼGMIRGMIW�MR�MRXIVREP�GSRXVSP�XLEX�[I�MHIRXMJ]�HYVMRK�SYV�EYHMX�
 
We also provide those charged with governance with statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements re-
garding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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*VSQ�XLI�QEXXIVW�GSQQYRMGEXIH�[MXL�XLSWI�GLEVKIH�[MXL�KSZIVRERGI��[I�HIXIVQMRI�XLSWI�QEXXIVW�XLEX�[IVI�SJ�QSWX�WMKRMƼ-
GERGI�JSV�XLI�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�SJ�XLI�GYVVIRX�TIVMSH�ERH�EVI�XLIVIJSVI�XLI�OI]�EYHMX�QEXXIVW��;I�
describe these matters in our audit report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse conse-
UYIRGIW�SJ�HSMRK�WS�[SYPH�VIEWSREFP]�FI�I\TIGXIH�XS�SYX[IMKL�XLI�TYFPMG�MRXIVIWX�FIRIƼXW�SJ�WYGL�GSQQYRMGEXMSR�
 
 

For Dechok & Associates Pvt. Ltd.                      For Menuka Chhetri & Associates

Yeshey Jamtsho FCCA

(Membership No.2641177)  

Partner

Place: Thimphu

Date: 12/06/2024

Menuka Chhetri CA

(Membership No. 534365)

Partner

Place: Thimphu

Date: 12/06/2024
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RłùāťāłùāłŶ��ŽùĢŶŋũ̪ŭ��āťŋũŶ�ŋł�ŶĞā��ŶÖłùÖķŋłā�DĢłÖłóĢÖķ�
�ŶÖŶāĿāłŶŭ�ĕŋũ�ƘāÖũ�āłùāù�˒ː�'āóāĿðāũ���ˑˏˑ˒

To
The Members of Druk Holding and Investments Limited (DHI) Thimphu
 
Opinion
 
;I�LEZI�EYHMXIH�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�SJ�(VYO�,SPHMRK�ERH�-RZIWXQIRXW�0MQMXIH��XLI�'SQTER]
��[LMGL�GSQ-
prise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2023, and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement 
SJ�'LERKIW�MR�)UYMX]��ERH�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�'EWL�*PS[W�JSV�XLI�]IEV�XLIR�IRHIH��ERH�2SXIW�XS�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��
MRGPYHMRK�E�WYQQEV]�SJ�WMKRMƼGERX�EGGSYRXMRK�TSPMGMIW�
 
-R�SYV�STMRMSR��XLI�EGGSQTER]MRK�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�TVIWIRX�JEMVP]��MR�EPP�QEXIVMEP�VIWTIGXW��XLI�ƼRERGMEP�TSWMXMSR�SJ�
XLI�'SQTER]�EW�EX����(IGIQFIV�������ERH�MXW�ƼRERGMEP�TIVJSVQERGI�ERH�MXW�GEWL�ƽS[W�JSV�XLI�]IEV�XLIR�IRHIH�MR�EGGSVHERGI�
with BAS.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those stand-
ards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of this report. We 
EVI�MRHITIRHIRX�SJ�XLI�'SQTER]�MR�EGGSVHERGI�[MXL�XLI�IXLMGEP�VIUYMVIQIRXW�XLEX�EVI�VIPIZERX�XS�SYV�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXI-
QIRXW�MR�&LYXER�ERH�[I�LEZI�JYPƼPPIH�SYV�SXLIV�IXLMGEP�VIWTSRWMFMPMXMIW�MR�EGGSVHERGI�[MXL�XLIWI�VIUYMVIQIRXW��;I�FIPMIZI�XLEX�
XLI�EYHMX�IZMHIRGI�[I�LEZI�SFXEMRIH�MW�WYƾGMIRX�ERH�ETTVSTVMEXI�XS�TVSZMHI�E�VIEWSREFPI�FEWMW�JSV�SYV�EYHMX�STMRMSR�

Key Audit Matters
 
/I]�%YHMX�1EXXIVW��/%1
�EVI�XLSWI�QEXXIVW�XLEX�� MR�SYV�TVSJIWWMSREP� NYHKQIRX��[IVI�SJ�QSWX�WMKRMƼGERGI�MR�SYV�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�JSV�XLI�]IEV�IRHIH���st December 2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EW�E�[LSPI��ERH�MR�JSVQMRK�SYV�STMRMSR�XLIVISR��ERH�[I�HS�RSX�TVSZMHI�E�WITEVEXI�STMRMSR�SR�XLIWI�QEXXIVW��
We have nothing to report under the KAM.
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Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon

8LI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�GSQTVMWIW�XLI�MRJSVQEXMSR�MRGPYHIH�MR�XLI�(MVIGXSVƅW�6ITSVX��FYX�HSIW�RSX�MRGPYHI�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
and our auditor’s report thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this audit report.

3YV�STMRMSR�SR�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�HSIW�RSX�GSZIV�XLI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�ERH�[I�HS�RSX�I\TVIWW�ER]�JSVQ�SJ�EWWYVERGI�
conclusion thereon.

-R�GSRRIGXMSR�[MXL�SYV�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��SYV�VIWTSRWMFMPMX]�MW�XS�VIEH�XLI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�MHIRXMƼIH�EFSZI�[LIR�
MX�FIGSQIW�EZEMPEFPI�ERH�MR�HSMRK�WS��GSRWMHIV�[LIXLIV�XLI�SXLIV�MRJSVQEXMSR�MW�QEXIVMEPP]�MRGSRWMWXIRX�[MXL�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXI-
ments or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone Financial Statements
 
1EREKIQIRX�MW�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�XLI�TVITEVEXMSR�ERH�JEMV�TVIWIRXEXMSR�SJ�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�MR�EGGSVHERGI�[MXL�
&%7��ERH�JSV�WYGL�MRXIVREP�GSRXVSP�EW�QEREKIQIRX�HIXIVQMRIW�MW�RIGIWWEV]�XS�IREFPI�XLI�TVITEVEXMSR�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
-R�TVITEVMRK�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��QEREKIQIRX�MW�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�EWWIWWMRK�XLI�'SQTER]ƅW�EFMPMX]�XS�GSRXMRYI�
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
 
8LSWI�GLEVKIH�[MXL�KSZIVRERGI�EVI�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�SZIVWIIMRK�XLI�'SQTER]ƅW�ƼRERGMEP�VITSVXMRK�TVSGIWW�

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements
 
3YV�SFNIGXMZIW�EVI�XS�SFXEMR�VIEWSREFPI�EWWYVERGI�EFSYX�[LIXLIV�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EW�E�[LSPI�EVI�JVII�JVSQ�QEXIVMEP�
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggre-
KEXI��XLI]�GSYPH�VIEWSREFP]�FI�I\TIGXIH�XS�MRƽYIRGI�XLI�IGSRSQMG�HIGMWMSRW�SJ�YWIVW�XEOIR�SR�XLI�FEWMW�SJ�XLIWI�WXERHEPSRI�
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism through-
out the audit. We also:
 
M�� -HIRXMJ]�ERH�EWWIWW�XLI�VMWOW�SJ�QEXIVMEP�QMWWXEXIQIRX�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��[LIXLIV�HYI�XS�JVEYH�SV�IVVSV��HIWMKR�ERH�

TIVJSVQ�EYHMX�TVSGIHYVIW�VIWTSRWMZI�XS�XLSWI�VMWOW��ERH�SFXEMR�EYHMX�IZMHIRGI�XLEX�MW�WYƾGMIRX�ERH�ETTVSTVMEXI�XS�TVSZMHI�
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions misrepresentations, or override of internal control;

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of Accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management;

iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
IZMHIRGI�SFXEMRIH��[LIXLIV�QEXIVMEP�YRGIVXEMRX]�I\MWXW�VIPEXIH�XS�IZIRXW�SV�GSRHMXMSRW�XLEX�QE]�GEWX�WMKRMƼGERX�HSYFX�SR�
the Company’s ability to continue as going concern. If we conclude that material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
EXXIRXMSR�MR�SYV�EYHMX�VITSVX�XS�XLI�VIPEXIH�HMWGPSWYVIW�MR�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�SV��MJ�WYGL�HMWGPSWYVIW�EVI�MREH-
equate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a Going concern; and

Z�� )ZEPYEXI�XLI�SZIVEPP�TVIWIRXEXMSR��WXVYGXYVI�ERH�GSRXIRX�SJ�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��MRGPYHMRK�XLI�HMWGPSWYVIW��
ERH� [LIXLIV� XLI� WXERHEPSRI� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� VITVIWIRX� XLI� YRHIVP]MRK� XVERWEGXMSRW� ERH� IZIRXW� MR� E� QERRIV� XLEX�
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
EYHMX�ERH�WMKRMƼGERX�EYHMX�ƼRHMRKW��MRGPYHMRK�ER]�WMKRMƼGERX�HIƼGMIRGMIW�MR�MRXIVREP�GSRXVSP�XLEX�[I�MHIRXMJ]�HYVMRK�SYV�EYHMX�
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most signif-
MGERGI� MR�XLI�EYHMX�SJ�XLI�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�SJ�XLI�GYVVIRX�TIVMSH�ERH�EVI�XLIVIJSVI�XLI�OI]�EYHMX�QEXXIVW��;I�
describe   these matters in our audit report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse con-
WIUYIRGIW�SJ�HSMRK�WS�[SYPH�VIEWSREFP]�FI�I\TIGXIH�XS�SYX[IMKL�XLI�TYFPMG�MRXIVIWX�FIRIƼXW�SJ�WYGL�GSQQYRMGEXMSR�
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
 
As required by Section 266 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016, we enclose the Minimum Audit Examination and Reporting 
6IUYMVIQIRXW�EW�%TTIRHM\�-�[MXL�WXEXIQIRXW�SR�XLI�QEXXIVW�WTIGMƼIH�XLIVIMR�XS�XLI�I\XIRX�ETTPMGEFPI�
 
Further, as required under Section 265 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016, we report that:
 
a. We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for 

the purposes of our audit;

b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been    kept by the Company insofar as it appears from our 
examination of those books;

c. The Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this report have been prepared in accordance with BAS; and

d. The Company has complied with other legal and regulatory requirements to the extent applicable to the company.
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

For Dechok & Associates Pvt. Ltd.                      For Menuka Chhetri & Associates

Yeshey Jamtsho FCCA

(Membership No.2641177)  

Partner

Place: Thimphu

Date: 12/06/2024

Menuka Chhetri CA

(Membership No. 534365)

Partner

Place: Thimphu

Date: 12/06/2024
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DĢłÖłóĢÖķ��ŶÖŶāĿāłŶŭ

1.  Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2023
�%PP�ƼKYVIW�MR�QMPPMSRW�YRPIWW�SXLIV[MWI�WXEXIH


Particulars
ɸ GROUP PARENT

Note 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22
(Restated)

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22
(Restated)

Continuing Operation ɸ

Revenue from customers 11 53,723.02 40,452.73 - -

Dividend Income 11 107.23 51.53 9,986.03 10,171.03

Other Income 12.4 4,721.34 5,381.28 558.50 394.54

7LEVI�SJ�4VSƼXW�SJ�%WWSGMEXIW 22.6 48.62 183.75 - -

Total Income ɸ 58,600.21 46,069.29 10,544.53 10,565.57

EXPENDITURE ɸ

Direct Costs of Sales 14.1 16,763.78 12,560.13 - -

Employee related Costs 14.2 5,864.15 5,395.17 133.81 116.47

R & M 14.3 2,447.14 1,969.76 8.31 8.52

Other Costs ɸ���� 4,527.28 4,268.45 113.16 62.40

Finance Cost ɸ���� 2,163.06 2,083.90 1.95 2.69

Depreciation and amortisation 17.8 7,412.59 7,064.18 25.69 16.91

Impairment losses ɸ���� 1,421.97 (276.16) - -

Total Expenditure ɸ 40,599.97 33,065.44 282.92 206.98

4VSƼX�SR�3TIVEXMSRW�FIJSVI�8E\� ɸ 18,000.24 13,003.86 10,261.62 10,358.59

Income Tax Expenses 16 9,580.74 8,007.56 3,243.05 3,125.44

4VSƼX�JSV�XLI�=IEV ɸ 8,419.51 4,996.29 7,018.57 7,233.14

Attributable to:

Equity Holders of the Parent ɸ 8,062.58 4,694.39 - -

Non-controlling interest ɸ 356.93 301.90 - -

8,419.51 4,996.29

Earnings Per Shares 15

Basic 16.19 9.54

Diluted 16.19 9.54

Dividend per share 6.75 8.09
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2. Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2023
�%PP�ƼKYVIW�MR�QMPPMSRW�YRPIWW�SXLIV[MWI�WXEXIH


Particulars Note
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

4VSƼX�JSV�XLI�]IEV� ɸ 8,419.51 4,996.29 7,018.57 7,233.14

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ɸ

-XIQW�XLEX�[MPP�RSX�FI�VIGPEWWMƼIH�
WYFWIUYIRXP]�XS�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW

ɸ

Actuarial gain/(loss) on post employment 
FIRIƼXW

ɸ (62.66) (18.71) 2.97 (3.50)

Fair value gain/(loss) on Equity Investment 
measured through FVOCI 

ɸ 1,495.45 (776.03) 1,434.93 (749.91)

Gain/(loss) on revaluation on land ɸ (0.81) 1,847.54 - 1,227.48

Currency translation variances ɸ - - - 0.02

Tax on Other Comprehensive Income ɸ 7.22 (11.76) - -

ɸ ɸ

Other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax

ɸ 1,439.20 1,041.04 1,437.90 474.09

ɸ ɸ

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ɸ 9,858.71 6,037.33 8,456.47 7,707.23

ɸ ɸ

Attributable to:

Equity Holders of the Parent ɸ 9,574.02 5,735.43

Non-controlling interest ɸ 284.68 301.90

ɸ ɸ 9,858.71 6,037.33
8LMW�MW�XLI�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�'SQTVILIRWMZI�-RGSQI�VIJIVVIH�XS�MR�SYV�VITSVX�SJ�IZIR�HEXI
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3. Statement of Financial Position for the period ended 31 December 2023
     �%PP�ƼKYVIW�MR�QMPPMSRW�YRPIWW�SXLIV[MWI�WXEXIH


GROUP PARENT

Assets Note 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22
(Restated)

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22
(Restated)

Non-current Assets ɸ

Property Plant and Equipment 17 101,883.42 101,704.02 116.42 129.85

Capital work in progress 17 32,726.05 26,030.48 4,727.39 3,968.33

Right of use Assets ɸ���� 244.55 173.78 10.82 18.20

Investment Property 19 1,485.63 1,528.07 1,987.45 1,991.34

Intangible Assets 20 1,456.75 1,377.19 5.66 3.46

Biological Assets ɸ�� 652.21 763.74 - -

Goodwill 20.9 1,154.68 11.95 - -

Investments 22 9,417.12 10,193.92 64,270.34 62,013.22

Long Term Financial assets 23 18,476.32 20,848.10 2,658.42 2,526.48

Banking Loans and Advances 75,555.20 62,302.58 - -

0SRK�8IVQ�)QTPS]II�&IRIƼX 34 26.54 44.48 - -

Other Non Current Assets 24 295.93 147.40 41.22 52.31

Total Non-current Assets 243,374.44 225,125.70 73,817.72 70,703.19

Current Assets

Inventory 25 5,117.04 4,555.01 0.08 0.06

Trade Receivables 26 7,271.68 5,868.54 - -

Other Receivables and Advances 27 8,125.53 6,379.49 3,511.75 1,307.87

Advance to Ministry of Finance - - 0.44 -

Short Term Deposits 28 14,985.23 17,290.64 1,007.00 -

Cash and Cash Equivalent 29 4,223.46 6,429.38 732.87 1,196.02

Total Current Assets 39,722.94 40,523.06 5,252.14 2,503.95

TOTAL ASSETS 283,097.37 265,648.76 79,069.86 73,207.14

EQUITY

Paid up Share capital 31.1 49,791.17 49,184.12 49,791.17 49,184.12

Retained Earnings 21,547.73 17,245.44 5,557.13 2,863.56

Reserves 22,821.19 22,821.19 6,927.23 6,927.23

Bhutan Future Fund 31.2 5,280.00 4,316.00 5,280.00 4,316.00

Asset Revaluation Reserve 31.3 1,846.73 1,847.54 1,374.49 1,374.49

OCI - - 3,262.84 1,824.94
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GROUP PARENT

Assets Note 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22
(Restated)

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22
(Restated)

Non-controlling Interests 5,209.98 5,134.20 - -

Total Equity 106,496.80 100,548.50 72,192.86 66,490.34

Non-current Liabilities

Long Term Borrowings 32.1 46,000.01 46,289.21 1,354.35 778.40

Customer Deposits in Banking Sector 95,421.28 90,799.46 - -

Deferred Government Grants 33 4,328.70 4,736.03 2,562.02 2,572.49

0SRK�8IVQ�)QTPS]II�&IRIƼXW 34 1,836.76 2,473.72 27.82 21.33

Lease Liabilities 18.5 344.25 214.21 14.25 22.38

Deferred Tax Liability 16.3 3,161.74 2,166.04 1,292.10 1,120.64

Other Non Current Liabilities 35 1,124.92 1,118.81 10.71 11.50

Total Non-current Liabilities 152,217.66 147,797.48 5,261.25 4,526.74

Current Liabilities

Current Portion of Borrowings 32.2 2,369.56 2,913.07 - -

Working Capital Loans from Banks 32.2 95.41 77.16 - -

Deferred Government Grant 33 65.17 82.54 - -

Income Tax Payable ɸ���� 5,215.63 5,285.17 1,131.98 1,806.82

Trade and Other Payables 36 7,036.27 3,541.49 483.77 383.23

Other Current Liabilities 37 9,600.88 5,403.34 - -

Total Current Liabilities ɸ 24,382.91 17,302.78 1,615.75 2,190.06

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ɸ 283,097.37 265,648.76 79,069.86 73,207.14
8LMW�MW�XLI�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�*MRERGMEP�4SWMXMSR�VIJIVVIH�XS�MR�SYV�VITSVX�SJ�IZIR�HEXI
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���7XEXIQIRX�SJ�'EWL�ƽS[�JSV�XLI�]IEV�IRHIH����(IGIQFIV�����
�%PP�ƼKYVIW�MR�QMPPMSRW�YRPIWW�SXLIV[MWI�WXEXIH


Particulars
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

 CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

4VSƼX�FIJSVI�MRGSQI�XE\ 18,000.24 13,000.86 10,261.62 10,358.59

Adjustments for: - - - -

Depreciation and amortization 7,412.59 7,064.18 25.69 16.91

Net loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and 
equipment

- - - -

Dividend Received (107.23) (51.53) (9,986.03) (10,171.03)

Interest expenses 2,163.06 2,083.90 1.95 2.65

Interest income (234.40) (41.62) (233.92) (120.22)

3TIVEXMRK�TVSƼX�FIJSVI�[SVOMRK�GETMXEP�GLERKIW 27,234.27 22,058.78 69.31 86.90

Decrease / (Increase) in Inventories (562.04) (394.59) (0.01) (0.06)

Decrease / (Increase) in Trade and other receivables (3,149.17) (1,108.77) (2,203.88) 106.08

Increase / (Decrease) in non-current assets (148.53) 1,998.63 14.06 (2.50)

Increase / (Decrease) in short term deposit 2,305.41 13,238.91 (1,007.00) 1,355.40

Increase / (Decrease) in Trade and other payables 3,494.78 401.53 100.53 25.77

Increase / (Decrease) in Deferred tax liabilities 995.71 123.11 - -

Increase / (Decrease) in current and non-current 
liabilities

4,203.65 355.42 6.49 11.89

Increase / (Decrease) in provision (751.24) 968.52 (674.84) 414.13

Net cash generated from operating activities before 
income tax

33,622.84 37,641.55 (3,695.34) 1,997.61

Tax Paid (9,573.52) (8,076.91) (2,072.99) (2,095.75)

 Movements in Banking Loans and Deposits - - - -

-  Decrease/(Increase) in Customer Loans (13,252.62) (12,746.48) - -

-      Increase/(Decrease) in Customer Deposits 4,621.82 10,745.40 - -

Net cash generated from operating activities 15,418.52 27,565.56 (5,768.33) (98.14)

ɸ

 CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intan-
gible assets

(14,327.16) (21,044.43) (762.25) (3,152.94)

Investment in Investment Property 42.44 (1,294.66) - -

Goodwill (1,142.73) 0.00 - -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - - - -
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Particulars
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Dividend Received 107.23 51.53 8,987.43 9,153.93

Investments in other investments 3,487.53 (6,226.23) (954.13) (3,713.26)

Interest received 234.40 41.62 233.92 120.22

EPF - - (0.78) (7.16)

Net cash generated from investing activities (11,598.30) (28,472.17) 7,504.18 2,400.79

ɸ

 CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Receipt/(repayments) of borrowings (814.46) 9,246.83 575.94 738.97

Receipt/(repayments) of government grants (424.70) 855.55 (10.47) 2,055.23

Issue of share Capital 607.05 (87.93) 607.05 (87.93)

Repayment of lease liabilities 130.04 214.21 (8.13) 22.38

Advance to MoF - - (0.44) -

Interest paid (2,163.06) (2,083.90) (1.95) (2.65)

Payment of dividend on ordinary shares (3,361.00) (3,977.00) (3,361.00) (3,977.00)

2IX�GEWL�YWIH�MR�ƼRERGMRK�EGXMZMXMIW (6,026.14) 4,167.79 (2,199.00) (1,251.00)

ɸ

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,205.92) 3,259.14 (463.15) 1,051.66

 Opening Cash and Bank Balances 6,429.38 3,170.23 1,196.02 144.36

Closing Cash and Bank Balances 4,223.46 6,429.38 732.87 1,196.02
8LMW�MW�XLI�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�'EWL�*PS[W�VIJIVVIH�XS�MR�SYV�VITSVX�SJ�IZIR�HEXI
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7XERHEPSRI�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�'LERKIW�MR�)UYMX]�JSV�XLI�TIVMSH�IRHIH����(IGIQFIV�������'SRXHƏ
�%YXLSVM^IH�'ETMXEP�

Authorized Share capital
As at 31 December As at 31 December

2023 2022

5,000,000,000 equity shares of Nu. 100/- each 500,000,000,000 500,000,000,000

Nature of Reserves

•  All shares are of the same class and have the same rights attached.

•  6IXEMRIH�)EVRMRKW�GSQTVMWI�TVSƼXW�JVSQ�TVIZMSYW�]IEV��3YX�SJ�XLIWI�TVSƼXW��HMZMHIRHW�TEMH�EVI�EHNYWXIH�EPSRK��[MXL�SXLIV�
EHNYWXQIRXW��8LI�FEPERGI�EQSYRX�EJXIV�XLIWI�EHNYWXQIRXW�MW�XVERWJIVVIH�XS�+IRIVEP�6IWIVZI��8LI�GYVVIRX�]IEVƅW�TVSƼXW�EVI�
then transferred to the Retained Earnings.

•  General Reserve is the DHI’s General Reserve stated in the Royal Charter through which the company was formed. 
(MZMHIRHW�QE]�FI�HIGPEVIH�JVSQ�XLI�+IRIVEP�6IWIVZI�SRP]�EJXIV�JYPƼPPMRK�XLI�VIUYMVIH�JSVQEPMXMIW�EW�[VMXXIR�MR�XLI�6S]EP�
Charter.

•  OCI represents the gain or loss that has not been realized on the fair valuation of Investments other than investment in 
WYFWMHMEVMIW��EWWSGMEXIW�ERH�NSMRX�ZIRXYVIW�ERH�SR�%GXYEVMEP�:EPYEXMSR�SJ�IQTPS]II�FIRIƼXW�
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES & 
NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

pŋŶāŭ�Ŷŋ�DĢłÖłóĢÖķ��ŶÖŶāĿāłŶŭ

1. GENERAL CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 Reporting Entity
Druk Holding and Investments Limited (DHI) was constituted 
through a Royal Charter on 11 November 2007. It was sub-
WIUYIRXP]� MRGSVTSVEXIH�SR���XL�2SZIQFIV������ �'IVXMƼGEXI�
of Incorporation Registration No. U20071116TH10198) under 
the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 2000. DHI is a 
limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Bhu-
tan. The address of its principal place of business is in 5th 
ƽSSV��&3&�FYMPHMRK��2SV^MR�0EQ��8LMQTLY��&LYXER�

The primary mandate of DHI is “to hold and manage the exist-
ing and future investments of the Royal Government of Bhu-
XER�JSV�XLI�PSRK�XIVQ�FIRIƼX�SJ�MXW�WLEVILSPHIVW��XLI�TISTPI�SJ�
Bhutan” and it is the investment arm of the Government. The 
Ministry of Finance, Royal Government of Bhutan (RGoB) is 
DHI’s sole shareholder. 

Initially, shares held by the Ministry of Finance, RGoB, in 14 
companies amounting to Nu.15,998,982,400 was trans-
ferred to DHI as its issued and subscribed capital divided into 
159,989,824 equity shares of Nu.100 each. In subsequent 
years, RGoB has handed over various projects to DHI and the 
relevant share capital has been issued to the Ministry of Fi-
nance.

The principal activity of DHI, the Parent Company, is to man-
age a portfolio of investments consisting of diverse business 
operations. Currently, there are 28 companies (Note 21) that 
come under DHI’s investment as Subsidiaries, Associates and 
Joint Ventures. These companies cover segments like hydro-
power, telecommunication, aviation, natural resources, bank-

ing, insurance, manufacturing, infrastructure, and trading. All 
WMKRMƼGERX�STIVEXMSRW�SJ� XLIWI�GSQTERMIW� XEOI�TPEGI�[MXLMR�
Bhutan.

8LI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�JSV�XLI�]IEV�IRHIH���WX�(IGIQFIV�
2023 comprise “the Parent” referring to Druk Holding and In-
vestments Limited as the holding Company and “the Group” 
referring to the companies that have been consolidated there-
in.

8LI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�JSV�XLI�]IEV�IRHIH���WX�(IGIQFIV�
2023 were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
June 20th 2024

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND OTHER SIGNIFI-
CANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

%�WYQQEV]�SJ�WMKRMƼGERX�EGGSYRXMRK�TSPMGMIW�LEW�FIIR�HMW-
closed along with the relevant individual notes in the subse-
quent pages.

Those accounting policies presented with each note have 
been applied consistently by the Group.

2.1. Basis of Preparation
8LI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�[LMGL�GSQTVMWI� XLI� MRGSQI�WXEXI-
ment, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
ƼRERGMEP� TSWMXMSR�� WXEXIQIRX� SJ� GLERKIW� MR� IUYMX]� ERH� XLI�
WXEXIQIRX�SJ�GEWL�ƽS[W�� XSKIXLIV�[MXL� XLI�EGGSYRXMRK�TSPM-
GMIW� ERH� RSXIW� �XLI� ƈƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXWƉ
� LEZI� FIIR� TVI-
pared in accordance with Bhutan Accounting Standards (BAS 
2020) as issued by Accounting and Auditing Standards Board 
of Bhutan and as prescribed by the Companies Act of the 
Kingdom of Bhutan, 2016. 



DHI Annual Report 2023 | 61

2.2. Basis of Measurement
8LI� 4EVIRX� ERH�+VSYT� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� LEZI� FIIR� TVI-
pared on the historical cost convention except for the follow-
ing:
i. Land
ii. Financial instruments measured at fair value 
MMM�� 0MEFMPMXMIW�JSV�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�TPERW�VIGSKRM^IH�EX�XLI�

RIX�SJ�XLI�XSXEP�TVIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�SFPMKE-
tions less the fair value of the plan assets.

2.3.  Going Concern 
8LI�4EVIRX�ERH�+VSYT�LEZI�TVITEVIH�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�
for the year ended 31st December 2023 on the basis that it 
will continue to operate as a going concern. In determining 
XLI�FEWMW�SJ�TVITEVMRK� XLI�ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� JSV� XLI�]IEV�
ended 31st December 2023, based on available information, 
the management has assessed the prevailing macroeconom-
ic conditions and its effect on the companies and the appro-
priateness of the use of the going concern basis.

It is the view of the management that there are no material 
YRGIVXEMRXMIW�XLEX�QE]�GEWX�WMKRMƼGERX�HSYFX�SR�XLI�+VSYTƅW�
ability to continue to operate as a going concern. The Group’s 
FYWMRIWWIW�VIGSVHIH�E�FMK�MQTVSZIQIRX�MR�TVSƼXEFMPMX]�GSQ-
pared to the previous year. The management has formed 
judgment that the company, its subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures have adequate corporate governance and re-
sources to continue its operational existence for the foresee-
able future driven by the continuous operationalization of risk 
mitigation initiatives and monitoring of business continuity 
and response plans at each business unit level along with the 
ƼRERGMEP�WXVIRKXL�SJ�XLI�+VSYT�

2.4.  Offsetting
The assets and liabilities or income and expenses, are not off-
set unless required or permitted by Bhutan Accounting Stan-
dards (BAS).

2.5.  Functional Currency
8LI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EVI�TVIWIRXIH�MR�&LYXERIWI�'YVVIR-
cy Ngultrum (Nu), which is the currency of the primary eco-
nomic environment in which the parent and the group compa-
nies operates. Each entity in the Group uses the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which they operate as 
their functional currency. 

The following subsidiary company is using different function-
al currency other than Bhutanese Currency Ngultrum (Nu):

Country of 
Incorporation

Functional 
Currency

Name of the 
Subsidiary

Singapore Singapore Dollar 
(SGD)

Druk Holding and 
Investments Pte 
Limited

All values are in Ngultrum million except when otherwise in-
dicated.

2.6. Comparative Information
8LI�TVIWIRXEXMSR�ERH�GPEWWMƼGEXMSR�SJ�XLI�TVMSV�]IEVƅW�ƼRERGMEP�
statements have been revised, where applicable, to enhance 
clarity and ensure comparability with the current year’s state-
ments.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

7YQQEV]� SJ� WMKRMƼGERX� EGGSYRXMRK� TSPMGMIW� LEZI� FIIR� HMW-
closed along with the relevant individual notes in the subse-
quent pages.

Those accounting policies presented with each note, have 
been applied consistently by the Group.

����� 3XLIV�7MKRMƼGERX�%GGSYRXMRK�4SPMGMIW�RSX�(MWGPSWIH�
with Individual Notes

Following accounting policies, which have been applied con-
WMWXIRXP]�F]�XLI�+VSYT��EVI�GSRWMHIVIH�XS�FI�WMKRMƼGERX�FYX�RSX�
covered in any other sections.

����� �'YVVIRX�ZIVWYW�2SR�'YVVIRX�'PEWWMƼGEXMSR
The Group presents assets and liabilities in a statement of 
ƼRERGMEP�TSWMXMSR�FEWIH�SR�GYVVIRX�RSR�GYVVIRX�GPEWWMƼGEXMSR��
An asset as current when it is:

a. Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or con-
sumed in normal operating cycle.

b. Held primarily for the purpose of trading
c. Expected to be realized within twelve months after 

the reporting period, or
d. Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from be-

ing exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period
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%PP�SXLIV�EWWIXW�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�RSR�GYVVIRX��

A liability is current when:
a. It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
b. It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
c. It is due to be settled within twelve months after the 

reporting period
d. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement 

of the liability for at least twelve months after the re-
porting period

8LI�+VSYT�GPEWWMƼIW�EPP�SXLIV�PMEFMPMXMIW�EW�RSR�GYVVIRX�

(IJIVVIH�XE\�EWWIXW�ERH�PMEFMPMXMIW�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�RSR�GYVVIRX�
assets and liabilities.

3.3.  Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the 
exchange rates on the date of the transaction. Assets and li-
abilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date ex-
cept non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at histor-
ical cost, which are translated at the exchange rate prevalent 
at the date of transaction. Exchange differences arising on 
translation are included in the other comprehensive income 
or the income statement depending on where the gain or loss 
of the underlying item is recognized.

Borrowing costs may include exchange differences arising 
from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are 
regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.  Such borrowing 
costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the ac-
quisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as 
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are rec-
ognized as an expense in the period in which it incurs them.

3.4.  Foreign Operation
8LI� WXEXIQIRX� SJ� ƼRERGMEP� TSWMXMSR� ERH� MRGSQI� WXEXIQIRX�
of overseas subsidiaries which are deemed to be foreign op-
erations are translated to Bhutanese Ngultrum at the rate of 
exchange prevailing as at the reporting date and at the aver-
age annual rate of exchange for the period respectively. The 
exchange differences arising from the translation are recog-
nized in the income statement.

4. USE OF CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGE-
MENTS

8LI� TVITEVEXMSR� SJ� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� MR� GSRJSVQMX]� [MXL�
BAS requires management to use estimates and assump-
tions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
based in the management’s best judgement. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexi-
X]��SV�EVIEW�[LIVI�EWWYQTXMSRW�ERH�IWXMQEXIW�EVI�WMKRMƼGERX�
XS�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EVI�EW�YRHIV�

(a) +SMRK� 'SRGIVR� FEWMW�� 8LI� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� JSV�
the year ended 31st December 2023 are prepared on 
the basis that the parent and the group will continue 
to operate as a going concern

(b) -RGSQI�� Revenue is recognized at a point in time 
when the entity transfers the control of goods or ser-
vices or over the time based on input or output meth-
od.;

(c) *M\IH� EWWIXW� Critical judgments are expected for 
period of use, condition of the asset, technological 
advances, regulation, and residual values;

(d) %GXYEVMEP�ZEPYEXMSR�SJ�IQTPS]II�FIRIƼXW��Expected 
YTXEOI�SJ�XLI�KVEXYMXMIW��SXLIV�WITEVEXMSR�FIRIƼXW��HMW-
count rate used in the valuation and other actuarial 
assumptions.

(e) Investments are generally stated at cost except for 
investments other than in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures companies, where the investments 
are measured at market value and the net gain or 
PSWW�VIƽIGXIH�MR�3XLIV�'SQTVILIRWMZI�-RGSQI�EW�TIV�
BFRS-9;

(f) 8E\��The Group is subject to taxes in Bhutan and oth-
er jurisdictions in which it operates. Application of tax 
PE[� XS� WTIGMƼG� GMVGYQWXERGIW� ERH� XVERWEGXMSRW� VI-
quires an exercise of judgment by the management.

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts



DHI Annual Report 2023 | 63

(g) -QTEMVQIRX� SJ� *MRERGMEP� %WWIX�� The provisions on 
ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW��PSERW��XVEHI�VIGIMZEFPI�ERH�GSRXVEGX�
assets are measured using expected credit loss mod-
IP� [LMGL� VIUYMVIW� XLI� I\IVGMWI� SJ� WMKRMƼGERX� NYHKI-
ment and estimates according to historical data and 
macroeconomic data.

(h) 0ERH�� The Group assesses the fair value of land 
based on the rate determined by the Property Assess-
ment and Valuation Agency (PAVA). The PAVA rate is 
valuer’s best estimates. 

5. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

8LI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�GSQTVMWI�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�
statements of the Group as at the end of the reporting period. 
Control over an investee is achieved when the Group is ex-
posed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and can affect those returns through its 
power over the investee.

5.1. Control over an Investee
The Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
(a) Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give 

it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee)

(b) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its in-
volvement with the investee

(c) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect 
its returns

5.2. Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds 
less than a majority of voting rights

The Group considers that it controls subsidiary even though 
it owns less than 50% of the voting rights. This is because the 
Group is the single largest shareholder of those subsidiaries 
with an equity interest. The remaining equity shares in that 
subsidiary are widely held by many other shareholders, and 
there is no history of the other shareholders collaborating to 
exercise their votes collectively or to outvote the Group.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or simi-
lar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:

a. The contractual arrangement with the other vote 
holders of the investee;

b. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 
and

c. The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The following company, with equity control equal to or less 
than 50%, has been consolidated as a subsidiary based on 
the above criteria.

Name of the Subsidiary Holdings

Penden Cement Authority Limited 40.4%

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group los-
IW�GSRXVSP�SJ�XLI�WYFWMHMEV]��8LI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�SJ�XLI�
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
parent Company, which is 12 months ending 31 December, 
using consistent accounting policies.

5.3. Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation
The Financial statements of the Group companies are consol-
idated on a line-by-line basis. All intra-group assets, liabilities, 
IUYMX]��MRGSQI��I\TIRWIW�ERH�GEWL�ƽS[W�VIPEXMRK�XS�XVERWEG-
tions between members of the Group are eliminated in full, 
where practical. 

5.4. Non-Controlling Interest (NCI)
2SR�GSRXVSPPMRK�MRXIVIWX�[LMGL�VITVIWIRXW�XLI�TSVXMSR�SJ�TVSƼX�
or loss and net assets not held by the Group, are shown as a 
GSQTSRIRX�SJ�TVSƼX�JSV�XLI�]IEV�MR�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�MRGSQI�
statement and statement of comprehensive income and 
as a component of equity in the consolidated statement of 
ƼRERGMEP� TSWMXMSR�� WITEVEXIP]� JVSQ�IUYMX]� EXXVMFYXEFPI� XS� XLI�
shareholders of the parent. The Consolidated Statement of 
'EWL�*PS[� MRGPYHIW� XLI�GEWL�ƽS[W�SJ� XLI�'SQTER]�ERH� MXW�
subsidiaries.

5.5. Business Combination and Acquisition of 
Non-Controlling Interest

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisi-
tion method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration, including contingent consider-
EXMSR��KMZIR�EX�XLI�XMQI�SJ�I\GLERKI��8LI�EGUYMVIH�MHIRXMƼEFPI�
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially mea-
sured at their fair value on the date of acquisition. Acquisi-
tion-related costs are recognized as an expense in the income 
statement in the period in which they are incurred. 
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Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue 
of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connec-
tion with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 
;LIR�XLI�+VSYT�EGUYMVIW�E�FYWMRIWW��MX�EWWIWWIW�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�
EWWIXW�ERH� PMEFMPMXMIW�EWWYQIH� JSV�ETTVSTVMEXI�GPEWWMƼGEXMSR�
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, 
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer 
remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
at its acquisition-date fair value and recognize the resulting 
KEMR�SV� PSWW�� MJ�ER]�� MR�TVSƼX�SV� PSWW�SV�SXLIV�GSQTVILIRWMZI�
income, as appropriate.  

5.6. Business Combination under Common Control
A business combination involving entities or businesses un-
der common control is a business combination in which all 
the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled 
by the same party or parties both before and after the busi-
ness combination, and that control is not transitory.
Business combinations involving entities or businesses under 
common control have been accounted for using the pooling 
of interest’s method. The net assets of the transferor entity 
or business are accounted for at their carrying amounts on 
the date of the acquisition subject to necessary adjustments 
required to harmonize accounting policies.

5.7. Goodwill
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as the 
fair value of the consideration transferred including the recog-
nized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, 
less the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the 
MHIRXMƼEFPI�EWWIXW�EGUYMVIH�ERH�PMEFMPMXMIW�EWWYQIH��EPP�QIE-
sured as of the acquisition date. When the fair value of the 
consideration transferred including the recognized amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree is lower than the 
fair value of net assets acquired, a gain is recognized immedi-
ately in the income statement.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for 
impairment, annually or more frequently if events or chang-
es in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In as-
WIWWMRK�ZEPYI�MR�YWI��XLI�IWXMQEXIH�JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[W�EVI�HMW-
counted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
XLEX�VIƽIGXW�GYVVIRX�QEVOIX�EWWIWWQIRXW�SJ�XLI�XMQI�ZEPYI�SJ�
QSRI]�ERH�XLI�VMWOW�WTIGMƼG�XS�XLI�EWWIX��*SV�XLI�TYVTSWI�SJ�
impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually 
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
KIRIVEXIW�GEWL� MRƽS[W�JVSQ�GSRXMRYMRK�YWI�XLEX�EVI� PEVKIP]�
MRHITIRHIRX�SJ�XLI�GEWL�MRƽS[W�SJ�SXLIV�EWWIXW�SV�KVSYTW�SJ�
assets (the “cash-generating unit”).

The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the pur-
pose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating 
YRMXW� XLEX�EVI�I\TIGXIH� XS�FIRIƼX� JVSQ�XLI�W]RIVKMIW�SJ� XLI�
combination. Corporate assets for the purpose of impairment 
testing are allocated to the cash generating units on a reason-
able and consistent basis.

5.8.  Loss of Control
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes 
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, noncon-
trolling interest and other components of equity while any 
resultant gain or loss is recognized in the income statement.

8LI�XSXEP�TVSƼXW�ERH�PSWWIW�JSV�XLI�]IEV�SJ�XLI�'SQTER]�ERH�
of its subsidiaries included in consolidation are shown in the 
consolidated income statement and consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and all assets and liabilities of the 
Company and of its subsidiaries included in consolidation are 
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow includes the cash 
ƽS[W�SJ�XLI�'SQTER]�ERH�MXW�WYFWMHMEVMIW�

6.  SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing perfor-
QERGI�SJ�XLI�STIVEXMRK�WIKQIRXW��LEW�FIIR�MHIRXMƼIH�EW�XLI�
Board of Directors

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts
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7. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

7.1. Group Capital Management
The Group manages its capital so as to ensure funds are avail-
able to meet future commitments as well as commitments 
to outside parties. The Group has a requirement to meet div-
idend and tax expectations as contained in the Annual Com-
pacts between Group Companies, the Parent company and 
the RGOB.

'ETMXEP�I\TIRHMXYVI�MW�QSWXP]�QIX�JVSQ�STIVEXMRK�GEWL�ƽS[W��
Fixed-term borrowings are only made for major capital proj-
ects. Such borrowings are repaid when the project is complet-
IH�ERH�MW�KIRIVEXMRK�STIVEXMRK�GEWL�ƽS[W�

7.2. Standalone Capital Management
The Company’s objectives of capital management are to:
a. Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, 

so that they can continue to provide returns to share-
LSPHIVW�ERH�FIRIƼXW�XS�SXLIV�WXEOILSPHIVW��ERH

b. Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital. The primary mandate for which DHI 
has been constituted is to hold and manage the ex-
isting and future investments of the Royal Govern-
QIRX�SJ�&LYXER� �6+S&
� JSV� XLI� PSRK�XIVQ�FIRIƼX�SJ�
its shareholders, the people of Bhutan. 100% of the 
Company’s share capital is owned by the Ministry of 
Finance (MoF) of the RGoB. The company manages 
the share capital issued and subscribed along with 
XLI� VIWIVZIW�ETTIEVMRK� MR� XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRX�SJ�
the company.

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 
AND POLICIES

The Group has loans, trade and other receivables and cash 
and short-term deposits that arise directly from its opera-
XMSRW��8LI�+VSYT�EPWS�LSPHW�SXLIV�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRXW�WYGL�
EW�XLSWI�EZEMPEFPI�JSV�WEPI�ERH�JEMV�ZEPYI�XLVSYKL�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW��
8LI�+VSYTƅW�TVMRGMTEP�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�GSQTVMWI�SJ�PSERW�ERH�
FSVVS[MRKW��XVEHI�ERH�SXLIV�TE]EFPIW�ERH�ƼRERGMEP�KYEVERXII�
contracts. 

8LI�QEMR�TYVTSWI�SJ�XLIWI�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�MW�XS�ƼRERGI�XLI�
Group’s operations and to provide guarantees to support its 
STIVEXMSRW��8LI�ƼRERGMEP�VMWO�KSZIVRERGI�JVEQI[SVO�TVSZMHIW�
assurance to the Group’s senior management that the Group’s 
ƼRERGMEP� VMWO� EGXMZMXMIW� EVI� KSZIVRIH� F]� ETTVSTVMEXI� TSPMGMIW�
ERH� TVSGIHYVIW� ERH� XLEX� ƼRERGMEP� VMWOW� EVI� MHIRXMƼIH��QIE-
sured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies 
and risk objectives. The Group is exposed to market risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk.

This note explains the sources of risk which the entity is ex-
posed to and how the entity manages the risk and the impact 
SJ�MX�MR�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�

8.1. Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its ob-
PMKEXMSRW�YRHIV� E� ƼRERGMEP� MRWXVYQIRX�SV� GYWXSQIV� GSRXVEGX��
PIEHMRK�XS�E�ƼRERGMEP�PSWW��8LI�+VSYT�MW�I\TSWIH�XS�GVIHMX�VMWO�
from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and 
JVSQ�MXW�ƼRERGMRK�EGXMZMXMIW��MRGPYHMRK�HITSWMXW�[MXL�FEROW�ERH�
ƼRERGMEP�MRWXMXYXMSRW��JSVIMKR�I\GLERKI�XVERWEGXMSRW�ERH�SXLIV�
ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRXW�

8.1.1. Credit Risk Management
The group, on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting pe-
VMSH��EWWIWWIW�[LIXLIV�XLIVI�LEW�FIIR�E�WMKRMƼGERX�MRGVIEWI�
MR�GVIHMX�VMWO��-R�GEWI�XLIVI�MW�E�WMKRMƼGERX�MRGVIEWI�MR�XLI�GVIHMX�
VMWO�SJ� XLI�SXLIV�TEVX]�HYI� XS� JEGXSVW�WYGL�EW�TSSV�ƼRERGMEP�
performance, position, etc., the company considers the prob-
ability of default and provides for loss allowance based on the 
Expected credit loss model.

;MXL�VIWTIGX�XS�GVIHMX�VMWO�EVMWMRK�JVSQ�XLI�SXLIV�ƼRERGMEP�EW-
sets of the Group, such as cash and cash equivalents, avail-
EFPI�JSV�WEPI� ƼRERGMEP� MRZIWXQIRXW�� ERH� MRZIWXQIRXW�� XLI�
Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the default of the 
counterparty. The Group manages its operations to avoid any 
excessive concentration of counterparty risk and the Group 
XEOIW�EPP�VIEWSREFPI�WXITW�XS�IRWYVI�XLI�GSYRXIVTEVXMIW�JYPƼPP�
XLIMV� SFPMKEXMSRW�� -RZIWXQIRXW� MR�FEROW�ERH�ƼRERGMEP� MRWXMXY-
tions are only in high rated banks and institutions. 
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Risk Exposure

GROUP PARENT

In Nu. Million 31-12-2023 31-12-2022 31-12-2023 31-12-2022

Debt Securities 2,658.42 2,526.48 2,658.42 2,526.48

Government Securities 13,345.37 15,833.47 - -

Deposits with Bank 3,324.79 3,369.24 - -

Trade and Other receivables 7,370.49 5,892.90 0.30 0.22

Loan and Advances 75,555.20 62,302.58 - -

Other Financial Assets 40.24 197.66 14.49 480.86

Short term Deposits 2,849.47 1,087.77 1,007.00 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,223.46 6,429.38 732.87 1,196.02

Total  Credit risk exposure 109,367.46 97,639.48 4,413.08 4,203.58

8.1.2. Government Securities
As at 31 December 2023 as shown in table above, investments 
in government securities consist of Treasury Bonds and 
Treasury Bills. 

8.1.3. Debt Security
As at 31 December 2023 as shown in table above, investments 
in debt securities consist of Bonds.

8.1.4. Deposit with Bank 
As at 31 December 2023 as shown in table above, Deposit 
[MXL�&ERO�GSRWMWX�SJ�PSRK�XIVQ�Ƽ\IH�HITSWMXW�

8.1.5. Loan and Advance
The loan and advance are largely Housing and Service loan 
provided by Banks under the DHI Portfolio. 

8LI� TEVIRX� MW� I\TSWIH� XS� GVIHMX� VMWO� MR� VIPEXMSR� XS� ƼRERGMEP�
guarantees given for loans taken by its subsidiaries. The 
parent’s maximum exposure in this respect is the maximum 
amount the parent would have to pay if the guarantee is called 
SR��8LI�TEVIRX�VIKYPEVP]�QSRMXSVW�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�TIVJSVQERGI��
positions and liquidity of the companies on whose behalf the 
guarantees have been given to evaluate its exposure for pay-
QIRXW�SR�HIJEYPX�F]�XLSWI�GSQTERMIW��*YVXLIV��XLIWI�ƼRERGMEP�
guarantees exposures are limited to not more than 10% and 
30% of its book equity to a single company and in aggregate 
respectively (refer Note 40.1) 

8.2. Liquidity Risk
0MUYMHMX]�VMWO�MW�XLI�VMWO�XLEX�ER�IRXMX]�[MPP�IRGSYRXIV�HMƾGYPX]�
MR�QIIXMRK�SFPMKEXMSRW�EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�XLEX�
EVI�WIXXPIH�F]�HIPMZIVMRK�GEWL�SV�ERSXLIV�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�

8.2.1. Liquidity Risk Management
4VYHIRX� PMUYMHMX]�VMWO�QEREKIQIRX� MQTPMIW�QEMRXEMRMRK�WYƾ-
cient cash and marketable securities and ensuring access to 
WYƾGMIRX�GSQQMXXIH�GVIHMX�JEGMPMXMIW�XS�QIIX�SFPMKEXMSRW�[LIR�
due and to close out market positions. 

The Group prioritizes having enough cash and undrawn com-
mitted facilities to meet the short, medium and long-term 
funding needs, handle unforeseen obligations and seize un-
expected opportunities. Regular communication between 
XLI�+VSYT� GSQTERMIW� ERH� FEROW� VIKEVHMRK� ƼRERGMRK� RIIHW�
ensures that the available credit within each borrowing limit 
MW�STXMQM^IH�F]�IƾGMIRXP]�VIEPPSGEXMRK�YRHIV�YXMPM^IH�JEGMPMXMIW�
within the group.

The Group treasury unit at the Parent company monitors and 
QEREKIW�XLI�GEWL�ƽS[�SJ�XLI�GSQTERMIW��8LMW�QSRXLP]�GEWL�
QEREKIQIRX�TVSGIWW�MRZSPZIW�GVIEXMRK�EGXMZI�GEWL�ƽS[�JSVI-
GEWXW�ERH�EPMKRMRK�XLI�HYVEXMSR�ERH�TVSƼPIW�SJ�EWWIXW�ERH�PM-
abilities. This approach ensures a prudent balance between 
liquidity and earnings. To optimize investment returns, the 
+VSYT�XVIEWYV]�JEGMPMXEXIW�XLI�MRXIV�GSVTSVEXI�EHZERGIW�F]�Iƾ-
ciently transferring funds from company with excess cash to 
those in need, ensuring these transactions are conducted at 
arm’s length transaction. 

8.2.2. Financing Arrangements
The Group does not have any undrawn borrowing facilities at 
the end of the reporting period.
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8.2.3. Maturity Analysis- 
8LI�XEFPIW�FIPS[�VIƽIGX�XLI�+VSYTƅW�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�MRXS�VIPIZERX�QEXYVMX]�KVSYTMRKW�FEWIH�SR�XLIMV�GSRXVEGXYEP�QEXYVMXMIW��
8LI�EQSYRXW�HMWGPSWIH�MR�XLI�XEFPI�EVI�XLI�GSRXVEGXYEP�YRHMWGSYRXIH�GEWL�ƽS[W��&EPERGIW�HYI�[MXLMR����QSRXLW�IUYEP�XLIMV�
GEVV]MRK�FEPERGIW�EW�XLI�MQTEGX�SJ�HMWGSYRXMRK�MW�RSX�WMKRMƼGERX

In Nu Milliom
GROUP PARENT

less than 
1 year

more than 1 
year

Total 
Amount

less than 
1 year

more than 
1 year

Total 
Amount

December 31,2023

Interest bearing Loan and borrowings 2,369.56 43,535.04 45,904.60 - 1,351.94 1,351.94 

Lease Liabilities - 344.25 344.25 - 14.25 14.25 

Trade payables 5,458.25 944.63 6,402.88 - 13.42 13.42

Employee payables 1,389.86 - 1,389.86 29.78 - 29.78

Deposits received 749.37 95,536.61 96,285.98 - - -

Working Capital 95.41 - 95.41 - - -

Other liabilities 188.16 56.95 245.11 15.27 - 15.27

Total 10,250.61 140,417.48 150,668.09 45.05 1,379.61 1,424.66

December 31,2022

Interest bearing Loan and borrowings 2,913.07 46,289.21 49,202.28  - 777.98 777.98 

Lease Liabilities - 214.21 214.21 - 22.38 22.38 

Trade payables 2,844.49 783.49 3,627.97 11.50 - 11.50

Employee payables 572.21 - 572.21 35.65 - 35.65

Deposits received 2,334.62 91,154.68 93,489.30 - - -

Working Capital 77.16 - 77.16 - - -

Other liabilities 124.80 (19.90) 104.90 7.47 - 7.47

Total 8,866.35 138,421.69 147,288.04 54.62 800.36 854.98

8.3. Market Risk
1EVOIX�VMWO�MW�XLI�VMWO�XLEX�XLI�JEMV�ZEPYI�SJ�JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[W�
SJ�E�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRX�[MPP�ƽYGXYEXI�FIGEYWI�SJ�GLERKIW�MR�
market prices. Market risk comprises of the following types 
of risk:

8.3.1. Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
GEWL� ƽS[W� SJ� E� ƼRERGMEP� MRWXVYQIRX� [MPP� ƽYGXYEXI� FIGEYWI�
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has 
investments abroad, availed forex loan and bank balance to 
which foreign exchange risk may arise. 

*SV�XLI�TYVTSWIW�SJ�+VSYT�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��
income and expenses and assets and liabilities of subsidiar-

ies whose functional currency differs from the Group presen-
tation currency are translated into the Group presentation 
currency. Therefore, period-to-period changes in average ex-
change rates may cause currency translation effects that may 
LEZI� E� WMKRMƼGERX� MQTEGX��9RPMOI� I\GLERKI� VEXI� XVERWEGXMSR�
risk, exchange rate translation risk does not necessarily affect 
JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[W��

The major hydro power loan under the Group is Indian Rupee 
(INR ) loan and with the Bhutanese Ngultrum pegged to Indian 
Rupee (INR), INR loan are not subject to forex currency risk.  
8LI�&LYXERIWI�2KYPXVYQ�LEW�RSX�[MXRIWWIH�WMKRMƼGERX� ZSP-
atility in the foreign currency exchange. The foreign currency 
debt is largely hedged “naturally” by ensuring that obligations 
are managed through forex denominated revenue streams.
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8.3.2. Interest Rate Risk
-RXIVIWX�VEXI�VMWO�MW�XLI�VMWO�XLEX�XLI�JEMV�ZEPYI�SV�JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[W�SJ�E�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRX�[MPP�ƽYGXYEXI�FIGEYWI�SJ�GLERKIW�MR�
QEVOIX�MRXIVIWX�VEXIW��8LI�+VSYTƅW�I\TSWYVI�XS�XLMW�VMWO�VIPEXI�TVMQEVMP]�XS�XLI�+VSYTƅW�PSRK�XIVQ�HIFX�SFPMKEXMSRW�[MXL�ƽSEXMRK�
MRXIVIWX�VEXIW��8LI�+VSYTƅW�I\TSWYVI�XS�ƽSEXMRK�MRXIVIWX�MW�GYVVIRXP]�ZIV]�QMRMQEP��*YVXLIV�XLI�+VSYT�LEW�RSX�IRXIVIH�MRXS�ER]�
interest rate swap. 

8LI�XEFPI�VIƽIGXW�XLI�GSQTERMIW�[MXL�ƽSEXMRK�MRXIVIWX�VEXI�ERH�XLIMV�WIRWMXMZMX]�XS�E�TSWWMFPI�GLERKI�MR�MRXIVIWX�VEXI�[MXL�EPP�SXLIV�
variables held constant. 

Company Loan Rate Rate 31-12-2023 31-12-2023

In Nu million In Nu million

Drukair USD 2%+ 6 months LIBOR Rate 710.66 824.05

DHI Pte Limited SGD 1.5% + 3 months SORA 708.52 710.67

Increase/(Decrease ) in rate- 

 +5% +5% +4.1 +1.73

  -5% -5% -4.1 -1.73

8.3.3. Price Risk
8LI�VMWO�XLEX�XLI�JEMV�ZEPYI�SV�JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[W�SJ�E�ƼRERGMEP�
MRWXVYQIRX�[MPP�ƽYGXYEXI�FIGEYWI�SJ�GLERKIW�MR�QEVOIX�TVMGIW�
(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
VMWO
��[LIXLIV� XLSWI�GLERKIW�EVI�GEYWIH�F]�JEGXSVW�WTIGMƼG�
XS�XLI�MRHMZMHYEP�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRX�SV�MXW�MWWYIV�SV�F]�JEGXSVW�
EJJIGXMRK�EPP�WMQMPEV�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRXW�XVEHIH�MR�XLI�QEVOIX�

The company’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises 
from investments held by the company in equity securities 
ERH�GPEWWMƼIH� MR� XLI�FEPERGI� WLIIX� EW� EX� JEMV� ZEPYI� XLVSYKL�
other comprehensive income. All the investment in equity in-
vestment measured at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income are publicly traded and listed on Stock Exchange 
of the respective country. 

8.3.3.1. Sensitivity Analysis
The table below summarizes the impact of increases/de-
creases of the prices of respective securities on company’s 
equity and total other comprehensive income for the period. 
The analysis provides the sensitivity to the value of the equity 
holdiings due to change in the price by 5%, holding all other 
variables constant:

Impact on total Other er 
ComprehensiveComprehensive

2023 2023

Increase by 5% 415.37 337.69

Decrease by 5% (415.37) (337.69)

8LI�+VSYT�QEREKIW�XLI�IUYMX]�TVMGI�VMWO�XLVSYKL�HMZIVWMƼGE-
tion and by placing limits on individual and total equity instru-
ments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the 
Group’s senior management on a regular basis. The Board 
of Directors reviews and approves all equity investment de-
cisions.

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND FAIR VALUE 
DISCLOSURES

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transac-
tion to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
1. In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
2. In the absence of a principal market, in the most ad-

vantageous market for the asset or liability
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The principal or the most advantageous market must be ac-
cessible by the Group. The Group uses valuation techniques 
XLEX�EVI�ETTVSTVMEXI�MR�XLI�GMVGYQWXERGIW�ERH�JSV�[LMGL�WYƾ-
cient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the 
use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
HMWGPSWIH� MR� XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EVI�GEXIKSVM^IH�[MXLMR�
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows:
0IZIP��� Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets 
JSV�MHIRXMGEP�EWWIXW�SV�PMEFMPMXMIW��0IZIP���LMIVEVGL]�MRGPYHIW�Ƽ-
nancial instruments measured using quoted prices. This in-
cludes listed equity instruments that have a quoted price. The 
fair value of all equity instruments, which are traded on the 
stock exchanges, is valued using the closing price as at the 
reporting period.

0IZIP��� Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 
XLEX�MW�WMKRMƼGERX�XS�XLI�JEMV�ZEPYI�QIEWYVIQIRX�MW�HMVIGXP]�SV�

MRHMVIGXP]�SFWIVZEFPI��8LI�JEMV�ZEPYI�SJ�ƼRERGMEP� MRWXVYQIRXW�
that are not traded in an active market (for example, traded 
bonds, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using 
valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable 
QEVOIX� HEXE� ERH� VIP]� EW� PMXXPI� EW� TSWWMFPI� SR� IRXMX]�WTIGMƼG�
IWXMQEXIW��-J�EPP�WMKRMƼGERX�MRTYXW�VIUYMVIH�XS�JEMV�ZEPYI�ER�MR-
strument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

0IZIP����-J�SRI�SV�QSVI�SJ�XLI�WMKRMƼGERX�MRTYXW�MW�RSX�FEWIH�
on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 
���8LI�JEMV�ZEPYI�SJ�XLI�VIQEMRMRK�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRXW�MW�HI-
XIVQMRIH�YWMRK�HMWGSYRXIH�GEWL�ƽS[�EREP]WMW�

9.1. Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy- GROUP
8LI�+VSYT�LIPH�XLI�JSPPS[MRK�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRXW�EX�JEMV�ZEP-
ue in the Statement of Financial Position:

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value – recur-
ring fair value measurements

In Nu million As at December 31, 2023 As at December 31, 2022

Financial Investments at FVOCI Investment in 
IUYMX]�WLEVIW�SJ�

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Listed Equity Investments:

1. Bhutan National Bank Ltd 1,893.84 1,572.87

2. Royal Insurance Corporation of Bhutan Ltd 2,076.95 1,701.51

3. Bhutan Carbide & Chemicals Ltd 81.19 54.02

4. Druk Ferro Alloys Ltd 158.05 166.76

5. Investment Abroad 2,827.08 1,764.38

Non Listed Equity Investments:

6. Bhutan Development Bank Ltd 53.67 62.34

7. Credit Information Bureau 6.42 5.02

8. Financial Training Institution 17.39 17.03

9. Investment Abroad - Private Equity 1,509.52 1,715.04

Total Financial Assets 7,037.11 1,509.52 77.48 5,259.54 1,715.04 84.39

Non Financial Assets

1. Land 3,067.53 3,081.10

2. Biological Asset 652.21 763.74

Total Non Financial Assets 652.21 - 3,067.53 763.74 - 3,081.10
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Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value – recur- ring fair value measurements- PARENT

In Nu million As at December 31, 2023 As at December 31, 2022

Financial Investments at FVOCI Investment in 
IUYMX]�WLEVIW�SJ�

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Listed Equity Investments:

1. Bhutan National Bank Ltd 1,893.84 1,572.87

2. Royal Insurance Corporation of Bhutan Ltd 2,076.95 1,701.51

3. Investment Abroad 2,827.08 1,764.38

Non Listed Equity Investments:

1. Investment Abroad - Private Equity 1,509.52 1,715.04

Total Financial Assets 6,797.87 1,509.52 - 5,038.76 1,715.04 -

Non Financial Assets

1. Land 1,871.23 1,871.23

Total Non Financial Assets - - 1,871.23 - - 1,871.23

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED 
POLICIES

Accounting Policy

Financial Instruments- Initial Recognition and Subsequent 
Measurement.

10.1. Financial Assets
10.1.1. Initial Recognition and Measurement
%X�MRMXMEP�VIGSKRMXMSR��XLI�'SQTER]�QIEWYVIW�E�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�
EX�MXW�JEMV�ZEPYI�TPYW��MR�XLI�GEWI�SJ�E�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�RSX�EX�JEMV�
ZEPYI�XLVSYKL�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW��XVERWEGXMSR�GSWXW�XLEX�EVI�HMVIGXP]�
EXXVMFYXEFPI�XS�XLI�EGUYMWMXMSR�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX��8VERWEG-
XMSR�GSWXW�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�GEVVMIH�EX�JEMV�ZEPYI�XLVSYKL�TVSJ-
MX�SV�PSWW�EVI�I\TIRWIH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�

��������'PEWWMƼGEXMSR�ERH�WYFWIUYIRX�QIEWYVIQIRX
*SV�XLI�TYVTSWI�SJ�WYFWIUYIRX�QIEWYVIQIRX��ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�
SJ�XLI�'SQTER]�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�MR�XLI�JSPPS[MRK�GEXIKSVMIW�
a. Financial assets measured at amortized cost;
b. Financial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI); and
G�� *MRERGMEP�EWWIXW�QIEWYVIH�EX�JEMV�ZEPYI�XLVSYKL�TVSƼX�

and loss (FVTPL)

8LI�GPEWWMƼGEXMSR�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�HITIRHW�SR�XLI�IRXMX]ƅW�
FYWMRIWW� QSHIP� JSV� QEREKMRK� XLI� ƼRERGMEP� EWWIXW� ERH� XLI�
GSRXVEGXYEP�XIVQW�SJ�XLI�GEWL�ƽS[W���1EREKIQIRX�HIXIVQMRIW�
XLI�GPEWWMƼGEXMSR�SJ�MXW�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�EX�MRMXMEP�VIGSKRMXMSR�

10.1.3. Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost
%�ƼRERGMEP� EWWIX� MW�QIEWYVIH�EX� EQSVXM^IH� GSWX� MJ� FSXL� XLI�
following conditions are met:
a. The asset is held within a business model whose 

objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual 
GEWL�ƽS[W��ERH

F�� 'SRXVEGXYEP�XIVQW�SJ�XLI�EWWIX�KMZI�VMWI�SR�WTIGMƼIH�
HEXIW�XS�GEWL�ƽS[W�XLEX�EVI�WSPIP]�TE]QIRXW�SJ�TVMR-
cipal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount out-
standing. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI 
test and is performed at an instrument level.

%JXIV� MRMXMEP� QIEWYVIQIRX�� WYGL� ƼRERGMEP� EWWIXW� EVI� WYFWI-
quently measured at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amorti-
^EXMSR�MW�MRGPYHIH�MR�ƼRERGI�MRGSQI�MR�XLI�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW��8LI�
PSWWIW�EVMWMRK�JVSQ�MQTEMVQIRX�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�XLI�TVSƼX�SV�
loss. This category generally applies to trade and other receiv-
ables, bank deposits, security deposits, investment in Govern-
ment Securities, bonds, cash and cash equivalents and em-
ployee loans, etc.
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10.1.4. Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 
through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI)

%� ƼRERGMEP� MRWXVYQIRXW� EVI�QIEWYVIH� EX� JEMV� ZEPYI� XLVSYKL�
other comprehensive income if both of the following condi-
tions are met:

a. the objective of the business model is achieved by 
FSXL�GSPPIGXMRK�GSRXVEGXYEP�GEWL�ƽS[W�ERH�WIPPMRK�Ƽ-
nancial assets; and

F�� XLI�EWWIXƅW�GSRXVEGXYEP�GEWL�ƽS[�VITVIWIRXW�744-�

Financial instruments included within FVTOCI category are 
measured initially as well as at each reporting period at fair 
value. Fair value movements are recognized in other com-
prehensive income (OCI). Currently, the investments in equity 
WLEVIW�[LIVI�XLI�WLEVILSPHMRK�MW�PIWW�XLER���	�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�
YRHIV�XLMW�GEXIKSV]��+EMRW�ERH�PSWWIW�SR�XLIWI�ƼRERGMEP�EW-
WIXW�EVI�RIZIV� VIG]GPIH� XS�TVSƼX�SV� PSWW��)UYMX]� MRWXVYQIRXW�
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impair-
ment assessment.

10.1.5. Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 
XLVSYKL�4VSƼX�ERH�0SWW��*:840


*MRERGMEP� EWWIXW� EX� JEMV� ZEPYI� XLVSYKL� TVSƼX� SV� PSWW� MRGPYHI�
ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�LIPH�JSV�XVEHMRK��ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�HIWMKREXIH�
YTSR�MRMXMEP�VIGSKRMXMSR�EX�JEMV�ZEPYI�XLVSYKL�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW��SV�
ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW�QERHEXSVMP]�VIUYMVIH�XS�FI�QIEWYVIH�EX�JEMV�
ZEPYI��*MRERGMEP�EWWIXW�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�LIPH�JSV�XVEHMRK�MJ�XLI]�
are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term. Financial instruments included in the FVTPL cate-
gory are measured initially and at each reporting period at fair 
value. Fair value movements are recorded in the statement of 
TVSƼX�ERH�PSWW�

10.1.6. Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit 
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
XLVSYKL�TVSƼX�SV� PSWW��)'0W�EVI�FEWIH�SR�XLI�HMJJIVIRGI�FI-
X[IIR�XLI�GSRXVEGXYEP�GEWL�ƽS[W�HYI�MR�EGGSVHERGI�[MXL�XLI�
GSRXVEGX�ERH�EPP�XLI�GEWL�ƽS[W�XLEX�XLI�+VSYT�I\TIGXW�XS�VI-
ceive, discounted at the Group’s effective interest rate. Based 
on the nature of the sector and the company, the Group is 
YWMRK�ETTVSTVMEXI�ERH�GSQTER]�WTIGMƼG�0+(ƅW�ERH�4(ƅW�[LIR�
calculating the expected credit loss. 

*SV� XVEHI� VIGIMZEFPIW�� XLI� +VSYT� ETTPMIW� XLI� WMQTPMƼIH� ET-
proach permitted by BFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime 
losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receiv-
ables. The Group has established a provision matrix that is 
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
JSV[EVH�PSSOMRK�JEGXSVW�WTIGMƼG�XS� XLI�HIFXSVW�ERH�XLI�IGS-
nomic environment.

��������(IVIGSKRMXMSR�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW
%�ƼRERGMEP� EWWIX� �SV��[LIVI� ETTPMGEFPI�� E� TEVX� SJ� E� ƼRERGMEP�
EWWIX�SV�TEVX�SJ�E�KVSYT�SJ�WMQMPEV�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW
�MW�TVMQEVMP]�
derecognized only when:

��� 8LI�VMKLXW�XS�VIGIMZI�GEWL�ƽS[W�JVSQ�XLI�EWWIX�LEZI�
been transferred, or

2. The Company retains the contractual rights to receive 
XLI�GEWL�ƽS[W�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�FYX�EWWYQIW�E�
GSRXVEGXYEP�SFPMKEXMSR�XS�TE]�XLI�GEWL�ƽS[W�XS�SRI�SV�
more recipients.

3. When the Company has transferred an asset, it eval-
uates whether it has substantially transferred all risks 
ERH� VI[EVHW�SJ� S[RIVWLMT� SJ� XLI� ƼRERGMEP� EWWIX�� -R�
WYGL�GEWIW��XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�MW�HIVIGSKRM^IH�

4. When the Company has not transferred substantially 
EPP�XLI�VMWOW�ERH�VI[EVHW�SJ�S[RIVWLMT�SJ�E�ƼRERGMEP�
EWWIX��XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�MW�RSX�HIVIGSKRM^IH�

��� ;LIR�XLI�'SQTER]�LEW�RIMXLIV�XVERWJIVVIH�E�ƼRERGMEP�
asset nor retains substantially all risks and rewards of 
S[RIVWLMT�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX��XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX�MW�
derecognized if the entity has not retained control of 
XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX��;LIR�XLI�IRXMX]�VIXEMRW�GSRXVSP�SJ�
XLI�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIX��XLI�EWWIX� MW�GSRXMRYIH�XS�FI�VIG-
ognized to the extent of continuing involvement in the 
asset.

10.2. Financial Liability
10.2.1. Initial Recognition and Measurement
%PP�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MRMXMEPP]�EX�JEMV�ZEPYI�ERH��
in the case of borrowings and payables, net of directly attrib-
YXEFPI� XVERWEGXMSR� GSWXW��8LI�'SQTER]ƅW� ƼRERGMEP� PMEFMPMXMIW�
include trade and other payables, borrowings including bank 
overdrafts.
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10.2.2. Subsequent Measurement
8LI�QIEWYVIQIRX�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�HITIRHW�SR�XLIMV�GPEW-
WMƼGEXMSR��EW�HIWGVMFIH�FIPS[�

��������*MRERGMEP�0MEFMPMXMIW�EX�*EMV�:EPYI� XLVSYKL�4VSƼX�SV�
Loss (FVTPL)

*MRERGMEP� PMEFMPMXMIW� EX� *:840� MRGPYHI� ƼRERGMEP� PMEFMPMXMIW� LIPH�
JSV�XVEHMRK�ERH�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�HIWMKREXIH�YTSR�MRMXMEP�VIG-
SKRMXMSR�EW�EX�*:840��*MRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�LIPH�
for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of selling and 
repurchasing in the near term. Gains or losses on liabilities 
LIPH�JSV�XVEHMRK�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�XLI�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at FVT-
PL are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, 
ERH�SRP]� MJ� XLI�GVMXIVME� MR�&*67���EVI�WEXMWƼIH��*SV� PMEFMPMXMIW�
designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/losses attributable to 
changes in own credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/
losses are not subsequently transferred to P&L. However, the 
Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within eq-
uity. All other changes in the fair value of such liability are rec-
SKRM^IH�MR�XLI�WXEXIQIRX�SJ�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW��8LI�'SQTER]�LEW�
RSX�HIWMKREXIH�ER]�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMX]�EW�*:840�

10.2.4. Borrowings
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrow-
ings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
)-6�QIXLSH��+EMRW�ERH�PSWWIW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�
when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 
EIR amortization process. 

Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
GSWXW
�ERH�XLI�VIHIQTXMSR�EQSYRX�MW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective in-
terest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facil-
ities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the 
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw 
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is prob-
able that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity services and 
amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.

&SVVS[MRKW� EVI� GPEWWMƼIH� EW� GYVVIRX� PMEFMPMXMIW� YRPIWW� XLI�
Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Where there is a breach of a material provision of a long-term 
loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting period 
with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand 
on the reporting date, the entity classify the liability as current, 
if the lender does not agree not to demand payment as a con-
sequence of the breach before reporting date.

10.2.5. Derecognition
Financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. When an ex-
MWXMRK�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMX]�MW�VITPEGIH�F]�ERSXLIV�JVSQ�XLI�WEQI�
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an ex-
MWXMRK� PMEFMPMX]� EVI� WYFWXERXMEPP]�QSHMƼIH�� WYGL� ER� I\GLERKI�
SV�QSHMƼGEXMSR�MW�XVIEXIH�EW�XLI�HIVIGSKRMXMSR�SJ�XLI�SVMKMREP�
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the state-
QIRX�SJ�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the 
SFPMKEXMSR� WTIGMƼIH� MR� XLI� GSRXVEGX� MW� HMWGLEVKIH�� GERGIPPIH�
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a 
ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMX]�XLEX�LEW�FIIR�I\XMRKYMWLIH�SV�XVERWJIVVIH�XS�
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized 
MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�EW�SXLIV�KEMRW��PSWWIW
�

10.2.6. Financial Guarantee Contracts
*MRERGMEP�KYEVERXII�GSRXVEGXW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�EW�ƼRERGMEP�PME-
bility at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially 
measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the 
amount determined in accordance with BAS 37: Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and the amount 
initially recognized less cumulative amortization, where ap-
propriate.

8LI� JEMV� ZEPYI� SJ� ƼRERGMEP� KYEVERXIIW� MW� HIXIVQMRIH� EW� XLI�
TVIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�XLI�HMJJIVIRGI�MR�RIX�GEWL�ƽS[W�FIX[IIR�XLI�
contractual payments under the debt instrument and the pay-
ments that would be required without the guarantee, or the 
estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for 
assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of as-
sociates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are 
accounted for as contributions and recognized as part of the 
cost of the investment.
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10.3. Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount 
is reported in the balance sheet where there is a legally en-
forceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable 
right must not be contingent on future events and must be 
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event 
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the group or the coun-
terparty.

The following methods and assumptions were used to esti-
mate the fair values:
1. Fair value of quoted equities and bonds are based on 

price quotations in an active market at the reporting 
date.

2. The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans from 
FEROW�ERH�SXLIV�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMXMIW��SFPMKEXMSRW�YRHIV�
ƼRERGI�PIEWIW��EW�[IPP�EW�RSRGYVVIRX�ƼRERGMEP� PMEFMP-
MXMIW�EVI�IWXMQEXIH�F]�HMWGSYRXMRK�JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[W�
using rates currently available for debt on similar 
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

10.4. Financial Instruments by category- GROUP

As at December 31, 2023 As at December 31, 2022

In Nu Milliom FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost

FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost

Financial Assets

Investment in equity shares of entities 
other than subsidiary, associate and JV

8,624.11 7,058.98

Debt Securities 2,658.42 2,526.48

Government Securities 13,345.37 15,833.47

Deposits with Banks 3,324.79 3,369.24

Trade & Other Receivables 7,370.49 5,892.90

Loans & advances 75,555.20 62,302.58

Short Term Deposits 2,849.47 1,087.77

Investment in EPF assets 22.75 23.49

Cash and Cash Equivalaents 4,223.46 6,429.38

Total Financials Assets - 8,624.11 109,349.96 - 7,058.98 97,465.31

Financial Liabilities

Interest bearing Loan and borrowings 46,000.01 46,289.21

Liability towards EPF 8.01 -

Lease Liabilities 344.25 214.21

Trade payables 6,402.89 3,627.97

Employee payables 1,389.86 572.21

Deposits received 864.70 2,689.84

Current Borrowings 2,369.56 2,913.07

Working Capital 95.41 77.16

Other liabilities 205.72 640.65

Total Financials Liabilities - - 57,680.40 - - 57,024.31
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10.5. Financial instruments by category- PARENT

In Nu Milliom As at December 31, 2023 As at December 31, 2022

Financial Assets FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost

FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost

Investment in equity shares of entities other 
than subsidiary, associate and JV

8,307.39 6,753.81

Debt Securities 2,658.42 2,526.48

Government Securities - -

Deposits with Banks - -

Trade & Other Receivables 0.30 0.22

Loans & advances - -

Short Term Deposits 1,007.00 -

Investment in EPF assets 22.75 23.49

Cash and Cash Equivalents 732.87 1,196.02

Total Financials Assets - 8,307.39 4,421.34 - 6,753.81 3,746.21

Financial Liabilities

Interest bearing Loan and borrowings 1,354.35 778.40

Liability towards EPF - -

Lease Liabilities 14.25 22.38

Trade payables 464.70 359.08

Employee payables 29.78 35.65

Deposits received - -

Current Borrowings - -

Working Capital - -

Other liabilities - -

Total Financial Liabilities - - 1,863.08 - - 1,195.52

11. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Accounting Policy

11.1. Revenue from Contract with Customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when 
control of the goods or services is transferred to the custom-
IV�EX�ER�EQSYRX�XLEX�VIƽIGXW�XLI�GSRWMHIVEXMSR�XS�[LMGL�XLI�
entity expects to be entitled in the exchange for those goods 
or services.

11.1.1. Sale of Goods and Services
8LI� KVSYT� VIGSKRM^IW� VIZIRYI� [LIR� XLI� IRXMX]� WEXMWƼIW� E�
TIVJSVQERGI�SFPMKEXMSR�MHIRXMƼIH�MR�XLI�GSRXVEGX�F]�XVERWJIV-
ring a promised good or service (i.e., an asset) to a customer 
and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it is 
TVSFEFPI�XLEX�JYXYVI�IGSRSQMG�FIRIƼXW�[MPP�ƽS[�XS�XLI�KVSYT��
An asset is assumed to be transferred to a customer when (or 
as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The incremen-
tal cost incurred by the company for obtaining a contract with 
a customer is recognized as assets if the recovery of such a 
cost is expected. Such assets are amortized on a systematic 
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of 
the goods or services to which the asset relates.
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Bilateral contracts between two entities in the same line of 
business for non-monetary exchange of goods and services 
to facilitate sales to its customers or potential customers are 
not accounted for as sales (revenue) as per BFRS 15. Any bal-
ance against such exchange contracts not settled during the 
WEQI�ƼRERGMEP�]IEV�EVI�EGGSYRXIH�JSV�EW�TE]EFPI�VIGIMZEFPI�
and included under other current assets/liabilities in the state-
QIRX�SJ�ƼRERGMEP�TSWMXMSR�

��������'SRWXVYGXMSR�'SRXVEGXW��
In case of construction contracts, group recognizes revenue, 
if one of the following criteria as enunciated in BFRS 15 - Rev-
enue from Contract with Customers is met:
1. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 

XLI�FIRIƼXW�TVSZMHIH�F]�XLI�IRXMX]ƅW�TIVJSVQERGI�EW�
the entity performs;

2. the entity’s performance creates or enhances an as-
set (for example, work-in- progress) that the custom-
er controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

3. The entity’s performance does not create an asset 
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date.

Earnings on construction contracts are determined using 
the percentage-of-completion method. Earnings are not rec-
ognized until the outcome can be reliably estimated. The 
company uses its professional judgment to assess both the 

TL]WMGEP� GSQTPIXMSR� ERH� XLI� JSVIGEWX� ƼRERGMEP� VIWYPX� SJ� XLI�
contract. Provision is made for estimated future losses on the 
IRXMVI�GSRXVEGX�JVSQ�XLI�HEXI�MX�MW�ƼVWX�VIGSKRM^IH�XLEX�E�GSR-
tract loss may be incurred.

'SRWXVYGXMSR�[SVO�MR�TVSKVIWW�MW�WXEXIH�EX�GSWX�TPYW�TVSƼX�VIG-
ognized to date, less progress billings and any provision for 
foreseeable losses. Cost includes all expenditure directly re-
PEXIH�XS�WTIGMƼG�TVSNIGXW��TPYW�E�WLEVI�SJ�VIPIZERX�SZIVLIEHW�

11.1.3. Loyalty Points Programme
One of the company in the Group has loyalty points pro-
gramme, “HappinesSmiles”, which allows customers to accu-
mulate points that can be redeemed for free cabin upgrade, 
free tickets and other member rewards. The loyalty points 
give rise to a separate performance obligation as they provide 
a material right to the customer.

A portion of the transaction price is allocated to the loyalty 
points awarded to customers based on relative stand-alone 
selling price and recognized as a contract liability until the 
points are redeemed. Revenue is recognized upon redemp-
tion of products by the customer.

When estimating the stand-alone selling price of the loyalty 
points, the Group considers the likelihood that the customer 
will redeem the points. The Group updates its estimates of the 
points that will be redeemed annually and any adjustments 
to the contract liability balance are charged against revenue.

Total Revenue from Customers
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Sales of: -

Goods 4,967.91 4,155.50 - -

Services 12,467.65 8,439.66 - -

Energy and Resources 29,419.40 23,174.17 - -

Trading 3,352.52 3,334.14 - -

Interest 3,515.53 1,349.25 - -

Total Revenue from Customers 53,723.02 40,452.73 - -
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12. DIVIDEND INCOME

Accounting Policy

(MZMHIRHW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�SRP]�[LIR�XLI�VMKLX�XS�VIGIMZI�TE]QIRX�MW�IWXEFPMWLIH��MX�MW�TVSFEFPI�XLEX�XLI�IGSRSQMG�
FIRIƼXW�EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�XLI�HMZMHIRH�[MPP�ƽS[�XS�XLI�'SQTER]�ERH�XLI�EQSYRX�SJ�XLI�HMZMHIRH�GER�FI�QIEWYVIH�VIPMEFP]�

In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Dividend income from Subsidiaries -

Bank of Bhutan Ltd. - - 58.31 -

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. - - 806.69 1,012.27

Bhutan Telecom Ltd. - - 2,560.00 2,022.00

Druk Air Corporation Ltd. - - - -

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. - - 4,395.77 5,110.00

Menjong Sorig Pharmaceuticals Corporation Limited - - - 3.80

State Mining Corporation Limited - - 1,919.75 1,793.34

State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Ltd. - - 22.94 22.94

Thimphu Tech Park Limited - - - 57.60

Dividend income from Subsidiaries                                                                         - - 9,763.46 10,021.95

Dividend income from Portfolios -

Bhutan Ferro Alloys Ltd. - - 135.08 115.78

Bhutan National Bank Ltd. 67.60 - 67.60 -

Bhutan Carbides and Chemicals Ltd 17.43 17.43 - -

Druk Ferro Alloy Ltd 2.00 - - -

Other Investments 20.20 34.10 - -

Div income from KKR - - - 17.87

Div income from investment abroad - - 19.89 15.43

Total Dividend Income from Portfolios 107.23 51.53 9,986.03 10,171.03

13. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OPERATING 
EXPENSES

13.1. Interest Income
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest 
method. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Com-
TER]�IWXMQEXIW�XLI�I\TIGXIH�GEWL�ƽS[W�F]�GSRWMHIVMRK�EPP�XLI�
GSRXVEGXYEP� XIVQW� SJ� XLI� ƼRERGMEP� MRWXVYQIRX� �JSV� I\EQTPI��
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not 
consider the expected credit losses.

When a loan and receivable is impaired, the company reduc-
es the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the 
IWXMQEXIH� JYXYVI�GEWL�ƽS[�HMWGSYRXIH�EX� XLI�SVMKMREP�IJJIG-
tive interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding 
the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired 
loans and receivables is recognized using the original effec-
tive interest rate.
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13.2. Gain and Losses
Net gains and losses of a revenue nature arising from the dis-
posal of property, plant and equipment and other non-current 
assets, including investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates, are accounted in the income statement, af-
ter deducting from the proceeds on disposal, the carrying 
amount of such assets and the related selling expenses.

13.3. Grant and Subsidy
A government grant that becomes receivable as compensa-
tion for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 

SJ�KMZMRK�MQQIHMEXI�ƼRERGMEP�WYTTSVX�XS�XLI�IRXMX]�[MXL�RS�JY-
XYVI�VIPEXIH�GSWXW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�SJ�XLI�TIVMSH�
in which it becomes receivable.

8LI�KVERX�MW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�XLI�TVSƼX�ERH�PSWW�SR�E�W]WXIQEX-
ic basis over the useful life of the assets for grant related to 
assets. 

13.4. Other Income
Other income and expenses are recognized on an accrual ba-
sis. 

In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Grants and Subsidies 378.57 372.62 - -

Brand Management Fee - - 220.13 214.00

Interest Received 234.40 41.62 233.92 120.22

Changes in Fair Value of Biological Asset - 202.95

Other Income 4,108.38 4,764.09 104.45 60.31

Total Other Income 4,721.34 5,381.28 558.50 394.54

14. EXPENSE RECOGNITION

Accounting Policy

Expenses are recognized in the income statement on the basis of direct association between the cost incurred and the earnings 
SJ�WTIGMƼG�MXIQW�SJ�MRGSQI��%PP�I\TIRHMXYVI�MRGYVVIH�MR�XLI�VYRRMRK�SJ�XLI�FYWMRIWW�ERH�MR�QEMRXEMRMRK�XLI�TVSTIVX]��TPERX�ERH�
IUYMTQIRX�MR�E�WXEXI�SJ�IƾGMIRG]�LEW�FIIR�GLEVKIH�XS�XLI�MRGSQI�WXEXIQIRX

For the purpose of presentation of the income statement, the “Nature of expenses” method has been adopted, on the basis that 
it presents fairly the elements of the Company’s and Group’s performance.

14.1. Direct Cost of Sales
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Energy and wheeling charges 5,551.65 2,254.51 - -

Aircraft fuel, oil and operating Costs 2,119.46 952.81 - -

Cost of Goods Sold 6,388.41 6,000.88 - -

Material used in infrastructure development 2,704.26 3,351.94 - -

Total Direct Cost of Sales 16,763.78 12,560.13 - -



 80 |

14.2. Employee Related Cost
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Payroll and Related Costs 4,817.74 4,468.61 111.27 89.80

Employee Related Costs 1,046.40 926.56 22.53 26.66

Total Employee Related Costs 5,864.15 5,395.17 133.81 116.47

14.3. Running and Maintenance Cost
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Maintenance - 1,969.76 - -

R&M - Power plants 453.07 - - -

R&M – Aircrafts 227.00 - - -

R&M - Plant and Machinery 1,195.77 - - -

6
1�JYVRMXYVI��SƾGI�IUYMTQIRX 53.27 - 6.64 6.48

R&M – Vehicles 167.95 - 1.67 2.04

R&M – Building 121.29 - - -

R&M-Other 228.79 - - -

Total R&M Cost 2,447.14 1,969.76 8.31 8.52

14.4. Other Cost
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Insurance 223.88 139.46 - -

Consumables 606.39 531.09 - -

Travel Expenses 125.41 115.58 6.00 4.00

License and Registration 253.35 112.17 - -

Communication and ICT Charges 263.33 15.63 6.16 7.56

Transportation Expenses 1,527.37 1,600.46 - -

CSR & Donations 157.62 337.06 50.96 10.55

Loss on disposal PPE 172.81 (74.07) - -

Banking related expenses 270.85 155.87 - -

0SWW�HYI�XS�*SVIMKR�'YVVIRG]�ƽYGXYEXMSR 76.87 820.11 0.04 -

Change in the Fair value of Biological Asset 111.53 

Other Costs 737.86 515.09 50.00 40.28

Total 4,527.27 4,268.45 113.16 62.40
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14.5. Finance Cost

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and unwinding of the discount on provisions. Interest expense is re-
corded as it accrues using the effective interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
TE]QIRXW�XLVSYKL�XLI�I\TIGXIH�PMJI�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXVYQIRX�SV�E�WLSVXIV�TIVMSH��[LIVI�ETTVSTVMEXI��XS�XLI�RIX�GEVV]MRK�EQSYRX�
SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�PMEFMPMX]�

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substan-
tial period to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing 
costs are incurred in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connec-
tion with the borrowing of funds.

In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Interest on borrowings 2,156.70 2,083.90 1.95 2.69

Unwinding of discount on Provisions 6.36 - - -

Total 2,163.06 2,083.90 1.95 2.69

14.6. Impairment
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Impairment 1,421.97 (276.16) - -

Total 1,421.97 (276.16) - -

The Group has recognised Nu. 1,383 Impairment of loans and advances to customers and Nu. 38.89 million on impairment on 
trade and other receivables. 

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Accounting Policy
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. 

&EWMG�)47�MW�GEPGYPEXIH�F]�HMZMHMRK�XLI�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�EXXVMFYXEFPI�XS�SVHMREV]�WLEVILSPHIVW�F]�XLI�[IMKLXIH�EZIVEKI�RYQFIV�SJ�
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

(MPYXIH�)47�MW�HIXIVQMRIH�F]�EHNYWXMRK�XLI�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�EXXVMFYXEFPI�XS�SVHMREV]�WLEVILSPHIVW�ERH�XLI�[IMKLXIH�EZIVEKI�RYQFIV�
of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December GROUP

In Nu Million 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

4VSƼX�EXXVMFYXEFPI�XS�IUYMX]�LSPHIVW�SJ�XLI�TEVIRX 8,062,580,193.56  4,694,393,818.07 

Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year  491,841,232.68  492,720,578.07 

Additional share /Adjustments  6,070,474.00  (879,345.39)

Ordinary shares at the end of the year 497,911,706.68  491,841,232.68 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  497,911,706.68  491,841,232.68 

Basic and diluted earnings per share  16.19  9.54 

The weightage average number of ordinary shares increased 
by 6,070,474 on account of transfer of Bhutan Helicopter Ser-
vices Limited to Drukair Corporation Limited, a fully owned 
subsidiary of parent.

16. TAXES

Accounting Policy
Tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in eq-
uity is recognized in equity and for items recognized in other 
comprehensive income shall be recognized in other compre-
hensive income and not in the income statement. Manage-
ment periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate.

16.1. Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the Balance Sheet method on 
temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
ƼRERGMEP�VITSVXMRK�TYVTSWIW�

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deduct-

ible temporary differences, and unused tax credits and tax 
losses carried forward, to the extent that it is probable that 
XE\EFPI� TVSƼX�[MPP� FI� EZEMPEFPI� EKEMRWX�[LMGL� XLI� HIHYGXMFPI�
temporary differences and the unused tax credits and tax 
losses carried forward can be utilized. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
VIHYGIH�XS�XLI�I\XIRX�XLEX�MX� MW�RS�PSRKIV�TVSFEFPI�XLEX�WYƾ-
GMIRX�XE\EFPI�TVSƼX�[MPP�FI�EZEMPEFPI�XS�EPPS[�EPP�SV�TEVX�SJ�XLI�
deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
I\XIRX�XLEX�MX�LEW�FIGSQI�TVSFEFPI�XLEX�JYXYVI�XE\EFPI�TVSƼX�
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is real-
ised or liability is settled, based on the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted as at the re-
porting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside the income 
statement is recognized outside the income statement. De-
ferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity.

The Group offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabili-
ties, if and only if it has a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.
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������ 6IGSRGMPMEXMSR�FIX[IIR�'YVVIRX�8E\�'LEVKI�ERH�XLI�%GGSYRXMRK�4VSƼX�
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Income Tax Payable -

Current Tax 8,598.74 8,065.15 3,071.59 3,113.50

Total Income Tax Expenses Recognized 8,598.74 8,065.15 3,071.59 3,113.50

Deferred Tax Payable 810.83 (57.59) 171.46 11.94

Total Tax on Operating Income 9,580.74 8,007.56 3,243.05 3,125.44

4VSƼX�&IJSVI�-RGSQI�XE\�JVSQ�3TIVEXMSRW 18,000.24 13,003.86 10,261.62 10,358.59

Tax at 30% 5,400.07 3,901.16 3,078.49 3,107.58

Adjustments required for:

- Non-deductible expenditure & Non-Assessed Income 274.91 679.30 (6.96) 4.54

- Tax losses (68.28) 0.07 1.39

- Other Adjustments (Timing) 982.00 475.70 171.45 11.94

- Tax on Dividends from subsidiaries 2,923.76 3,019.68 -

Current Tax Expenses 9,580.74 8,007.56 3,243.05 3,125.44

Effective Tax Rate - 53.23% 61.58% 30.00% 30.00%

+VSYT�XE\�I\TIRWI�MW�FEWIH�SR�XLI�XE\EFPI�TVSƼX�SJ�MRHMZMHYEP�GSQTERMIW�[MXLMR�XLI�+VSYT�ERH�XE\�PMEFMPMX]�EVI�GSQTYXIH�EX�XLI�
standard corporate tax rate of 30% except for Thimphu Tech Park Limited being granted 100% tax holiday. At present the tax 
laws of Kingdom of Bhutan do not provide for Group taxation.

16.3. Deferred Tax
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Reconciliation of Deferred Tax -

Opening (2,166.04) (2,100.51) (1,120.64) (1,108.70)

Recognized during Year (810,83) (57.59) 171.46 (11.94)

Prior year adjustment (184.88) (7.94)

Closing (3,161.74) (2,166.04) (1,292.10) (1,120.64)

Deferred Tax Assets 1,280.26 1,562.06 (227.06) (227.06)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (4,442.00) (3,728.10) (1,065.04) (893.58)

Deferred Tax (Net) (3,161.74) (2,166.04) (1,292.10) (1,120.64)
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16.4. Income Tax Liability 
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Income Tax Payable - 

At the beginning of the year 5,285.17 4,740.41 1,806.82 1,392.69

Charged during the year 8,598.74 8,065.15 3,071.59 3,113.50

Payment & set off (8,668.28) (7,520.39) (3,746.43) (2,699.37)

At the end of the year 5,215.63 5,285.17 1,131.98 1,806.82

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting Policy

17.1. Basis of Recognition
Property, plant and equipment are recognized if it is probable 
XLEX�JYXYVI�IGSRSQMG�FIRIƼXW�EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�XLI�EWWIX�[MPP�
ƽS[� XS� XLI�+VSYT�ERH� XLI�GSWX�SJ� XLI�EWWIX� GER�FI� VIPMEFP]�
measured. 

17.2. Basis of Measurement
All property, plants and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impair-
ment, if any except for land. Cost includes purchase price, 
XE\IW� ERH� HYXMIW�� PEFSYV� GSWX�� HMVIGX� ƼRERGMRK� GSWXW�� HMVIGX�
overheads for self-constructed assets, borrowing costs, other 
direct costs incurred up to the date the asset is ready for its 
intended use including initial estimate of dismantling and site 
restoration cost.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
MX� MW�TVSFEFPI�XLEX�JYXYVI�IGSRSQMG�FIRIƼXW�EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�
XLI�MXIQ�[MPP�ƽS[�XS�XLI�GSQTER]�ERH�XLI�GSWX�SJ�XLI�MXIQ�GER�
FI�QIEWYVIH� VIPMEFP]��;LIR� WMKRMƼGERX� TEVXW� SJ� TPERXW� ERH�
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 
derecognizes the replaced part, and recognizes the new part 
with its own associated useful life and depreciation. Likewise, 
when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized 
in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a re-
TPEGIQIRX� MJ� XLI� VIGSKRMXMSR� GVMXIVME� EVI� WEXMWƼIH�� %PP� SXLIV�
repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the income 
statement as incurred.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying value may not be recover-
able.

Land is measured at fair value. Any revaluation surplus is rec-
ognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity under the asset revaluation reserve, except to the ex-
tent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognized in the income statement, in which case 
the increase is recognized in the income statement. A reval-
YEXMSR�HIƼGMX� MW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�XLI� MRGSQI�WXEXIQIRX��I\GITX�
to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same 
asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve.

17.3. Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized 
upon replacement, disposal or when no future economic ben-
IƼXW�EVI�I\TIGXIH�JVSQ�MXW�YWI��%R]�KEMR�SV�PSWW�EVMWMRK�JVSQ�
derecognition of the asset is included in the income state-
ment in the year the asset is derecognized.

17.4. Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calcu-
lated using straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts
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Asset Class Useful Life

Land Development cost 30-40 years

Buildings and civil structures

Permanent                                                                                                   30-40 years

Semi-permanent                                                                                         3-10 years

Plant and machinery                                                                                  5-20 years

other equipment                                                                                         5-20 years

*YVRMXYVI�ERH�Ƽ\XYVIW  7-10 years

'SQTYXIVW�ERH�SƾGI�IUYMTQIRX  3- 7 years

Cables and power system  5-10 years

Vehicles  7-10 years

Capital tools and spare parts  5-10 years

%MVGVEJX�ƽIIX 15-17 years

Other aviation assets  10 years

Transmission and Distribution lines   30 years

The assets’ useful lives and residual values are reviewed by 
the company concerned, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period. When parts of an item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of prop-
erty, plant and equipment.

17.5. Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, con-
struction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other 
borrowing costs are incurred in the period in which they occur. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

17.6. Impairment of Property Plant and Equipment
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indi-

cation exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset 
is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recov-
erable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual 
EWWIX��YRPIWW� XLI�EWWIX�HSIW�RSX�KIRIVEXI�GEWL� MRƽS[W�XLEX�
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups 
of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.

17.7. Revaluation of Land- Accounting Judgements, 
Estimates and Assumptions 

The Group assesses the fair value of land based on the rate 
determined by Property Assessment and Valuation Agency 
(PAVA). The PAVA rate is valuer’s best estimates. The changes 
in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income 
and in the statement of equity.

The frequency of revaluation of land depends upon the 
changes in fair values of land being revalued. When the fair 
value of a revalued land differs materially from its carrying 
amount, a further revaluation is done. When there are only 
MRWMKRMƼGERX�GLERKIW�MR�JEMV�ZEPYI�SJ�PERH��PERH�MW�VIZEPYIH�SRP]�
IZIV]�XLVII�SV�ƼZI�]IEVW�
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18. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Accounting policy

18.1. Leases
A contract which conveys the right to control the use of an 
MHIRXMƼIH�EWWIX�JSV�E�TIVMSH�SJ�XMQI�MR�I\GLERKI�JSV�GSRWMHIV-
EXMSR�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�PIEWI�

18.2. Basis of Recognition
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liability at 
the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the under-
lying asset is available for use)

18.3. Basis of Measurement.
18.3.1. Right-of-Use Assets
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for 
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-
use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, 
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Right of use assets are 
subject to impairment.

18.3.2. Lease Liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recog-
nizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease pay-
QIRXW� MRGPYHI�Ƽ\IH�TE]QIRXW� �MRGPYHMRK� MR�WYFWXERGI� Ƽ\IH�
payments) less any lease incentives receivable. In calculating 
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its in-
cremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date 
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of 
PIEWI�PMEFMPMXMIW�MW�MRGVIEWIH�XS�VIƽIGX�XLI�EGGVIXMSR�SJ�MRXIVIWX�
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the 
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
QSHMƼGEXMSR�HYI�XS�E�GLERKI�MR�XLI�PIEWI�XIVQ�ERH�SV�GLERKI�
in the lease payments.

18.3.3. Short-Term Leases and Leases of Low-Value 
Assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemp-
tion to its short-term leases of building, vehicles, machinery 
and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-val-
YI� EWWIXW� VIGSKRMXMSR� I\IQTXMSR� XS� PIEWIW� SJ� SƾGI� IUYMT-
ment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recog-
nized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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18.4. Right of Use Assets
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

At the beginning of the year 229.07 - 36.85 -

Additions 96.05 229.07 - 36.85

Disposal - - - -

Revaluations - - - -

Transfer (Adjustments) - - - -

At the end of the year 325.12 229.07 36.85 36.85

ɸ - - - -

Accumulated Depreciation  and Amortization - - - -

At the beginning of the year 55.29 46.94 18.66 -

Charge for the year 64.69 8.35 7.37 7.37

Disposal - - - 11.29

Transfer (Adjustments) (39.41) - - -

At the end of the year 80.57 55.29 26.03 18.66

ɸ - - - -

Carrying Value - - - -

As at 31 December 244.55 173.78 10.82 18.20

18.5. Lease Liability 
In Nu Million

For the year ended 31 December
GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

At the beginning of the year 214.21 20.57 22.38 -

Additions - 193.64 45.05

Transfer - - (8.37) (22.67)

Interest expense 130.04 - 0.24

Disposal - -

Payments - -

At the end of the year 344.25 214.21 14.25 22.38

ɸ - -

Lease Liability-Current 19.17 -

Lease Liability-Non Current 325.08 214.21

Total Lease Liability as  of 31st December 344.25 214.21 14.25 22.38

ɸ

Amortization of Right of Use Assets 64.69 8.35 7.37 7.37

Interest expense on lease liabilities 130.04 - 0.24

Total amount recognised  in income statement 194.73 8.35 7.61 7.37
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Accounting Policy

19.1. Basis of Recognition
An Investment Property is a property held to earn rental or for 
capital appreciation or both, rather than use in the production 
or supply of goods and services, or for administrative purpose, 
or sale in the ordinary course of business. 

The investment property are be recognized as an asset when, 
and only when:
�E
� MX�MW�TVSFEFPI�XLEX�XLI�JYXYVI�IGSRSQMG�FIRIƼXW�XLEX�EVI�

EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�XLI�MRZIWXQIRX�TVSTIVX]�[MPP�ƽS[�XS�XLI�
entity; and

(b) the cost of the investment property can be measured re-
liably.

Group evaluates under this recognition principle all its invest-
ment property at cost at the time they are incurred. These 
costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an investment 
property and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace 
part of, or service a property.

19.2. Basis of Measurement
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. The carrying value of an investment proper-
ty includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment 
property, at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition 
criteria are met and excludes the costs of day to- day servic-
ing of the investment property. The investment properties are 
subsequently accounted for using the cost model. 

19.3. Disposal 
The Group derecognize the Investment properties when dis-
posed of, or permanently withdrawn from use because no fu-
XYVI�IGSRSQMG�FIRIƼXW�EVI�I\TIGXIH��%R]�KEMRW�SV�PSWWIW�SR�
retirement or disposal are recognized in the income statement 
in the year of retirement or disposal.

19.4. Investment Property- GROUP

In Nu Million 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Cost of Valuation

At the beginning of the year 1,622.15 302.81

Additions 10.45 1,319.34

At the end of the year 1,632.60 1,622.15

ɸ - -

Accumulated Depreciation and 
Amortization

- -

At the beginning of the year 94.08 69.40

Charge for the year 50.59 24.68

Transfer ( Adjustments) 2.30 -

At the end of the year 146.98 94.08

ɸ - -

Carrying Value - -

As at 31 December 2023 1,485.63 1,528.07

19.5. Investment Property- PARENT

As of 31st December 
2023

Land Building Total

Cost of Valuation ɸ ɸ ɸ

At the beginning of 
the year

1,871.09 123.35 1,994.44

Additions 0.14 - 0.14

At the end of the year 1,871.23 123.35 1,994.58

ɸ - - -

Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Amortization

- - -

At the beginning of 
the year

- 3.09 3.09

Charge for the year - 4.03 4.03

At the end of the year - 7.13 7.13

ɸ - - -

Carrying Value - - -

As at 31 December 
2023

1,871.23 116.22 1,987.45
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As of 31st December 
2022

Land Building Total

Cost of Valuation

At the beginning of 
the year

298.00 123.35 421.35

Additions 1,573.09 - 1,573.09

At the end of the year 1,871.09 123.35 1,994.44

ɸ - - -

Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Amortization

- - -

At the beginning of 
the year

- 0.01 0.01

Charge for the year - 3.08 3.08

At the end of the year - 3.09 3.09

ɸ - - -

Carrying Value - - -

As at 31 December 
2022

1,871.09 120.25 1,991.34

The property that is leased to, and occupied by, its parent 
or another subsidiary are considered as property, plant and 
IUYMTQIRX�MR�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��FIGEYWI�
the property is owner-occupied from the perspective of the 
group. 

20. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Accounting Policy

20.1. Basis of Recognition
An Intangible asset is recognized if it is probable that future 
IGSRSQMG�FIRIƼXW�EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�XLI�EWWIX�[MPP�ƽS[�XS�XLI�
Group and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. 

20.2. Basis of Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 
recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Acquired computer 
software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs in-
GYVVIH�XS�EGUYMVI�ERH�FVMRK�XS�YWI�XLI�WTIGMƼG�WSJX[EVI��'SWXW�
associated with maintaining computer software programmes 
are recognized as an expense as incurred.

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized, and expenditure is 
charged to income statement in the year in which the expen-
diture is incurred.

20.3. Useful Economic Lives, Amortization and 
Impairment

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either 
ƼRMXI�SV� MRHIƼRMXI� PMZIW�� -RXERKMFPI�EWWIXW�[MXL�ƼRMXI� PMZIW�EVI�
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for im-
pairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
MRXERKMFPI�EWWIX�[MXL�E�ƼRMXI�YWIJYP�PMJI�MW�VIZMI[IH�EX�PIEWX�EX�
IEGL�ƼRERGMEP�]IEVIRH�ERH�XVIEXIH�EW�EGGSYRXMRK�IWXMQEXIW��
The amortisation is calculated by using straight-line method 
on the cost of all the intangible assets and the amortisation 
I\TIRWI�SR�MRXERKMFPI�EWWIXW�[MXL�ƼRMXI�PMZIW�MW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�
the income statement. 

-RXERKMFPI�EWWIXW�[MXL�MRHIƼRMXI�YWIJYP�PMZIW�ERH�KSSH[MPP�EVI�
not amortised but tested for impairment annually, or more fre-
quently when an indication of impairment exists. 

The costs of software acquired or purchased are amortised 
over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years. 
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20.4. Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources

The cost of exploration and evaluation are accumulated as 
Capital Work-In-Progress and not expensed. Once the oper-
EXMSR�GSQQIRGIW�� XLI�GSWX�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�XERKMFPIW�SV� MR-
tangibles and depreciated based on the number of units pro-
duced.

20.5. Research and Development Costs
Research costs are recognized as an expense in the year in 
which they are incurred. Development costs are only capi-

XEPMWIH�MJ�E�TSXIRXMEPP]�TVSƼXEFPI�TVSHYGX�LEW�FIIR�JSYRH�ERH�
management has given approval to further develop the prod-
uct.

If the company decides to proceed and market the product, 
development costs will be amortised over the expected prof-
itable period of marketing the product, not exceeding 5 years. 
Other development costs are expensed immediately if the de-
cision is made not to proceed to market the product.

20.6. Intangible Assets- GROUP
In Nu Million

Software Pre-operative 
Expense

Exploration and 
Evaluation

Total

Cost or Valuation

At the beginning of the year 4,562.06 17.19 35.97 4,615.22

Additions 478.11 - - 478.11

Transfer ( Adjustments) - (0.00) (0.66) (0.66)

Impairment - - - -

At the end of the year 5,040.17 17.19 35.30 5,092.66

ɸ - - - -

Accumulated Amortization - - - -

At the beginning of the year 3,201.58 5.76 30.69 3,238.03

Charge for the year 431.83 4.70 - 436.52

Transfer ( Adjustments) (37.98) (0.16) (0.51) (38.64)

At the end of the year 3,595.43 10.30 30.18 3,635.92

ɸ - - - -

Carrying Value - - - -

As at 31 December 31st December 2023 1,444.74 6.89 5.12 1,456.75
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20.7. Intangible Assets- GROUP
In Nu Million

Software Pre-operative 
Expense

Exploration and 
Evaluation

Total

Cost or Valuation

At the beginning of the year 4,021.67 6.57 35.97 4,064.21

Additions 561.72 10.62 - 572.34

Disposal (20.40) - - (20.40)

Transfer (Adjustments) (0.93) - - (0.93)

At the end of the year 4,562.06 17.19 35.97 4,615.22

ɸ - - - -

Accumulated Amortization - - - -

At the beginning of the year 2,881.17 3.05 30.69 2,914.91

Charge for the year 320.41 2.72 - 323.13

In Nu Million 3,201.58 5.76 30.69 3,238.03

ɸ - - - -

Carrying Value - - - -

As at 31 December 31st December 2022 1,360.48 11.43 5.28 1,377.19

20.8. Intangible Assets- PARENT
In Nu Million

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Cost or Valuation

At the beginning of the year 19.26 17.32

Additions 4.02 3.88

Disposal - (1.94)

At the end of the year 23.27 19.26

ɸ - -

Accumulated Amortization - -

At the beginning of the year 15.80 15.11

Charge for the year 1.81 0.69

At the end of the year 17.61 15.80

ɸ - -

Carrying Value - -

As at 31 December 5.66 3.46

20.9. Intangible Asset- Goodwill
In Nu Million

In Nu Million 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

At the beginning of the year 11.95 11.95

Additions 1,142.73 ɸ

At the end of the year 1,154.68 11.95

Druk Green Power Corporation, a 100% subsidiary of parent 
(i.e. DHI) own 50% equity interest in the Kholongchu hydro En-
ergy Limited  which was accounted for BAS 28 Investment in 
Joint Ventures and Associates. During the year 2023, DGPC 
acquired an additional 50% interest in Kholongchu Hydro En-
ergy Limited for Nu. 3,532.42 million thereby obtaining 100% 
control. This situation is commonly referred to as a business 
combination achieved in stages or a step acquisition.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as the 
fair value of the consideration transferred including the recog-
nized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, 
less the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the 
MHIRXMƼEFPI�EWWIXW�EGUYMVIH�ERH�PMEFMPMXMIW�EWWYQIH��EPP�QIE-
sured as of the acquisition date. The Goodwill of Nu. 1,142.73 
million is recognized during the year from this business com-
bination achieved in stages.
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21. BIOLOGICAL ASSET

Accounting Policy

21.1. Basis of Recognition
A biological asset is a living animal or plant. A biological asset 
are measured on initial recognition and at the end of each re-
porting period at its fair value less costs to sell.  Agricultural 
produce harvested from an entity’s biological assets are mea-
sured at its fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest. 

21.2. Basis of Measurement
The fair value measurements for the standing timber have 
been categorised as Level 1 fair values based on the inputs 
of quoted prices in active market.  A gain or loss arising on 
initial recognition of a biological asset at fair value less costs 
to sell and from a change in fair value less costs to sell of a 
FMSPSKMGEP�EWWIX�EVI�MRGPYHIH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�JSV�XLI�TIVMSH�MR�
which it arises. 

The Group’s biological assets consist of tree plantation to use 
in the production of board particles as part of its normal oper-
ation. The tree plantations are located in Chukha and Samtse 
District.

At 31 December 2023, standing timber comprised approxi-
mately 2,056.17 hectares of tree plantations which ranged 
from newly established plantations to plantations that were 
20 years old. 

In Nu Million

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Cost or Valuation- Biological Asset

At the beginning of the year 763.74 560.79 

Change in Fair value less 
cost to sell

(111.53) 202.95 

At the end of the year 652.21 763.74 

The Group have handed over 9 hectares of tree plantation at 
Rupang under Chukha District to Government since plantation 
JEPPW� YRHIV� XLI�[EXIV� GEXGLQIRX� EVIE��8LMW�LEW� WMKRMƼGERXP]�
impacted on the fair value of the biological assets. 

Biological assets (i.e. tree plantations) were not pledged as 
security for any of the Group’s loans or borrowings in 2023. 
No government grants were received in relation to the Group’s 
agricultural activities in 2023. 

8LI�TVMQEV]�ƼRERGMEP�VMWO�EWWSGMEXIH�[MXL�XLI�+VSYTƅW�EKVMGYP-
tural activity occurs due to the length of time between expend-
ing cash on the purchase, or planting and maintenance, of  
tree plantation and on harvesting trees and making the Board 
particles, and ultimately receiving cash from the sale of Board 
particles and Board Furniture to third parties. The Group’s 
WXVEXIK]�XS�QEREKI�XLMW�ƼRERGMEP�VMWO�MW�XS�EGXMZIP]�VIZMI[�ERH�
manage its working capital requirements.

No events occurred in the current and prior periods that give 
rise to material items of income or expense as a result of cli-
mate, disease or other natural risk

22. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES 
AND JOINT VENTURES

Accounting Policy

22.1. Investment in Subsidiary
Investment in subsidiaries is initially recognized at cost in the 
ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� SJ� XLI� 'SQTER]�� %R]� XVERWEGXMSR� GSWX�
relating to acquisition of investment in subsidiaries is immedi-
ately recognized in the income statement. After the initial rec-
ognition, Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.

22.2. Percentage Shareholdings within the Group
The following companies are members of the DHI group of 
companies. Their assets and liabilities and their results of op-
IVEXMSRW�EVI�MRGPYHIH�MR�XLI�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW��
The percentage shareholding shown includes shares held by 
DHI and the appropriate percentage of shareholdings by other 
groups of companies
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Company
GROUP PARENT

2023 2022 2023 2022

Effective holding 
%

Effective holding 
%

Bhutan Telecom Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Druk Air Corporation Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Bhutan Hydro Services Limited 100% 100% 0% 0%

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Dagachu Hydropower Corporation Ltd 59% 59% 0% 0%

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

State Mining Corporation Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Tangsibji Hydro Energy Ltd 100% 100% 0% 0%

Bank of Bhutan Ltd 80% 80% 80% 80%

Bhutan Board Products Ltd 58% 58% 48% 48%

Dungsum Cement Corporation Ltd 89% 89% 89% 89%

Dungsum Polymers Ltd 51% 51% 51% 51%

Koufuku International Limited 100% 100% 100% 100%

Menjong Sorig Pharmaceuticals Corporation Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Penden Cement Authority Ltd 40% 40% 40% 40%

State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Ltd 57% 57% 51% 51%

Construction Development Corporation Limited 100% 100% 100% 100%

DHI Pte Limited 100% 100% 100% 100%

Thimphu TechPark Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100%

Kholongchu Hydro Energy Limited 100% 50% 0% 0%

Druk Hydro Energy Limited 100% 100% 0% 0%
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-RZIWXQIRXW��'SRXMRYIH


a) All investments that have been made other than for 
trading purposes are included in this schedule.

b) The “% of Holding” represents the effective holding 
of DHI after considering the holding percentage of 
its subsidiaries. In Bhutan Board Products Ltd. DHI 
directly holds 48% and through Bank of Bhutan holds 
10%. In State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Ltd. DHI 
directly holds 51% and through Bank of Bhutan holds 
4%. For all other cases direct holding is equal to the 
chain holding.

c) Penden Cement Authority Ltd. (PCAL) has been 
GPEWWMƼIH�EW�WYFWMHMEV]�SR�XLI�QIVMX�XLEX�(,-�VIXEMRW�
control over PCAL in spite of holding 40% of shares 
as there are large numbers of other shareholders 
holding a small number of shares. At a company 
AGM, those smaller shareholders, with a total holding 
amounting to 41% of PCAL would have to attend and 
all vote against DHI to override any decision by DHI. 
The shareholder turn-out of this size does not occur. 
Hence, the test of “control” as per BFRS 10 is there-
fore met.

d) During the year 2023, DHI made an additional invest-
ment of Nu.607,047,400 for the transfer of helicopter 
to Drukair Corporation Ltd.

e) During the year 2023, DHI received worth Nu. 
43,140,000.00 from BPCL on account of capitaliza-
tion of Yurmoo substation and transfer of additional 
assets from MHEP.

f) During the year 2023, DHI received bonus shares 
worth Nu.13,710,740.00 from PCAL.

22.4. Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

An Associate Company is one in which the group does not 
LEZI�GSRXVSP�FYX� MW� MR�XLI�TSWMXMSR�SJ�FIMRK�EFPI�XS� MRƽYIRGI�
XLI�HIGMWMSRW�SJ�XLI�%WWSGMEXI��-R�KIRIVEP��MRƽYIRGI�MW�MRHMGEX-
ed by a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting 
rights and the representative on the Board of Directors. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but sig-
RMƼGERX� MRƽYIRGI� MW� VIXEMRIH�� SRP]� E� TVSTSVXMSREXI� WLEVI� SJ�
the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 
MRGSQI�MW�VIGPEWWMƼIH�XS�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�[LIVI�ETTVSTVMEXI�

8LI�KVSYTƅW�WLEVI�SJ�TSWX�EGUYMWMXMSR�TVSƼX�SV� PSWW�MW�VIGSK-
nized in the income statement, and its share of post-acqui-
sition movements in other comprehensive income is recog-
nized in other comprehensive income with a corresponding 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When 
the group’s share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds 
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured re-
ceivables, the group does not recognize further losses, unless 
it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made pay-
ments on behalf of the associate.

The group determines at each reporting date whether there is 
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If this is the case, the group calculates the amount 
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes 
XLI�EQSYRX�EHNEGIRX�XS�WLEVI�SJ�TVSƼX��PSWW
�SJ�EWWSGMEXIW�MR�
the income statement.

4VSƼXW�ERH�PSWWIW�VIWYPXMRK�JVSQ�YTWXVIEQ�ERH�HS[RWXVIEQ�
transactions between the group and its associate are recog-
RM^IH� MR� XLI� KVSYTƅW� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXIQIRXW� SRP]� XS� XLI� I\XIRX�
of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealized 
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evi-
dence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of associates have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates 
are recognized in the income statement.



 100 |

The following companies are Associates under the Group. 

Associates Company
GROUP PARENT

Segment 2023 2022 2023 2022

Bhutan Ferro Alloys Limited Manufacturing 28 % 28% ɸ��	 26%

Royal Securities Exchange of Bhutan Limited Securities 16% 16% ɸ�	 0%

The “% of Holding” of Group represents the effective holding after considering the holding percentage of its subsidiaries

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only 
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The following companies Joint Ventures. 

Joint Ventures Segment 2023 2022 2023 2022

Kholongchu Hydro Energy Limited Energy and Resources 100% 50% 0% �	ɸ

Bhutan Automation & Engineering Ltd Manufacturing 51% 51% 0% ɸ0%

Azista Bhutan HealthCare Limited Manufacturing 28% 28% 28% ɸ28%

Druk Metallurgy Limited Manufacturing 40% 40% 40% ɸ��	

The “% of Holding” of Group represents the effective holding 
after considering the holding percentage of its subsidiaries

8LI�GSRWMHIVEXMSRW�QEHI�MR�HIXIVQMRMRK�WMKRMƼGERX�MRƽYIRGI�
or joint control are similar to those necessary to determine 
GSRXVSP� SZIV� WYFWMHMEVMIW�� 8LI� GSRWSPMHEXIH� ƼRERGMEP� WXEXI-
ments for Associates and joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method. 

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ven-
tures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter 
XS�VIGSKRM^I�XLI�KVSYTƅW�WLEVI�SJ�XLI�TSWX��EGUYMWMXMSR�TVSƼXW�
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. 
When the group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or 
exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any 
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s 
net investment in the joint ventures), the group does not rec-
ognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the joint ventures. Goodwill relat-
ing to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment 
individually.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the group and its 
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s inter-
est in the joint ventures. Unrealized losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ven-
tures have been changed where necessary to ensure consis-
tency with the policies adopted by the group.

The parent company shows any dividends received as in-
GSQI�ERH�XLI� MRZIWXQIRX�EX�GSWX��8LI�KVSYT�WLEVI�SJ�TVSƼX�
or loss is included in the reported income for the year, with 
any dividends received being offset against the investment. 
The value of the investment comprises the original cost of the 
investment, plus the group share of Reserves.

The accounting policies of associate companies and joint 
ventures conform to those used for similar transactions of 
the Group. Equity method of accounting has been applied 
for associates and joint ventures using their corresponding/
QEXGLMRK����QSRXLW�ƼRERGMEP�TIVMSH�

9TSR�PSWW�SJ�WMKRMƼGERX�MRƽYIRGI�SZIV�XLI�EWWSGMEXI�SV�NSMRX�
control over the joint venture, the Group will measure and rec-
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ognize any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference 
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture 
YTSR�PSWW�SJ�WMKRMƼGERX�MRƽYIRGI�SV�NSMRX�GSRXVSP�ERH�XLI�JEMV�
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal 
is recognized in the income statement.

Other investments include entities where the Group is not in 
XLI�TSWMXMSR�XS�FI�EFPI�XS�GSRXVSP�SV�LEZI�WMKRMƼGERX�MRƽYIRGI�
over the decisions of the entity. This is indicated by a share-
holding of less than 20%. The investments are held for the 
dividends only and the investments are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

22.5. Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures- PARENT

-RZIWXQIRXW�MR�%WWSGMEXIW�
�.SMRX�:IRXYVI�Ɓɸ % of 
Holding

Number 
of Shares

31-12-23 % of 
Holding

Number 
of Shares

31-12-22

Quoted - Equity Shares fully paid up In Nu 
million

In Nu 
million

Bhutan Ferro Alloys Ltd. (Associate) 26% 3,859,460 38.59 26% 3,859,460 38.59

Unquoted - Equity Shares fully paid up - 0% - - 0% - -

Azista Bhutan Healthcare Limited (JV) 28% 6,487,880 64.88 28% 5,087,880 50.88

Druk Metallurgy Limited (JV) 40% 1,800,000 180.00 40% 1,800,000 180.00

Total Investments in Associates & Joint Ventures 283.47 269.47

�� (YVMRK�XLI�]IEV�������(,-�QEHI�ER�EHHMXMSREP�MRZIWXQIRX�SJ�2Y����������������XMR�%^MWXE�&LYXER�,IEPXLGEVI�0XH�
�� (VYO�1IXEPPYV]�0MQMXIH�LEW�FIIR�MRXS�RSR�STIVEXMSREP�WMRGI�������2SXI�2S����
�

������ 7LEVI�SJ�TVSƼX�SJ�%WWSGMEXIW���+6394
In Nu Million

GROUP

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

4VSƼX�SJ�%^MWXE�&LYXER�,IEPXLGEVI�0MQMXIH (13.02) (12.04)

4VSƼX�SJ�&LYXER�%YXSQEXMSR�
�)RKMRIIVMRK�0MQMXIH 27.19 4.54

4VSƼXW�SJ�&LYXER�*IVVS�%PPS]W�0MQMXIH 62.13 190.14

4VSƼX�SJ�(VYO�1IXYPPYVK]�0MQMXIH (28.61) -

4VSƼXW�SJ�6S]EP�7IGYVMX]�)\GLERKI�SJ�&LYXER�0MQMXIH� 0.92 1.11

8SXEP�7LEVI�SJ�4VSƼX�SJ�%WWSGMEXIW�
�.:� 48.62 183.75

�� (VYO�1IXEPPYV]�0MQMXIH�ƄW��WLEVI�SJ�TVSƼX�EVI�FEWIH�SR�XLI�YREYHMXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRX�
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Summary of Financial Information of Associates and Joint ventures – GROUP
 

ɸ Percentage 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

A) Associates Companies

Bhutan Ferro Alloys Limited 28% 577.34 671.28

Royal Securities Exchange of Bhutan Limited 16% 37.23 34.66

B) Joint Ventures 

Azista Bhutan HealthCare Limited 28% 39.88 38.90

Bhutan Automation & Engineering Limited 51% 63.51 39.96

Bhutan Hydro Services Limited 51% - -

Druk Metallurgy Limited 40% 75.04 103.65

Kholongchu Hydro Energy Limited 100% 2,222.23

C) Other Investments

Bhutan Carbides and Chemicals Ltd 81.18 54.02

Bhutan Development Bank Ltd 53.66 62.34

Bhutan National Bank Ltd 1,893.84 1,572.87

Credit Information Bureau 6.41 5.02

Druk Ferro Alloy Ltd 158.04 166.76

Entrepreneur Promotion Fund - 23.33

Financial Institution Training Institute 17.39 17.03

Investments Abroad 4,336.60 3,480.36

Royal Insurance Company of Bhutan Ltd 2,076.95 1,701.51

 Total Associates and Other Investments ɸ 9,417.07 10,193.92

Summarised Information of Associate Companies

Long Term Assets 712.34 874.86

Current Assets 1,353.22 1,767.35

Long Term Liabilities 83.83 108.47

Current Liabilities 214.44 338.73

Equity 1,767.30 2,195.02

 DHI Group Share of Equity ɸ 705.94 568.52

2IX�4VSƼX�EJXIV�8E\ 224.51 676.31

Other Comprehensive Income (0.23) (0.42)

(,-�+VSYT�WLEVI�SJ�4VSƼXW�EJXIV�8E\ 63.08 191.31

Summarized Information of Joint Venture

Long Term Assets 432.82 4,808.48

Current Assets 422.08 28.83

Long Term Liabilities 256.35 8.99

Current Liabilities 331.56 201.82

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts



DHI Annual Report 2023 | 103

ɸ Percentage 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Equity 266.98 4,626.51

 DHI Group Share of Equity ɸ 2,404.74 2,254.27

2IX�4VSƼX�EJXIV�8E\ (63.77) (34.30)

Other Comprehensive Income (0.92) 0.21

(,-�+VSYT�WLEVI�SJ�4VSƼXW�EJXIV�8E\ (13.97) (7.50)

22.7. Other Equity Investments- PARENT

ɸ % of 
Holding

Number of 
Shares

31-Dec-
23

% of 
Holding

Number of 
Shares

31-Dec-22

Quoted - Equity Shares fully paid up -

1. Bhutan National Bank Ltd. 12% 61,229,940.00 1,893.84 12% 48,983,952.00 1,572.87

2. Royal Insurance Corporation of 
Bhutan Ltd

18% 29,464,439.00 2,076.95 18% 25,780,417.00 1,701.51

3. Investment Abroad 4,336.60 3,479.43

Total Other equity Investments 8,307.39 6,753.81

- -

Investments in EPF Asset - -

Bank balance 18.95 18.17

Accrued interest - -

Contribution to Loden-DHI Fund 3.80 5.32

Total Investment in EPF Assets 22.75 23.49

�� (YVMRK�XLI�]IEV�������(,-�VIGIMZIH�FSRYW�WLEVIW�[SVXL�2Y�����������������JVSQ�&2&0
�� (YVMRK�XLI�]IEV�������(,-�VIGIMZIH�FSRYW�WLEVIW�[SVXL�2Y����������������JVSQ�6-'&0�
�� (YVMRK�XLI�]IEV�������(,-�QEREKIQIRX�IRXIVIH�MRXS�ER�EKVIIQIRX�[MXL�8LI�0SHIR�*SYRHEXMSR�ERH�GVIEXIH�0SHIR�(,-�*YRH�

XS�TVSZMHI�EPXIVREXMZI�EGGIWW�XS�XLI�IRXVITVIRIYVW�MR�SFXEMRMRK�ƼRERGI�XS�WXEVX�E�RI[�FYWMRIWW�SV�JSV�I\TERWMSR���KVS[XL�SJ�
XLI�I\MWXMRK�FYWMRIWW�PIEHMRK�XS�IQTPS]QIRX�KIRIVEXMSR�ERH�IGSRSQMG�HIZIPSTQIRX�SJ�XLI�REXMSR��8LI�0SHIR�*SYRHEXMSR�
WLEPP�FI�WSPIP]�VIWTSRWMFPI�JSV�XLI�QEREKIQIRX�SJ�XLI�JYRH�EW�TIV�XLI�EKVIIH�GSRHMXMSRW�FIX[IIR�(,-�ERH�0SHIR�ERH�
[MPP�STIVEXI�MR�PMRI�[MXL�XLI�I\MWXMRK�0SHIR�)RXVITVIRIYVWLMT�4VSKVEQQI�KYMHIPMRIW��%W�TIV�XLI�EKVIIQIRX�(,-�RIIHW�XS�
GSRXVMFYXI�2Y���������������MR�XLVII�GSRWIGYXMZI�]IEVW�WXEVXMRK�JVSQ�XLI�]IEV����������*SPPS[MRK�XLMW��(,-�GSRXVMFYXIH�2Y��
�������������XS�0SHIR�(,-�*YRH�XMPP����(IGIQFIV�������;MXL�*YPP�EHSTXMSR�SJ�&%7�MRZIWXQIRX�MR�)4*�MW�JEMV�ZEPYIH��(YVMRK�
XLI�]IEV�������(,-�VIGIMZIH��RH�XVERGLI�SJ�2Y���������������EW�VITE]QIRX�JVSQ�0SHIR�JSYRHEXMSR�ERH�SYX�SJ�[LMGL���	�
EQSYRXIH�XS�2Y��������������[EW�VITEMH�XS�&3&0��(,-�JYVXLIV�VIGIMZIH�2Y���������������MR�XLI�]IEV������EW�VITE]QIRX�JVSQ�
0SHIR�JSYRHEXMSR�ERH�SYX�SJ�[LMGL���	�LEW�FIIR�VITEMH�XS�&3&�
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23. LONG TERM FINANCIAL ASSET

+VSYT�GPEWWMƼIW�EPP�,IPH�XS�QEXYVMX]�HIFX�WIGYVMXMIW��%ZEMPEFPI�JSV�WEPI�IUYMX]�WIGYVMXMIW�ERH�HITSWMXW�[MXL�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXMXYXMSR�
EW�PSRK�XIVQ�ƼRERGMEP�EWWIXW

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Debt Securities 2,658.42 2,526.48 2,658.42 2,526.48

Listed - - - -

Unlisted 13,345.31 15,833.47 - -

Term Deposits with Bank & Financial Institutions 2,472.57 2,488.15 - -

ɸ0SRK�XIVQ�*MRERGMEP�%WWIXW 18,476.32 20,848.10 2,658.42 2,526.48

24.  OTHER NON- CURRENT  ASSET

8LI�+VSYT�GPEWWMƼIW�EPP�SXLIV�RSR�GYVVIRX�EWWIX�YRHIV�RSR��GYVVIRX�EWWIX�[LMGL�MRGPYHIW�XLI�EWWIXW�[LMGL�EVI�RSX�I\TIGXIH�XS�
be settled within 12 months from the date of the reporting period

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Advances provided for projects - - - -

Trade Receivables & Others 98.81 24.36 0.30 0.22

Provision for Impairment - Non currrent - (0.47) - -

Advance Payments to Suppliers 141.69 83.16 - -

Prepaid Expenses - Non current 34.22 40.35 - -

Other Non Current Assets 21.21 - - -

DHI Bizap - - 40.92 52.08

Other Non-Current Assets 295.93 147.40 41.22 52.31

25. INVENTORIES

Accounting Policy

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The costs incurred in bringing inventories to its present location and condition, are accounted for as follows:

a. Raw materials - On a weighted average basis
F�� *MRMWLIH�KSSHW�ERH�[SVO�MR�TVSKVIWW���%X�XLI�GSWX�SJ�HMVIGX�QEXIVMEPW��HMVIGX�PEFSYV�ERH�ER�ETTVSTVMEXI�TVSTSVXMSR�SJ�Ƽ\IH�

production overheads based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs
c. Other inventories – At actual cost

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts



DHI Annual Report 2023 | 105

The carrying value of Inventories as of 31st December are as follows
In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Work in progress 633.49 410.78 - -

Finished goods 712.76 810.52 - -

Other inventory 1,783.41 1,273.09 0.08 0.06

Stores, spares and loose tools 1,582.23 1,488.47 - -

 Total Inventories 5,117.04 4,555.01 0.08 0.06

25.1. Recognition as an Expense

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognized as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognized. The Group recognizes the amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value and 
all losses as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at the fair value of the amounts to be received. If collection is expected 
MR�SRI�]IEV�SV�PIWW��SV�MR�XLI�RSVQEP�STIVEXMRK�G]GPI�SJ�XLI�FYWMRIWW
��XLI]�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�GYVVIRX�EWWIXW��-J�RSX��XLI]�EVI�
presented as non-current assets. Receivables are reviewed regularly for impairment.

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Receivable in foreign currency 1,883.37 207.24 - -

Impairment on Trade Receivables (121.10) (118.35) - -

Total Trade Receivables 7,271.68 5,868.54 - -
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27. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Accounting policy

+VSYT�GPEWWMƼIW�EPP�SXLIV�GYVVIRX�EWWIXW�YRHIV�SXLIV�GYVVIRX�EWWIXW�[LMGL�MRGPYHI�EHZERGIW�XS�IQTPS]IIW��EHZERGIW�XS�ZIRHSV�
suppliers, prepaid expense, etc.

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Loan to subsidiary company (including interest accrued) - - 3,338.20 798.15

8IVQ�HITSWMXW�[MXL�ƼRERGMEP�MRWXMXYXMSRW 852.22 881.09 - -

Other Financial  Assets 40.24 197.66 14.49 480.86

Advance payments to vendors 4,619.37 1,623.42 158.30 28.93

Advance payments to employees 28.84 36.61 0.76 (0.07)

Prepaid expenses - current 890.49 741.68 - -

Income Tax Paid in Advance 663.79 155.29 - -

Total Other Receivables and Advances 8,125.53 6,379.49 3,511.75 1,307.87

28. SHORT TERM DEPOSITS

Short-term investments are liquid assets or cash, which are being held for a short period of time and cash reserves or cash 
balance maintained with Royal Monetary Authority of Bhutan as per the Prudential regulations. 

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Short-term deposits 2,849.47 1,087.77 1,007.00 -

Cash Reserve and Balances with RMA 12,135.75 16,202.87 - -

 Total Short term Deposits 14,985.23 17,290.64 1,007.00 -

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
EVI�WYFNIGX�XS�ER�MRWMKRMƼGERX�VMWO�SJ�GLERKIW�MR�ZEPYI��'EWL�IUYMZEPIRXW�EVI�LIPH�JSV�XLI�TYVTSWI�SJ�QIIXMRK�WLSVX�XIVQ�GEWL�
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Cash in hand 1,612.14 1,107.95 - -

Cash at bank 2,611.33 5,321.42 732.87 1,196.02

 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,223.46 6,429.38 732.87 1,196.02

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and the Royal 
Monetary Authority, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank over-
drafts.

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts
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30. NON-CURRENT ASSETS (OR DISPOSAL GROUPS) HELD FOR SALE

2SR�GYVVIRX�EWWIXW��SV�HMWTSWEP�KVSYTW
�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�EWWIXW�LIPH�JSV�WEPI�[LIR�XLIMV�GEVV]MRK�EQSYRX�MW�XS�FI�VIGSZIVIH�
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell.

31. STATED CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY

The ordinary shares of Druk Holding and Investments are held by Ministry of Finance, Royal Government of Bhutan. 

31.1. Stated Capital- PARENT
In Nu Million

In Nu Million 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Authorised Capital: 5,000,000,000 equity shares of Nu.100 500,000 500,000

Issued and Paid up capital

At the Beginning of the year 49,184.12 49,272.06

Issues during the year 607.05 (87.94)

At the end of the year 49,791.17 49,184.12

The number of shares in issue as at 31st Decembers was  497,911,706.68. The share capital increased from Nu. 49,791.17 
million to Nu. 49,184.12 million on account of transfer of Royal Bhutan Helicopter Services Ltd to Drukair Corporation Limited. 
All the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party (i.e. Ministry of Finance) both before and 
after the business combination. Therefore, business combinations is accounted for using the pooling of interest method. The 
net assets of the transferor entity or business are accounted for at their carrying amounts on the date of the acquisition subject 
to necessary adjustments required to harmonize accounting policies.

31.2. Other Equity Component
In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Asset Revalutaion Reserve 1,846.73 1,847.54 1,374.49 1,374.49

Bhutan Future Fund 5,280.00 4,316.00 5,280.00 4,316.00

Other Reserve 22,821.19 22,821.19 6,927.23 6,927.23

At the end of the year 29,947.92 28,984.73 13,581.72 12,617.72

The revaluation reserve consists of the net surplus on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment. The Other Reserve 
GSQTVMWIW�EPP�XLI�SXLIV�VIWIVZIW�SJ�+VSYT��M�I��*SVI\�ƽYGXYEXMSR�VIWIVZI��HMZMHIRH�IUYEPM^EXMSR�VIWIVZI��WLEVI�TVIQMYQ��IXG
��8LI�
Bhutan Future Fund reserve is created for investments abroad and catering to national exigencies. 
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32. LONG TERM BORROWINGS AND CURRENT PORTION OF LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

 Accounting policy
The long-term and current portion of long-term term borrowings are the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group.  The repay-
QIRX�SJ�PSER�[LMGL�JEPP�HYI�[MXLMR����QSRXLW�JVSQ�XLI�IRH�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�]IEV�EVI�GPEWWMƼIH�EW�GYVVIRX�TSVXMSR�SJ�PSRK�XIVQ�
borrowings. The working capital facilities obtained by the Group are recognized as Working capital loan. 

32.1. Long Term Borrowings
In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Banks and Financial Institutions in Bhutan 6,991.27 7,649.81 - -

Bonds listed by the RSEB 804.81 2,245.49 - -

Banks and Financial Institutions in other countries 38,168.53 39,126.25 1,351.94 777.98

 Foreign Governments 35.40 180.72 - -

Working Capital Loans from Banks - 77.16 - -

Advance from subsidiary companies - - 2.41 0.42

Total Long  Term Borrowings 46,000.01 49,279.44 1,354.35 778.40

32.2. Current Borrowings
In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Working Capital Loans from Banks 95.41 77.16 - -

Current Borrowings 2,369.56 2,913.07 - -

Total Current Borrowings 2,464.96 2,990.23 - -

33. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

 Accounting Policy

a. Recognition 
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all attached condi-
XMSRW�[MPP�FI�GSQTPMIH�[MXL��8LI�FIRIƼX�SJ�E�KSZIVRQIRX�PSER�EX�E�FIPS[�QEVOIX�VEXI�SJ�MRXIVIWX�MW�XVIEXIH�EW�E�KSZIVRQIRX�KVERX�

+SZIVRQIRX�KVERXW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV� PSWW�SR�E�W]WXIQEXMG�FEWMW�SZIV�XLI�TIVMSHW�MR�[LMGL�XLI�IRXMX]�VIGSKRMWIW�EW�
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. A government grant that becomes receivable as 
GSQTIRWEXMSR�JSV�I\TIRWIW�SV�PSWWIW�EPVIEH]�MRGYVVIH�SV�JSV�XLI�TYVTSWI�SJ�KMZMRK�MQQIHMEXI�ƼRERGMEP�WYTTSVX�XS�XLI�IRXMX]�[MXL�
RS�JYXYVI�VIPEXIH�GSWXW�EVI�FI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�SJ�XLI�TIVMSH�MR�[LMGL�MX�FIGSQIW�VIGIMZEFPI�

Grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as Deferred Government Grants. Depreci-
ation on the assets is charged against the grant and not to the Operating Statement.

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts
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When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts and released 
XS�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW�SZIV�XLI�I\TIGXIH�YWIJYP�PMJI�SJ�XLI�EWWIX��FEWIH�SR�XLI�TEXXIVR�SJ�GSRWYQTXMSR�SJ�XLI�FIRIƼXW�SJ�XLI�YRHIVP]MRK�
asset by equal annual instalments.

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Opening Balance 4,736.03 3,963.03 2,572.49 517.26

Add: Receipts during the year -   855.55 - 2,065.71

Less: Amortization against expenditure (342.16) - (10.47) (10.47)

Total Deferred Government Grants 4,393.87 4,818.58 2,562.02 2,572.49

 Current portion- Govt Grants 65.17 (82.54) - -

 Non-Current portion- Govt Grants 4,328.70 4,736.03 2,562.02 2,572.49

34. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 Accounting Policy

������ 9RHIV�(IƼRIH�'SRXVMFYXMSR�7GLIQI
Employees are eligible for Employees’ Provident Fund contri-
FYXMSRW��8LI�HIƼRIH�GSRXVMFYXMSR�&IRIƼX�TPER�MW�QEREKIH�F]�
a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not 
LSPH�WYƾGMIRX�EWWIXW�XS�TE]�EPP�IQTPS]IIW�XLI�FIRIƼXW�VIPEX-
ing to employee service in the current and prior periods.

8LI�GSQTERMIW�GSRXVMFYXI�XLI�HIƼRIH�TIVGIRXEKIW�SJ�KVSWW�
emoluments of employees to an approved Employees’ Provi-
dent Fund (i.e. National Pension and Provident Fund). 

������ 9RHIV�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�7GLIQI
8LI�'SQTER]�QEOIW�VIXMVIQIRX�TE]QIRXW�FEWIH�SR�XLI�ƼREP�
salary and years of service. Gratuity is accrued based on ac-

XYEVMEP�ZEPYEXMSR��8LI�PMEFMPMX]�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�XLI�WXEXIQIRX�SJ�Ƽ-
RERGMEP�TSWMXMSR�MW�XLI�TVIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�XLI�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�SF-
ligation as at the reporting date using the projected unit credit 
method.  Changes in service and interest cost are charged 
XS�4VSƼX�SV�0SWW�YRHIV�XLI�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�'SQTVILIRWMZI� -R-
GSQI��%PP�EGXYEVMEP�KEMRW�ERH�PSWWIW�EVMWMRK�JVSQ�XLI�HIƼRIH�
FIRIƼX�TPER�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�3XLIV�'SQTVILIRWMZI�-RGSQI�

������ 3XLIV�&IRIƼXW
Accumulated leave liability is accrued on the basis of actuar-
ial valuation for the leave balance over and above the annual 
leave encashment against each employee as at the end of the 
year. Changes in leave balance, interest and changes to actu-
arial valuation are charged to the Statement of Comprehen-
sive Income. However, from 2023, such long-term employee 
FIRIƼX�LEW�FIIR�HMWGSRXMRYIH��

3XLIV�WLSVX�XIVQ�IQTPS]II�FIRIƼXW�WYGL�EW�ERRYEP�PIEZI�IR-
cashment and bonus are accrued at year-end.

������ )QTPS]II�&IRIƼX�0MEFMPMX]
In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

0SRK�8IVQ�)QTPS]II�&IRIƼXW��%WWIX 26.54 44.48

0SRK�8IVQ�)QTPS]II�&IRIƼXW�PMEFMPMX] 1,836.76 2,473.72 27.82 21.33
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������ )QTPS]II�&IRIƼX�0MEFMPMX]��4%6)28
In Nu Million

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Plan Assets (A) 29.04 27.99

Bhutan National Bank - Gratuity A/c No.  0.01 0.013

BIL - Gratuity Fund 0.55 1.89

RICBL _TTMNII 24.43 21.53

LE_SB Investment with RICBL 4.04 4.56

)QTPS]IIƅW�FIRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR��&
 56.86 49.32

Gratuity Liability (39.28) (34.79)

7ITEVEXMSR�&IRIƼX (17.58) (14.53)

)QTPS]II�&IRIƼX�0MEFMPMX]�'!�%�& 27.82 21.33

34.4. Accounting Judgement, Estimates and Assumptions. 

8LI� IQTPS]II�FIRIƼX� PMEFMPMX]� SJ� XLI�+VSYT� MW� FEWIH�SR� XLI�
actuarial valuation carried out by independent actuarial spe-
cialists. The actuarial valuations include assumptions about 
discount rates and future salary increases. The complexity of 
the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term 
REXYVI�� XLI� HIƼRIH� FIRIƼX� SFPMKEXMSR� MW� LMKLP]� WIRWMXMZI� XS�
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed 
at each reporting date.

The principal assumptions used in determining the cost of 
IQTPS]II�FIRIƼXW�EVI�LMKLPMKLXIH�FIPS[��

������ 4SWX�)QTPS]QIRX�&IRIƼX�4%6)28

34.4.1. Gratuity

5YEPMJ]MRK�IQTPS]IIW�EVI�QIQFIVW�SJ�E�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�TPER�
sponsored by the Company. Employees are entitled to a lump 
sum payment of Total Fixed Monthly Remuneration (TFMR) 
for each year of service.
 

A separate fund is maintained to cover the future liability for 
payments. The obligation for the plan is subject to risks in 
respect of investment, interest rates, demographic risk and 
Salary rates.
Investment risk: The plan is exposed to the probability or like-
lihood of the occurrence of losses relative to the expected re-
turn on any particular investment.

Interest rate risk: The plan is exposed to the risk of a fall in 
interest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an increase in 
XLI�YPXMQEXI�GSWX�SJ�TVSZMHMRK�XLI�EFSZI�FIRIƼX�ERH�[MPP�XLYW�
result in an increase in the value of the liability (as shown in 
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW
�

Demographic risk: The Company has used certain mortality 
and attrition assumptions in valuation of the liability. Thus, the 
plan is exposed to the risk of actual experience turning out to 
be worse compared to the assumption.

7EPEV]�IWGEPEXMSR�VMWO���8LI�TVIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�XLI�HIƼRIH�FIRI-
ƼX�TPER�MW�GEPGYPEXIH�[MXL�XLI�EWWYQTXMSR�SJ�WEPEV]�MRGVIEWI�SJ�
plan participants in future. Deviation in the rate of increase of 
salary in future for plan participants from the rate of increase 
in salary used to determine the present value of obligation will 
have a bearing on the plan’s liability.

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts
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M
�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�4VSƼX�SV�0SWW 2023 2022

Current service cost 6.96 5.97

Past service cost - plan amendments               - 13.92

2IX�MRXIVIWX�SR�RIX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�PMEFMPMX]����EWWIX
 0.75 (0.28)

'SWX�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�4VSƼX�SV�0SWW 7.70 19.60
 

ii) Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) 2023 2022

Actuarial (gain)/loss due to liability experience 0.45 (0.29)

Return on plan assets (greater)/less than discount rate

Actuarial (gains)/ losses recognized in OCI (1.16) 0.16

Cumulative Actuarial (Gain) Loss Recognized via OCI (0.70) (0.14)

MMM
�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�'SWX 2023 2022

Service Cost 6.96 19.88

2IX�MRXIVIWX�SR�RIX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�PMEFMPMX]��EWWIX
 0.74 (0.28)

Actuarial (gain)/losses recognized in OCI (0.70) (0.14)

(IƼRIH�FIRIƼX�'SWX 7.00 19.47

iv) Statement of Financial Position 2023 2022

(IƼRIH�FIRIƼX�SFPMKEXMSR��(&3
 (39.28) (34.79)

Fair value of plan assets (FVA)    24.96 23.44

*YRHIH�WXEXYW�?WYVTPYW��HIƼGMX
A (14.30) (11.35)

2IX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�EWWIX��(&%
 (14.30) (11.35)

v) Reconciliation of Net Financial Position 2023 2022

2IX�HIƼRIH�EWWIX���PMEFMPMX]
�EX�XLI�IRH�SJ�TVMSV�TIVMSH 11.35 1.16

Service Cost 7.70 19.60

Amount recognized in OCI (0.70) (0.14)

Employer contributions (4.06) (9.28)

2IX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�EWWIX��PMEFMPMX]
�EX�XLI   

end of current period 14.30 11.35

ZM
�1SZIQIRXW�MR�XLI�4VIWIRX�:EPYI�SJ�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR 2023 2022

3TIRMRK�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR 34.79 16.69

Current service cost 6.96 5.97

Past service cost 13.92

Interest cost 2.56 1.23

Actuarial loss on experience adjusted (5.48) (2.71)

&IRIƼXW�TEMH�JVSQ�TPER�EWWIXW 0.45 (0.29)

'PSWMRK�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR 39.28 34.79
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vii) Movements in the Fair Value of Plan Assets 2023 2022

Opening Fair Value of Plan Assets 23.44 15.53

Income on assets at the discount rate 1.82 1.50

Actual interest less than discount rate 1.16 (0.16)

Contribution by DHI 4.06 9.27

&IRIƼXW�TEMH�JVSQ�TPER�EWWIXW (5.48) (2.71)

Closing Fair Value of Plan Assets 24.99 23.44
 

ZMMM
�)\TIGXIH�&IRIƼX�4E]QIRXW�EW�EX����(IGIQFIV�����  

31 December 2024 6.01

31 December 2025 7.37

31 December 2026 11.64

31 December 2027 16.00

31 December 2028 1.04

31 December 2029 to 31 December 2033 5.01

M\
�)\TIGXIH�&IRIƼX�4E]QIRXW�EW�EX����(IGIQFIV�����  

31 December 2023 10.42

31 December 2024 6.88

31 December 2025 9.34

31 December 2026 8.55

31 December 2027 1.13

31 December 2028 to 31 December 2032 4.23

x) Expected Employer contribution for the year ended 31 December 2024

Expected Employer contribution for the year ended 31 December 2024 11.09

�\M
�;IMKLXIH�%ZIVEKI�(YVEXMSR�SJ�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR 2023 2022

�;IMKLXIH�%ZIVEKI�(YVEXMSR�SJ�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR      7.99 7.63

xii) Plan Asset Information (asset allocation in %) 2023 2022

Insurance Policy with RICBL  63% 93%

Gratuity Fund with BIL  37% 7%

Balance in Current Account  0.0%

 Total 100% 100%
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xiii) Sensitivity Analysis

Assumption/Parameter Scenario (IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�
Obligation(DBO)

Net effect of DBO Percent 
change

Discount rate

0.50% 38.52  (0.76) -1.90%

Base rate 39.28 - 0.00%

-0.50% 40.08 0.79 2.00%

-

Salary Growth Rate

0.50% 40.91 1.63 4.10%

Base rate 39.28 - 0.00%

-0.50% 37.77 (1.51) -2.00%

- -

Employer turnover rate

0.50% 39.12 (0.16) -0.40%

Base rate 39.28 - 0.00%

-0.50% 39.45 0.17 0.40%

34.2.2. Carriage Charges

Employee on transfer or upon separation from Group except 
in the case of termination are entitled for carriage charges 
of personal effects to the place of destination. The carriage 
charges are calculated as per the rates and capacity approved 
by Government from time to time. 

Interest rate risk: The plan is exposed to the risk of fall in in-
terest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an increase in 
XLI�YPXMQEXI�GSWX�SJ�TVSZMHMRK�XLI�EFSZI�FIRIƼX�ERH�[MPP�XLYW�
result in an increase in the value of the liability (as shown in 
ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW
�

Liquidity risk: This is the risk that the plan is not able to meet 
the short-term payouts. This may arise due to non-availabili-
ty of enough cash / cash equivalent to meet the liabilities or 
holding of illiquid assets.

7EPEV]�IWGEPEXMSR�VMWO��8LI�TVIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�XLI�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�
plan is calculated with the assumption of salary increase of 
plan participants in future. Deviation in the rate of increase of 
salary in future for plan participants from the rate of increase 
in salary used to determine the present value of obligation will 
have a bearing on the plan’s liability

Demographic risk: The Company has used certain mortality 
and attrition assumptions in valuation of the liability. Thus, the 
plan is exposed to the risk of actual experience turning out to 
be worse compared to the assumption.

Investment risk: The plan is exposed to the probability or like-
lihood of occurrence of losses relative to the expected return 
on any particular investment.

M
�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�4VSƼX�
�0SWW 2023 2022

Current service cost 0.83 0.76

Interest on DBO 0.12 0.03

)\TIRWIW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW 0.95 0.79
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ii) Statement of Other comprehensive income 2023 2022

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to experience adjustments (0.50) 0.41

Expense recognized as other comprehensive income (0.50) 0.41

MMM
�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�GSWX 2023 2022

)\TIRWI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW 0.95 0.79

Expense recognized in other comprehensive income (0.50) 0.41

(IƼRIH�FIRIƼX�GSWX 0.45 1.20
 

iv) Statement of Financial position 2023 2022

4VIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�HIƼRI�FIRIƼX�SFPMKEXMSR (1.94) (1.62)

*YRHIH�WXEXYW���WYVTPYW��HIƼGMX
 (1.94) (1.62)

2IX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�EWWIX��PMEFMPMX]
 (1.94) (1.62)
 

v) Movement in the present value of DBO     2023    2022

DBO at the beginning of period 1.63 0.49

Add: Current service cost 0.95 0.76

Add: Interest cost 0.03

0IWW��&IRIƼXW�TEMH�F]�XLI�IQTPS]IV (0.14) (0.07)

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to experience adjustment (0.50) 0.41

DBO at the end of period 1.94 1.62
 

ZM
�)\TIGXIH�&IRIƼX�TE]QIRXW�MR�XLI�JYXYVI  

31 December 2024 0.22

31 December 2025 0.25

31 December 2026 0.36

31 December 2027 0.52

31 December 2028 0.19

31 December 2029 to 31 December 2033 0.76

vii)  Expected term liability in years

Expected term liability in years                  7.01
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34.2.3. Separation Allowance

Employees are eligible for separation allowance, equivalent to one month’s salary on being separated from the company, either 
on completion of the contract, resignation and/or attainment of retirement age. 

M�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�4VSƼX�
�0SWW 2023 2022

Current service cost 2.88 2.56

Interest on DBO 0.49 0.18

)\TIRWIW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW 3.38 2.74

ii) Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 2023 2022

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to experience adjustments (1.46) 1.61

Expense recognized as other comprehensive income (1.46) 1.61

MMM
�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR 2023 2022

)\TIRWI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW 3.38 2.74

Expense recognized in other comprehensive income (1.46) 1.61

(IƼRIH�FIRIƼX�GSWX 1.92 4.36

iv) Statement of Financial Position 2023 2022

4VIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�HIƼRI�FIRIƼX�SFPMKEXMSR (7.82) (6.45)

*YRHIH�WXEXYW���WYVTPYW��HIƼGMX
 (7.82) (6.45)

2IX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�EWWIX��PMEFMPMX]
 (7.82) (6.45)

v) Movement in the present value of DBO Plan 2023 2022

DBO at the beginning of period 6.45 2.52

Add: Current service cost 3.38 2.56

Add: Interest cost 0.18

0IWW��&IRIƼXW�TEMH�F]�XLI�IQTPS]IV (0.55) (0.42)

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to experience adjustment (1.46) 1.64

DBO at the end of period 7.82 6.45
 

ZM
)\TIGXIH�FIRIƼX�TE]QIRXW�MR�JYXYVI�]IEVW  

December 31, 2024 0.89

December 31, 2025 1.02

December 31, 2026 1.69

December 31, 2027 2.26

December 2028 0.50

December 2029 to December 2033 2.28
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viii) Estimated term of liability (in years)                                                     

Estimated term of liability (in years)  8.41 years

34.2.4. Transfer Grant
The employees who leave service for a reason other than termination are entitled to the transfer grant of one month’s salary, 
provided the incumbent has rendered a minimum service. 

M
�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�4VSƼX�
�0SWW 2023 2022

Current service cost 2.88 2.56

Interest on DBO 0.49 0.18

)\TIRWIW�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW 3.38 2.74

ii) Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 2023 2022

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to experience adjustments (1.46) 1.64

Expense recognized as other comprehensive income (1.46) 1.61

MMM
�7XEXIQIRX�SJ�(IƼRIH�&IRIƼX�3FPMKEXMSR�4PER 2023 2022

)\TIRWI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�PSWW 3.38 2.74

Expense recognized in other comprehensive income (1.46) 1.64

(IƼRIH�FIRIƼX�GSWX 1.92 4.38
 

iv) Statement of Financial Position 2023 2022

4VIWIRX�ZEPYI�SJ�HIƼRI�FIRIƼX�SFPMKEXMSR (7.82) (6.45)

*YRHIH�WXEXYW���WYVTPYW��HIƼGMX
 (7.82) (6.45)

2IX�HIƼRIH�FIRIƼX�EWWIX��PMEFMPMX]
 (7.82) (6.45)
 

v) Movement in the present value of DBO 2023 2022

DBO at the beginning of period 6.45 2.52

Add: Current service cost 3.38 2.56

Add: Interest cost 0.18

0IWW��&IRIƼXW�TEMH�F]�XLI�IQTPS]IV (0.55) (0.42)

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to experience adjustment (1.46) 1.64

DBO at the end of period 7.82 6.45
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ZM
�)\TIGXIH�FIRIƼX�TE]QIRXW�MR�JYXYVI�]IEVW  

December 31, 2024 0.89

December 31, 2025 1.02

December 31, 2026 1.69

December 31, 2027 2.26

December 2028 0.50

 December 2029 to December 2033 2.28
 

vii) Estimated term of liability (in years)

Estimated term of liability (in years) 8.41 years

35. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounting policy
+VSYT�GPEWWMƼIW�EPP�RSR�ƼRERGMEP�RSRGYVVIRX�PMEFMPMXMIW�YRHIV�SXLIV�RSR�GYVVIRX�PMEFMPMXMIW�[LMGL�MRGPYHI�RSR�VIJYRHEFPI�
advances and deposits.

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

 Trade and other payables - noncurrent 944.63 783.49 10.71 11.50

 Deferred Income - - - -

 Entrepreneurship Promotion Fund 8.01 - - -

 Other Liabilities - noncurrent 2.71 (28.93) - -

 Retention money payable - noncurrent 54.24 9.03 - -

 Deposits and Advances received - noncurrent 115.33 355.22 - -

Total Other Non Current Liabilities 1,124.92 1,118.81 10.71 11.50

36. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

8LIWI�EQSYRXW�VITVIWIRX�PMEFMPMXMIW�JSV�KSSHW�ERH�WIVZMGIW�TVSZMHIH�XS�XLI�'SQTER]�TVMSV�XS�XLI�IRH�SJ�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�]IEV�
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and settled within one year. 

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Trade Payables 5,165.81 2,783.04 453.31 347.59

TDS Payable 292.45 61.45 0.68 -

Employee and other payables 1,389.86 572.21 29.78 35.65

Accrued expenses 182.89 118.78 - -

Unclaimed Dividend 5.27 6.01 - -

Total Trade and Other Payables 7,036.27 3,541.49 483.77 383.23
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37. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounting policy
8LI�+VSYT�GPEWWMƼIW�EPP�RSR�ƼRERGMEP�GYVVIRX�PMEFMPMXMIW�YRHIV�SXLIV�GYVVIRX�PMEFMPMXMIW�[LMGL�MRGPYHIW�XLI�PMEFMPMXMIW�XS�FI�WIXXPIH�
within 12 months from the date of the reporting period.

In Nu Million

GROUP PARENT

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Advances and Deposits Received 749.37 2,334.62 - -

Construction Contracts 225.55 - - -

Listed Bond repayable - 200.00 - -

Retention money payable 151.48 631.61 - -

Other Liabilities 2,518.16 1,571.20 - -

Provision 5,956.31 665.91 - -

ɸ

 Total Other Current Liabilities 9,600.88 5,403.34 - -

38. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an 
asset or its cash- generating unit exceeds its estimated recov-
IVEFPI�EQSYRX��-QTEMVQIRX�PSWWIW�EVI�VIGSKRM^IH�MR�TVSƼX�SV�
loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash- gener-
EXMRK�YRMXW�EVI�EPPSGEXIH�ƼVWX� XS� VIHYGI�XLI�GEVV]MRK�EQSYRX�
of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or group of 
units on a pro-rata basis.

39. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed 
at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized directly in other comprehensive income and pre-
sented within equity.

40. PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Accounting Policy
Provisions are recognized if, as a result of a past event, the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
FI�IWXMQEXIH�VIPMEFP]��ERH�MX�MW�TVSFEFPI�XLEX�ER�SYXƽS[�SJ�IGS-
RSQMG�FIRIƼXW�[MPP�FI�VIUYMVIH�XS�WIXXPI�XLI�SFPMKEXMSR��-J�XLI�
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
HMWGSYRXIH�YWMRK�E�GYVVIRX�TVIXE\�VEXI�XLEX�VIƽIGXW��[LIVI�ET-
TVSTVMEXI��XLI�VMWOW�WTIGMƼG�XS�XLI�PMEFMPMX]��;LIVI�HMWGSYRXMRK�
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
XMQI�MW�VIGSKRM^IH�EW�E�ƼRERGI�GSWX�

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the ex-
TIGXIH�FIRIƼXW� XS�FI�HIVMZIH�F]� XLI�+VSYT� JVSQ�E�GSRXVEGX�
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 
under the contract. The provision is measured at the present 
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the con-
tract and the expected net cost of continuing with the con-
tract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognizes 
any impairment loss on the assets associated with that con-
tract.

%PP�GSRXMRKIRX�PMEFMPMXMIW��MJ�ER]�EVI�HMWGPSWIH�EW�E�RSXI�XS�XLI�Ƽ-
RERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�YRPIWW�XLI�SYXƽS[�SJ�VIWSYVGIW�MW�VIQSXI�
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40.1. Contingent Liabilities (Parent’s Commitment)
A summary of the corporate guarantee provided to companies as of 31 December 2023 and the outstanding balances thereof 
are as follow:

E
� 'SVTSVEXI�+YEVERXII�TVSZMHIH�EKEMRWX�8IVQ�0SER�
In Nu Million

Entity Guarantee Amount Loan O/s

ABHL 70.70 49.12

BPCL 1,500.00 739.06

DCCL 4,360.14 1,582.96

KIL 12.00 13.50

NRDCL 1,285.00 115.56

STCBL 40.00 42.11

TTPL 30.80 27.86

Total 7,298.64 2,570.17

F
� 'SVTSVEXI�+YEVERXII�TVSZMHIH�EKEMRWX�;SVOMRK�'ETMXEP�
In Nu Million

Entity  Guarantee Amount Loan O/s

ABHL                                   10.50              7.87 

BPC                                500.00              0.00 

CDCL                                100.00           36.84 

DAC                            1,500.00              1.39 

DCCL                                150.00              5.05 

KIL                                   12.00              8.75 

Total                            2,272.50           59.91 

c) Corporate Guarantee provided against Others:
In Nu Million

Entity  Guarantee Amount Loan O/s

CDCL                                653.51        653.51 

DGPCL                                235.00                     -   

DHI PTE LTD                                672.00        706.08 

DPL                                   11.00                     -   

TTPL                                   39.15           39.15 

Total                            1,610.66    1,398.73 
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Final Dividend
8LI�&SEVH�SJ�(MVIGXSVW�SJ� XLI�'SQTER]�LEW�HIGPEVIH�E�ƼREP�
HMZMHIRH�SJ�2Y��������QMPPMSR�JSV� XLI�ƼRERGMEP�]IEV�IRHIH����
December 2023. In accordance with BAS 10, Events after the 
VITSVXMRK�TIVMSH��XLI�ƼREP�HMZMHIRH�LEW�RSX�FIIR�VIGSKRM^IH�EW�
E�PMEFMPMX]�MR�XLI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW�EW�EX����(IGIQFIV�����

Buyback
Druk Holding and Investment Limited is at  an advanced stage 
to buyback 60% of Druk Metallury Limited from the other 
investor. This transaction will result in DHI’s holding in DML 
at 100%. 

Project

1. Bhutan National Digital Identity(NDI)
Bhutan NDI until now functioning as a project under the 
Innotech Department, DHI has been established as a 100% 
owned DHI subsidiary in 2024.

42. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL- PARENT

Key Management Personnel -

Dasho Karma Y. Raydi, Chairman

1V��9NN[EP�(IIT�(ELEP��'LMIJ�)\IGYXMZI�3ƾGIV�ERH�(MVIGXSV

Mr. Thinley Namgyel (Director)

Ms. Yunny Lee (Director)

Mr. Nelson Trevor Thackery (Director)

Ms. Leki Wangmo (Director)

Mr. Sherub (Director)

43. MANAGERIAL REMUNERATION

A. Remuneration paid to the Chairman of the company - 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Salary and allowances 3.32 2.15

3XLIV�FIRIƼXW 2.32 1.44

Provident fund contribution 0.33 0.19

Sitting fees 0.21 0.14

Total ( In Nu Million) ����ɸ 3.92

&��6IQYRIVEXMSR�TEMH�XS�XLI�'LMIJ�)\IGYXMZI�3ƾGIV�SJ�XLI�GSQTER]�� 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Salary and allowances 2.38 3.43

3XLIV�FIRIƼXW 1.27 1.11

Provident fund contribution 0.20 0.31

Sitting fees 0.18 0.21

Total ( In Nu Million) 4.03 5.06
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C. Sitting fees paid to other Board of Directors of the Company- 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

Nim Dorji �ɸ 0.23

Dasho Pema Chewang �ɸ 0.19

Thinley Namgyel 0.15 0.16

Kesang Deki �ɸ 0.05

Yunny Lee 0.20 0.23

Nelson Trevor Thackery 0.26 0.29

Leki Wangmo 0.06 0.03

Sherub 0.05 �ɸ

Karma Lotey �ɸ 0.18

Total ( Nu in Million) 0.72 1.36

44. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

ɸ 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22

7XEXYXSV]�EYHMX�JII�JSV�WXERHEPSRI�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW 0.17 0.17

7XEXYXSV]�EYHMX�JII�JSV�GSRWSPMHEXIH�ƼRERGMEP�WXEXIQIRXW� 0.46 0.46

Statutory audit fee for RBHSL - 0.26

Other audit expenses (relating to previous year)* 0.12 0.06

Total (In Nu Million) 0.75 0.95

45. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES –

Parent (State) -
2023 2022

 % of Holding  % of Holding

Ministry of Finance (MoF), Royal Government of Bhutan 100% 100%

Subsidiaries -

Bank of Bhutan Ltd. (BOBL) 80% 80%

Bhutan Board Products Ltd. (BBPL) 48% 58%

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. (BPCL) 100% 100%

Bhutan Telecom Ltd. (BTL) 100% 100%

Construction Development Corporation Ltd. (CDCL) 100% 100%

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. (DGPCL) 100% 100%

Drukair Corporation Ltd. (DCL) 100% 100%

Druk Holding & Investments Pte Ltd. 100% -

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. (DCCL) 89% 89%

Dungsam Polymers Ltd. (DPL) 51% 51%

Koufuku International Ltd. (KIL) 100% 100%
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Parent (State) -
2023 2022

 % of Holding  % of Holding

Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd. (NRDCL) 100% 100%

Penden Cement Authority Ltd. (PCAL) 40% 40%

State Mining Corporation Ltd. (SMCL) 100% 100%

State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Ltd. (STCBL) 51% 57%

Thimphu TechPark Ltd. (TTPL) 100% 100%

Menjong Sorig Pharmaceutical Corporation Ltd. (MSPCL) 100% 100%

Associates -

Bhutan Ferro Alloys Ltd. (BFAL) 26% 26%

Joint Venture

Azista Bhutan Healthcare Limited (w.e.f 30.04.2018) 28% 28%

Druk Metallurgy Limited (w.e.f. 30.08.2018) 40% 40%

Other Portfolios -

Bhutan National Bank Ltd. (BNBL) 12% 12%

Royal Insurance Corporation of Bhutan Ltd. (RICBL) 18% 18%

State Owned Enterprises -

Bhutan Development Bank Ltd. (BDBL) ɸ ɸ

Bhutan Postal Corporation Ltd. (BPCL) ɸ

Kuensel Corporation Ltd. (KCL) ɸ

Bhutan Broadcasting Services Corporation Ltd. (BBSCL) ɸ

Food Corporation of Bhutan (FCB) ɸ

Bhutan Chamber and Commerce Industry (BCCI) ɸ ɸ

�M
�8VERWEGXMSRW�[MXL�4EVIRX��

Dividend paid 3,361 3,977

Allotment of shares (fully paid of Nu. 100/- each) 60.70 (0.88)

Expenses adjusted by the company on behalf of MoF 0.74

(ii) Balance as at the end of the year with Parent -

Advance to MoF 0.45 -

 Transactions with Subsidiaries  -

i. Equity contribution in cash 400.87 400.8 7

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. - (37.73)

Bhutan Telecom Ltd. - (17.93)

Construction Development Corporation Ltd. - (24.40)

DHI Pte Limited 67.36 633.43

Druk Air Corporation Ltd.  622.92 145.78

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. - (147.47)
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Parent (State) -
2023 2022

 % of Holding  % of Holding

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. - (143.30)

Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd. - (63.17)

ii. Dividend income 9,986 10,171.03

iii. Brand management fee 220.13 214.00

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. 90.84 98.82

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. 33.83 36.95

Bhutan Telecom Ltd. 42.85 38.35

Others 167.52 39.89

iv. Corporate guarantee fee 16.42 13.12

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. 5.41

Construction Development Corporation Ltd. 4.11

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. 1.89

Others 5.01

Interest income on bank deposits- Bank of Bhutan Ltd. 1.12 23.72

v. Interest Income on inter company loans provided 71.18 60.79

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. 8.24 4.19

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. 38.49 -

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. 0.14 -

Druk Hydro Energy Limited 2.24 -

Drukair Corporation Ltd. 15.88 47.85

Dungsam Polymers Ltd. - 0.46

Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd. 5.75 -

State Mining Corporation Ltd. 0.46 8.29

vi. Other transaction with Subsidiaries

Interest expenses- Bank of Bhutan Ltd. - -

Electricity expenses- Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. 0.37 0.82

Telephone and internet expenses - Bhutan Telecom Ltd. 1.16 1.35

Purchase of air tickets and others - Drukair Corporation Ltd. 3.65

Repairs and maintenance charges- State Trading Corporation Ltd.

Purchase of assets - State Trading Corporation Ltd

Hall hiring charges- Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd.

Bank charges- Bank of Bhutan Ltd 0.01 0.02

Advance provided for project- Construction Development Corporation 
Ltd.

59.77 28.93

vii. Balance as at the end of the year with Subsidiaries -

Current account balances- Bank of Bhutan Ltd. 732.56 1,196.02

Fixed deposits- Bank of Bhutan Ltd.
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Parent (State) -
2023 2022

 % of Holding  % of Holding

viii. Outstanding Balances with Subsidiaries  -

Accrued interest on bank deposits- Bank of Bhutan Ltd. - 55.83

Other interest receivable

Electricity expenses payable- Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. -

Telephone and internet expenses payable- Bhutan Telecom Ltd. - 0.73

ix. Inter-company loan receivable (principal and interest) 3,301.20 788

Drukair Corporation Ltd. 635 788

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. 330

Druk Green Power Corporation Ltd. 1736.20

Natural Resources Development Corporation Ltd. 600

x. Corporate guarantee fee receivable 6.15 13.12

Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd. 1.63 8.38

Dungsam Cement Corporation Ltd. 0.19 1.86

Construction Development Corporation Ltd. 4.11

Others 0.22 2.92

Advances taken for CSR

Transactions with Associates -

Dividend income- Bhutan Ferro Alloys Ltd. 135.08 115.78

Outstanding Balances with Associates -

Advances given on behalf (net) -       0.20

Transactions with Joint Ventures

Equity contribution in cash 14.00 13.78

Azista Bhutan Healthcare Limited 14.00 13.78

Transactions with Other Portfolios -

Dividend income 87.49 33.29

Insurance of vehicles 0.13 0.08

Medical insurance - -

 Compensation to Key Management Personnel -

7LSVX�XIVQ�FIRIƼXW 9.68 8.48

4SWX�IQTPS]QIRX�FIRIƼXW 0.53 0.50

Sitting fees paid to Board of Directors 0.72 1.35

 Transactions with SoEs -

Media and publication expenses – Kuensel 0.86 0.71

Media and publication expenses – BBS 0.78 0.22

Postage charges - Bhutan Post 0.08 0.09

Accounting Policies & Notes to Accounts
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